The effect of leadership style on business performance and the mediating effect on organizational culture and the moderating effect of leader's personality traits. A study of SMEs in the tourism sector in Sri Lanka

Ganga Brahmana Mudiyanselage Dilan Lasantha Moragolle UWTSD - 1504603 Supervised By: Prof. Bandara Wanninayake

This research was undertaken under the auspices of the London School of Commerce Submitted in partial fulfillment for the award of the degree of Doctor of Business Administration

University of Wales Trinity Saint David

2022

DECLARATION SHEET

This research work has not previously been accepted for any degree nor being concurrently summited by any candidature for any degree.

Signed: Dilan Moragolle

Date: 18-01-2022

STATEMENT I

The thesis I am presenting is derived from my investigations. Sources and references are properly cited.

Signed: Dilan Moragolle

Date: 18-01-2022

STATEMENT 2

I hereby give my consent to the university that if this thesis is to be accepted, to be available for photocopying and inter- library loan, and for the title and the summary to be made available to outside organizations.

Signed: Dilan Moragolle

Date: 18-01-2022

STATEMENT 3

I hereby give my consent for my thesis to be made available for deposit in the digital library of the University's repository.

Signed: Dilan Moragolle

Date: 18-01-2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

It is with great pleasure I am presenting this research on the effect of leadership style on business performance and the mediating effect on organizational culture and the moderating effect of leader's personality traits. A study of SMEs in the tourism sector in Sri Lanka. The completion of this research became a reality because of all the blessings and support I received.

With sincere gratitude, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Bandara Wanninayaka for all the support, guidance, and help offered to me throughout the entire period of my research. He has been guiding and supporting me during the entire process. I would like to highly appreciate and thank Prof. Bandara Wanninayake for his valuable time and effort in helping me to complete this research successfully.

I also would like to thank the staff of the University of Wales Trinity Saint David for their support and assistance. I also would like to thank Dr. Lester Massingham for his guidance during the DBA program. At the same time, I would like to thank all lecturers who taught during the DBA and the staff of the British School of Commerce.

I am grateful to my father, mother, and sister for supporting me and motivating me during the research and the entire DBA program.

Abstract

Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) play a vital role in any given economy and are considered as a driving force. In Sri Lanka SMEs are considered the backbone of the economy. This research explores how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka and the mediating role of organizational culture and moderating role of leader's personality traits affect play influencing business performance. Leadership styles and business performance are well-researched domains of study. However, limited researches have been conducted on SME context and there is no unanimity on the findings of these researches. In the Sri Lankan context number of researches on this domain is minimum.

The present research study is quantitative research that uses a deductive approach based on the positivism research paradigm. 285 SMEs were selected from the tourism industry based on the Krejcie Morgan sampling formula. Primary data was collected based on a structured questionnaire which included multifactor leadership questions, big five personality trait questions, and author developed questions of organizational culture and business performance and assessed with a five-point Likert Scale. The questionnaire was sent to the leaders (owner/manager) of selected SMEs via an online format. The primary data were analyzed by using descriptive statistics, correlation analysis, and regression analysis.

Results revealed that leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs. Transformational leadership has a considerable impact on business performance while transactional leadership has a low-level impact and passive avoidance leadership has an insignificant impact. It was revealed that leadership styles can influence business performance through organizational culture. Transformational leadership is indicated to have a significant effect on organizational culture and transactional leadership and passive avoidance leadership are indicated to have a low impact. Leaders with transformational leadership and transaction leadership are associated with extraversion, openness, agreeableness, and conscientiousness personality traits. Transactional leaders and passive-avoidance leaders score high on neuroticism.

The research has identified that the transformational leadership style to be adopted for greater business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. SME owners are encouraged to hire personal

with transformational style leadership and policymakers to use this information for developing training and development programs.

Key Words: Leadership Style, SME, Business Performance, Personality Traits, Organizational Culture

Table of Contents

Abstract iv
Tables of Illustrations ix
List of Abbreviations xi
Chapter 01- Introduction
1.1 Background of the Study
1.1.1 Why Tourism Industry
1.2 Research Problem and Justification
1.2.1 Research Gap
1.3.2 Problem Statement
1.4 Objectives
1.5 Research Questions
1.6 Significance of the study
1.6.1 Theoretical Contribution14
1.6.2 Practical Contribution
1.7 Methodology Overview
1.9 Chapterlization
Chapter 02: Literature Review
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Theoretical Background
2.2.1 Understanding Leadership
2.2.2 Leadership Theories
2.3 SME, SME Performance Measures, and KPIs
2.4 Leadership Styles and Business Performance
2.4.1 Transformational Leadership Style and Business Performance
2.4.2 Transactional Leadership and Business Performance
2.4.3 Passive-avoidance Leadership Style and Business Performance
2.4.4 Leadership Style and Business Performance in SME 45
2.5 Mediating Role of the Organization Culture
2.6 Moderating Role of Personality Traits
2.6.1 Five-Factor Model of Personality
2.7 Literature summary
Chapter 03- Research Methodology

3.1 Introduction	56
3.2 Conceptual Framework	56
3.3 Hypotheses	59
3.3.1 Research Hypotheses	60
3.4 Operational Definitions	66
3.5 Operationalization	68
3.5.1 Measurement Indicators	69
3.6 Research Design	
3.6.1 Research Epistemology	
3.6.2 Research Approach	
3.6.3 Research Strategy	
3.6.4 Research Method	
3.6.5 Research Instruments	
3.6.5 Unit of Analysis	
3.6.6 Time Horizon	
3.7 Primary Data Collection	
3.7.1 Questionnaire	
3.8 Sample Plan	
3.8.1 Target Population	
3.8.2 Definition of SME for this research	
3.8.2 Sample size and Sampling formula	
3.9 Data Analysis Techniques	
3.9.1 Main Data Analysis Techniques	
3.9.2 Validity and Reliability	
3.10 Chapter Summary	
Chapter 04- Data Analysis	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Data Analysis Process	
4.3 Preparation of Database	
4.3.1 Data Entry and Handling Missing Data	
4.4 Sample Profile	
4.4 Reliability Test	
4.5 Validity Test	

4.5.1 Uni-Dimensionality Test	96
4.5.2 Convergent Validity	97
4.5.3 KMO Test (Kaiser Meyer Olkin Test)	97
4.5.4 Bartlett's Test of Sphericity (BTS Test)	98
4.6 Independent Variable Responses and Frequencies -Leadership Styles	99
4.7 Dependent Variable Responses and Frequencies – Business Performance	100
4.8 Mediating Variable Responses and Frequencies – Organization Culture	101
4.9 Moderating Variable Responses and Frequencies – Personality traits of the busine owner/manager	
4.10 Data Analysis	102
4.10.1 Correlation Analysis	102
4.10.2 Regression Analysis	103
4.10.3 Hypothesis 01	104
4.10.4 Hypothesis 02	105
4.10.5 Hypothesis 03	106
4.10.6 Hypothesis 04	107
4.10.7 Hypothesis 05	108
4.12 Hypothesis Test Summary	109
5.1 Introduction	111
5.2 Key Finding	111
5.2.1 Leadership styles affect business performance	112
5.2.2 Leadership styles and organizational culture	112
5.2.3 Organizational culture affects business performance	113
5.2.4 A leader influence business performance through organizational culture	113
5.2.5 Moderating effect of leader's personality traits	114
5.3 Conclusion and Implications	114
5.3.1 Practical Implications	114
5.3.2 Academic Implication	117
5.4 Recommendation for Future Research	118
5.4.1 Recommendation based on the theoretical perspective	118
5.4.2 Recommendations for Sri Lanka researchers	118
References	119
Appendices	157

Tables of Illustrations

List of tables

Table 2.1 McGregor's Theory X and Theory Y comparison
Table 3.1 Operational Definitions
Table 3.2 Measurement Indicators
Table 3.3 Past Research Methods 74
Table 3.4 Questionnaire Structure
Table 3.5 Krejcie and Morgan Table
Table 3.6 Approached to Analysis
Table 4.1 Reliability Statistics- Cronbach's Alpha
Table 4.2 Rotated Component Matrix
Table 4.3 Convergent Validity for all variables
Table 4.4 Descriptive Statistics for Leadership Styles
Table 4.5 Descriptive Statistics for Dependent Variable
Table 4.6 Descriptive Statistics for Mediating Variable-Organizational Culture101
Table 4.7 Descriptive Statistics for Moderating Variable-Personality Traits
Table 4.8 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 01104
Table 4.9 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 01105
Table 4.10 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 02 105
Table 4.11 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 02106
Table 4.12 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 03 106
Table 4.13 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 03107
Table 4.14 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 04 107
Table 4.15 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 04 107
Table 4.16 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 05 108
Table 4.17 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 05 109
Table 4.18 Hypotheses Testing – Summary

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 The Blake and Mouton managerial grid	
Figure 3.1 Conceptual Framework	59
Figure 3.2 Krejcie and Morgan formula	78
Figure 3.3 Regression Model	83
Figure 3.4 Regression Model Scatter Plot	84
Figure 4.1 Responder Demography-Gender	90
Figure 4.2 Responder Demography-Age	90
Figure 4.3 Responder Demography Managerial Position	91
Figure 4.4 Responder Demography- Highest Educational Qualifications	92
Figure 4.5 Responder Demography- Years of Experience in SME Sector	93
Figure 4.6 Responder Demography- Number of Employees	94
Figure 4.7 Responder Demography- Annual Turnover	94
Figure 4.8 Mean Scale	100
Figure 4.9 Correlations Scale	103

List of Abbreviations

- BTS: Bartlett's Test of Sphericity
- **GDP:** Gross Domestic Product
- EBIT: Earnings before interest and taxes
- KMO: Kaiser Meyer Olkin
- **KPI: Key Performance Indicator**
- LKR: Sri Lankan Rupee
- LMX: leader-member exchange theory
- OECD: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
- PAVL: Passive avoidance leadership Style
- SET: Social exchange theory
- SLTDA: Sri Lanka Tourism Development Authority
- SME: Small and Medium Enterprise
- TFL: Transformational Leadership Style
- TSL: Transactional Leadership Style
- SET: Social exchange theory
- USD: United States Dollar
- VDL: Vertical Dyad Linkage

Chapter 01- Introduction

1.1 Background of the Study

Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) play a vital role in a given economy and are considered as a driving force. In Sri Lanka, SMEs are considered the backbone of the economy (Gamage, 2003). SMEs consist of most of the businesses in any given economy and provide job opportunities to a large portion of the workforce. SMEs contribute to economic growth, economic value creation, innovation, distribution of wealth, job creation, social stability, reduce poverty, etc. (Arinaitwe 2006; Ayyagari et al., 2005; Karides, 2005; O'Regan & Ghobadian, 2004; Audretsch, 2002). According to Wijayasiri, (2016) during the last two decades, the Sri Lankan government has expressed its interest in the SME sector as a means to promote economic growth in Sri Lanka. It has been identified that the SME sector in Sri Lanka has grown remarkably during the last three decades. In Sri Lanka SMEs account for 75% of all businesses and contribute to 45% of national employment (Wijayasiri, 2016). It has been identified that SMEs can play a vital role in driving the Sri Lankan economy to greater heights. Department of Census and Statistics (2021) contends that during the last two decades number of newly started SMEs has risen at an increasing rate. At the same time, the number of SMEs that have closed down has increased. During the last two decades, governments have paid attention to empowering SMEs a as way of promoting economic growth (Nishantha, 2018). With the end of the three-decades-long war, new opportunities are arising in industries such as tourism and exports. However, the literature indicates that adequate research into the SME sector in Sri Lanka has not been performed. Therefore, in-depth studies into the SME sector in Sri Lanka are in demand.

Since the nineteenth century, leadership has been a topic of interest among scholars. At the same time, scholars have explored business and what impacts businesses performance. Scholars have identified leadership as an element that sways business performance. As indicated by Aziz et al (2013) considerable amount of research has been conducted about leadership's impact on business performance. A considerable volume of studies has been conducted on leadership and its effect on the business performance in the SME segment of businesses. However, the number of studies narrows down with the narrow down of the topic

(Aziz et al, 2013). Such researches have been performed in diverse geographical locations. In the Sri Lankan context volume of research performed on the subject matter, appear to be a handful. Aziz et al (2013) contend that leadership styles can have a different effect on business performance in SMEs. The effect of a leadership style on business performance can be dissimilar due to a wide array of circumstances such as geographical location, cultural background, attitudes, motivation factors, etc. It has also been acknowledged that organizational culture can be a mediating factor between leadership style and business performance. At the same time leader's personality can have a moderating effect on both leadership style and business performance.

Scholars have shown interest in leadership theories such as great man theory, full-range leadership theory, trait theory, contingency theory, situational theory, behavioral theory, mount button managerial grid, etc. At the same time, scholars have studied businesses, performance, and organizational culture for a considerable period (Al-Sada, Al-Esmael, and Faisal, 2017). According to Bass and Avolio (1998), the number of factors that affect the performance of a business and leadership is considered as one of these factors. Bass and Avoli (1998) further illuminate that in the SME context leadership is still an influential factor that influences business. In fact, in SMEs leadership have rather a significant impact on business performance. Franco & Matos (2015) acknowledged that an extensive amount of research has been performed on the topic of leadership and at the same time a similar amount of research has been performed on the topic of SMEs separately. Be that may, the amount of research conducted on how leadership affects business performance in SMEs can be considered as limited. Especially, when it comes to exploring how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs, the amount of research appears to be limited (Franco & Matos 2015). In the Sri Lankan context amount of research conducted on leadership styles and business performance in businesses is considerably limited.

As it is pointed out by Thomas (1988) a wide range of causes influence the performance of an SME and leadership is considered one of these influences. Thomas (1988) enlightens that leadership and organizational performance have a direct correlation to one another. As indicated by Van (2005) businesses require leaders who can sway their employees to take effective action and to follow its vision, mission, objectives and to be faithful to the organization. Plowman et al (2007) clarify that problem solving is one of the important qualities in an effective leader. Each of these leadership styles has its characteristics that can

be linked to personality traits that are described in the big five personality theory (Bass and Avoli, 1998).

Previously conducted researches in various other geographical locations have produced opposing results. In certain geographical locations, TSL has been acknowledged to have a grander impact on business performance in SMEs. In other cases, scholars have identified transformational leadership style (TFL) to have a larger impact on business performance in SMEs (Aziz, et al, 2013). At the same time, some research studies have recognized that the passive-avoidance leadership style grander impact on business performance in SMEs. It has been identified that factors such as culture and social background impact what employees expect from a leader (Judge, and Piccolo, 2004). At the same time leader's leadership style can have an impact on organizational culture and organizational culture and that impacts the business performance in SMEs. Therefore, it has been identified that a leader can affect the affect business performance through organizational culture (Judge, and Piccolo, 2004).

Based on the above-mentioned factors the author has identified that there is no universally accepted opinion on what style of leadership is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs in the global context. Different researchers have come up with contrary opinions. Therefore, this research ad more theoretical discovery into the body of knowledge. In Sri Lanka, limited research has been conducted to understand how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs. Therefore, this research has attempted to understand how what style of leadership is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka and how organizational culture and leader's personality traits play a role in that. Finds of the present research are beneficial to SME owners, managers, policymakers, and academics for performance improvement, recruitments policy decisions, and future research.

1.1.1 Why Tourism Industry

The SME sector in Sri Lanka consists of over fifty thousand businesses spread across that country and they operate in a wide range of industries. There is a large population to select an accurate sample. At the same time, there is a well-maintained database of SMEs in Sri Lanka. That makes it difficult to collect a quality sample for the present research. At the same time that makes it difficult to select the sample size and gives each SME a fair chance to be selected. That can create sample bias. Therefore, the author decided to select a particular industry for the present research. After considering several industries, the tourism industry was selected, as the most appropriate industry for this research to be conducted.

The tourism industry maintains a database of SMEs operating in the industry and that database is regularly updated. Not many industries in Sri Lanka have such a well-maintained database (SLTDA, 2021). The tourism industry has a diverse range of businesses that also falls under other industries such as hotels, transport providers, ayurvedic treatment centers, medical tourism providers, agriculture tourism providers, restaurants, activity providers, other service providers, etc. At the same time, a considerable number of enterprises in the tourism industry are owned by female and young entrepreneurs, entrepreneurs of all ethnicities, and vulnerable groups. SMEs operating in the tourism industry are distributed across the country including rural areas, hill-country, and coastal areas (Sri Lanka tourism alliance, 2021). Based on the above factor the author believes that the tourism industry is the best way to get an accurate sample of the SME sector in Sri Lanka for the present research.

1.2 Research Problem and Justification

1.2.1 Research Gap

The effect of leadership style on business performance in SMEs is an avenue that has not been thoroughly explored. Especially, in the Sri Lankan context, such research is much in need. A condensable amount of research had been conducted on the phenomena of leaders for over a century. At the same time, a reasonable amount of research had been conducted on business performance (Fokam, 2016). Researches can be found on leadership style as a predictor of business performance. However, it has been identified that limited research has been performed to understand how leadership style influences business performance in SMEs. Studies have discovered that leadership styles impact business performance in SMEs. However, there is no mutually agreed opinion on what manner of leadership style would contribute to greater business performance. Therefore, the present study aims to shed light on this matter. This research is focused on understanding what style of leadership is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs by studying SMEs in Sri Lanka (SMEs in the tourism industry in Sri Lanka). This gap can be further elaborated in the below sections as the gap, in theory, the gap in the literature, and the gap in practice

1.2.1.1 Theoretical Gap

Over a century, scholars attempted to define the phenomena of leadership. In that process, scholars have introduced several theories on leadership to define what leadership is. Nawaz and Khan, (2016) explain that theories such as Trait Theories, Behavioral Theory, Situational leadership theory, Management theory, Transformational theory, Social Exchange Theory, Leader-member exchange theory. well recognized among academia. Ayyagari, Beck, and Demirguc-Kunt, (2007) illustrate that each of these theories explains leadership in their way and there is a merit of these theories. The phenomenal relationship between leadership styles and business performance derives from these theories.

a. Trait Theory

The trait theory which is also known as the great man theory is one of the leadership theories that are developed in the nineteenth century. This theory explains that leaders are born with traits of leadership. This opinion was challenged by theories that were developed later. According to the theory, individuals such as Mahatma Gandhi, Alexander the Great, Julius Caesar, Winston Churchill, Catherine the Great, etc. are recognized as archetypes recognized in this leadership theory (Labich, 1988). Since this specifically states that leaders are borne not made, it does not allow the room to develop leadership or leadership styles in people. This opinion was challenged by theories that were developed later. Even certain aspects of leadership are covered in this theory but, this theory fails to give a proper solution to the research problem.

b. Theory

Behavioral theories discuss an opinion that is opposed to trait theory. These theorists work on the assumption that leaders are made, not borne. They believe that people can learn these traits and become leaders and people can adopt different styles of leadership based on the situation (Neto *et* al.,2019). The majority of the better-known theories characterize the leader based on one or two character dimensions and put them in a two-dimensional matrix. These dimensions include authority and flexibility, team members' involvement in decision making. Blake & Mouton, (1978) has placed their parameters to concern for people against concern for production. Even though behavioral theory covers some aspects of leadership, it does not completely cover multi-dimensions of modern-day organizations' circumstances. Therefore, this theory fails to give a proper solution to the research problem.

5

c. Situational Leadership

Yukl, (2002), contends that there is no universally appropriate style of leadership and the effectiveness of a leadership style can vary based on the situation. One leadership style can be effective in a certain situation but, it could fail in another situation. Fiedler, (1964) explains that there are three aspects to situational leadership and they are, the leader-member relations, the position power, and the task structure. He further contends that the efficiency of the leadership style depends on the situation. Fiedler, (1964) describes that the person-oriented leader is more effective in favorable conditions, and in unfavorable conditions, the taskoriented leader is more effective. House, (1971) illustrates that the path-goal theory explains that the leader's ability to positively motivate the follower in situations is based on the effectiveness of the leader. Astein, (2016) points out that these findings are inconsistent. This theory is somewhat applicable for this but, , Therefore, this theory cannot be fully applicable to this research study. The situational theory is partially applicable for this research because these theories provide a somewhat understanding of what leadership is characteristics of a leader but, do not paint the full picture. Therefore, a gap in these theories can be identified.

d. Transformational Theory

The transformational theory was introduced in 1978 by James MacGregor Burns. Burns (1978), points out that "one or more persons engage with others in such a way that leaders and followers raise one another to higher levels of motivation and morality" as transformational leadership. According to Bass (1985), transformational leadership can be described as a set of 's behaviors derived from a set of beliefs and values system of an individual. Transformational leaders display four specific behaviors and are Idealized influence, Inspirational motivation, Intellectual Stimulation, and Individualized consideration. Ismail et al., (2009) point out that transformational leaders motivate their followers and boost their morale. They promote their follower's self-development and uplift their value system. Developing the skill set of their followers is important to them. Bass (1989) transformational leaders encourage followers to see issues from new vantage points, offer help and comfort to convey a vision, lift their moods, etc. The transformational theory is directly linked with this research. However, this theory does not answer what style of leadership is better for greater business performance. That creates a gap in theory that this research intends to be addressed.

e. Transactional Theory

Max Weber introduced the transactional theory in 1947. This theory was further developed by Bernard Bass (Bass, 1981). The characteristic of this leadership is it is a transaction or exchange between the leader and the follower. These leaders and followers agree on tasks and rewards for accomplishing the task and punishment for not accomplishing the task. Transactional leaders display two key behaviors, Contingent reward, and Management by Exception. Contingent reward behavior describes those followers who can count on the leader that the reward will be there once the task is completed. Management by Exception behavior describes that leader will only involve when it is necessary. When the leader has no choice but to intervene because this will go wrong otherwise. It has been noted that maintaining the status quo is a key attribute in transactional leadership. Transformational leadership is considered effective heavily task-oriented situations and situations where creativity and thinking are less involved.

f. Social Exchange theory

Social exchange theory (SET) dates back to 1960. It is a social-psychological theory be used to provide a theoretical explanation for organizational citizenship behavior (Emerson, 1976). This theory relies on both utilitarianism and behaviorism to understand citizenship organizational behavior. Emerson (1976) explains that further explains that SET is more as a framework than theory. This theory rests on certain assumptions on human nature and the nature of relationships. According to Emerson (1976) people tend to move toward rewards and evade punishment, they and look for profit maximization and e profit and cost minimization or in other words, "what's in it for me?" According to Hollandder and Julian (1969), SET can be used to explore leadership. To achieve the goals of the organization the leader has to provide a positive exchange to the followers. At the same time, it has been identified that's SET can be sued to explain transformational leadership and transactional leadership. It has been identified transformational is best explained with social exchange theory. This theory is directly connected with the present research because it allows the researchers to describe the relationship between the leader and the follower. Therefore, this theory can help the researcher to explore the theoretical gap in leadership.

g. Leader-Member Exchange Theory

Leader-member exchange theory is understandably from the vertical dyad linkage (VDL) theory. This theory explains the dynamic between the leader and the follower in an organization. Dansereau, et al. (1975). Gerstner and Day, (1997) explain that the quality of the relationship between the leader and the follower influences the outcome of the organization or gathering. LMX provides an alternative approach to traditional approaches to leadership. Graen and Scandura, (1987) point out that the relationships between leaders and followers is a three-step process and they are Role-Taking, Role-Making, and Routinization. According to Dulebohn et al (2012), there are three types of characteristics to LMX and they are leader characteristics, follower characteristics, and interpersonal relationships.

After analyzing the above theories, it can be identified that these theories created the basis for this research. Even this is the case, not one of these theories provides a solution to the present research problem that is 'what style of leadership with most suited for greater business performance in SMEs. Therefore, the author has identified that a theoretical gap exists and this research intends to address it.

1.2.1.2 Literature Gap

Literature indicates that leadership is a well-researched domain study. A large number of theses, research papers, journal articles, and other publications can be found in the leadership domain. At the same time, Fokam, (2016) indicates that researchers have explored how businesses operate and factors that are influencing business performance. Many of these researchers have identified that leadership is one of the factors that sway business performance and leadership. However, studies about business performance in SMEs and leadership are lesser in comparison to other types of business (Madanchian and Taherdoost, 2017). The has created a recognizable gap in the literature. It can be identified that even among the conducted studies that there is no mutually agreed opinion that what style of leadership is ideal for greater business performance. The common observation is that research studies conducted on different contexts such as various geographical locations, various cultures, etc. tend to produce dissimilar results (Aziz et al, 2013).

Aziz et al, (2013) demonstrate that researches conducted concerning leadership and business performance in SMEs have produced dissimilar results. Some researchers have indicated that

the TFL tends to produce the best results while other researchers point out TSL is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs. At the same time, some researchers recommend passive avoidance for SMEs for greater business performance. Ebrahim Hasan Al Khajeh (2018) indicates that charismatic, bureaucratic, and TSL negatively impact business performance while Transformational, autocratic, and democratic leadership styles affect business performance positively. Franco and Matos (2015) in their study conducted in the Portuguese context, describe that both transformational and transactional leadership are effective in swaying business performance while passive-avoidance leadership style is unable to produce any kind of an influence. Washington (2017) indicates that some leadership styles affect the nonfinancial aspect of business performance. Albloshi and Nawar, (2015) illustrated that based on their research conducted in Saudi Arabian context, TSL as the best-suited leadership style for greater business performance. SMEs tend to thrive under transactional leadership.

Therefore, further research is can shed light on the subject matter. Sri Lanka scholar Pretheeba (2018) acknowledged that the number of academic studies conducted on the SMEs sector in Sri Lanka is limited. She also points out that, less research has been conducted on connecting leadership styles and business performance in SMEs. Therefore, the author recognizes the lack of literature on the SME sector in Sri Lanka and leadership style and business performance in Sri Lanka.

Based on the above findings it is evident that a gap in literature does exist on the subject matter and the author intends to address these literature gaps by conducting the present research.

1.2.1.3 Practice Gap

a. Practice gap in general

Leadership is a well-researched topic of study and business is also a well-researched area of researches. However, researches on leadership and business performance in SMEs is a subject area that has not been thoroughly explored. Especially, in the Sri Lankan context, researches on leadership and business performance in SMEs is an area not yet been fully explored. Therefore, owners and managers of SMEs in Sri Lanka are not aware that what style of leadership to practice for greater business performance in SMEs. SME owners are not aware of what types of personality traits to look for when hiring people for leadership positions in

their organization. Policymakers in Sri Lanka are unaware of what style of leadership is the best for greater business performance in SMEs therefore when it comes to developing training programs and education programs policymakers do not have enough information to create the right kind of material for their training programs. At the same time, academics do not have enough information to conduct their researches. The author wishes to address the abovementioned gap in practice by conducting the present research.

b. Practice gap concerning the SME sector

The SME sector plays a vital role in the Sri Lankan economy and is considered its backbone. SMEs contribute to value creation, distribution of wealth, and economic growth. The number of female entrepreneurs in the SME sector is higher than in any other business sector. At the same time number of young entrepreneurs is much higher in the SME sector than in any other business sector of the economy. It has been noted that SMEs have a higher contribution to poverty elevation than any other business sector because a significant number of SMEs are located in rural areas of the country. With the end of the 30year old war in Sri Lanka, new business opportunities are emerging in a wide range of areas including. Based on the fact that limited studies have been conducted on the SME sector, the author believes that the findings of this research can benefit the SME sector in Sri Lanka heavily. By doing so this research contributes to poverty elevation, rural development, female and youth empowerment, and the growth of the economy as a whole. Based on the above-mentioned reasons the author decided to select the SME sector for the present research.

c. Practice gap concerning the tourism industry

The author has decided to focus the present research based on the tourism industry. The tourism industry largely consists of SMEs and there is a wide range of business operations that can be observed. The tourism industry is an industry that is an accurate representation of the SME sector in Sri Lanka. It has been recognized that the tourism industry contributes to over 5% of the national GDP and over 11% of the national employment. SMEs operating in the tourism industry operates in every part of the country including rural and poverty-stricken areas. Therefore, the findings of the research can have an impact on the grander economic scale and at the same time, these findings can contribute to the growth of rural economies and poverty elevation.

It can be recognized that limited research has been conducted on the tourism industry in Sri Lanka. Significantly, limited studies have been performed to explore how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs in the tourism industry in Sri Lanka. Therefore, SME owners and managers of SMEs in the tourism industry are unaware of what style of leadership is ideal for greater business performance. Because of that, they are don't have enough information to decide what styles of leadership to practice. At the same time, SME owners are not aware to look at what personality traits to look for when hiring management staff members for their businesses and whether they should pay attention to organizational culture. At the same time, policymakers do not have enough information to develop training and educational programs for SMEs in the tourism sector. SLTDA and other branches of government are focused on uplifting SMEs in the industry. Information on how leadership styles affect business performance can be valuable to these government organizations. It can also be pointed out that lack of research findings can make it difficult for researchers to research the tourism industry in Sri Lanka

1.3.2 Problem Statement

For over a century the phenomena of leadership have been a research interest among. A countless number of researches have been performed during all these times. Researchers have also studied businesses for several decades and they have identified several factors as influencers of business performance. Among those factors' leadership has been identified as one of the predominant factors. Researches have been looking into Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) as a special sub-segment of business. Limited research has been conducted on what factors affect the business performance in SMEs and some researchers have identified leadership as one of the factors. It is a common understanding that not enough research has been conducted about business performance and leadership in SMEs (Aziz et al, 2013).

Ayyagari, Beck, and Demirguc-Kunt, (2007) explain that throughout the years' scholars have developed a range of leadership theories. These theories include trait theory, behavioral theory, situational theory, blake mouton managerial grid, management theory, transformational theory, etc. Ayyagari, Beck, and Demirguc-Kunt, (2007) explain that these theories define leadership in their unique way and they have introduced a variety of leadership styles with their characteristics. Ayyagari, Beck, and Demirguc-Kunt, (2007) point out that researchers have generated dissimilar results in their research when they try to understand what theory can be related to greater business performance in SMEs. Therefore, the author has identified a gap in theory that there is a lack of theoretical knowledge when it comes to understanding what leadership style is most suited for greater business performance in SMEs. Based on the extensively reviewed literature, a limited amount of researches can be found on how leadership styles affect business performance and how leadership styles contribute to greater business performance. Even among the conducted studies, there is no universally agreed-upon theory that what style of leadership contributes to greater business performance (Albloshi, and Nawar, 2015). Some researchers have pointed out that the TFL is the most effective for greater business performance in SMEs and some others have pointed out that the passive-avoidance leadership style is ideal. Some scholars believe that both TSL and TFL are ideal for greater business performance in SMEs Franco and Matos (2015). Therefore, the author identifies that not enough literature is available to establish a solid ground on what style of leadership styles is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs. Therefore, further research into this area of study is needed.

Sinnathurai (2013) contended that limited researches have been conducted on the SME sector in Sri Lanka. A rather limited amount of researches has been conducted on how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs in the Sri Lankan context. Because of that, there is a lack of understanding of how leadership styles affect business performance and what leadership style is ideal for greater business performance in Sri Lanka. Sri Lankan SME leaders are unaware of what type of leadership style is ideal for them. At the same time, policymakers are blind to information when it comes to policy and decision-making concerning the SME sector. Sri Lanka academics can use more information when developing educational programs for the SME sector and leadership. Therefore, the author has identified a gap in practice on how leadership style affects business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. The author recognizes above mentioned theoretical gap, literature gap, and practice gap as the problem statement for the present research.

1.4 **Objectives**

The overall objective of this research study is to discover how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. A significant amount of research studies can be found on leadership and business. However, only a limited amount of research was witnessed

concerning leadership styles and business performance in SMEs. Even among these limited studies, a commonly agreed opinion is hard to find. Therefore, the present research attempt to shed knowledge on this hardly explored domain of research. In the Sri Lankan context rather, limited research has been conducted on how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs. Therefore, the present research attempts to acquire knowledge on the subject matter.

Based on the identified research problem, the following research objectives are identified

- To examine whether leadership styles contribute to greater business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka.
- 2. To examine whether leadership styles have a positive influence on organizational culture in SMEs in Sri Lanka.
- To examine whether organizational culture contributes to greater business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka.
- To examine whether leadership styles can positively influence business performance in SMEs through organizational culture in Sri Lanka.
- To understand how a leader's personality traits moderate the business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka.

1.5 Research Questions

Research questions are a vital component in the research design of any research study. Based on the research objectives identified in section 1.4, the author has designed the following research questions. The author has designed four research questions. Each of these research questions is designed to address each objective. At the same time research question are affiliated with variables of the conceptual framework and research hypotheses. Each research objective is achieved through research questions.

- 1. Does leadership contribute to greater business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka?
- Do leadership styles have a positive influence on organizational culture in SMEs in Sri Lanka.
- Does organizational culture contribute to greater business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka.
- 4. Do leadership styles positively influence business performance in SMEs through organizational culture in Sri Lanka.

5. How do leaders' personality traits moderate the business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka?

1.6 Significance of the study

The outcome of the present research has significance for theory and practice and fields such as leadership, SMEs, organizational culture, leadership traits, and business performance. It has been identified that a significant amount of research has been conducted on the domain of leadership and a similar amount of research has been conducted on businesses and business performance. A limited amount of research has been conducted on how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs. Therefore, this research makes a significant theoretical contribution to the domain of leadership and SME performance.

A considerably limited number of researches has been conducted on how leadership style affects business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. Therefore, this research makes a significant contribution SME sector, policymakers, academics, etc. in Sri Lanka. This research points out what style of leadership is most effective in creating a greater business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka and what kind of role organizational culture and leader's personality traits play in the equation. Based on the findings of this research leaders can adopt recommended leadership style for greater business performance in their SMEs. SME owners can use the findings of this research when hiring staff members for leadership positions in the future. Sri Lankan policymakers can use the findings of this research when developing training and educational programs for the SME sector in Sri Lanka. Academics can use the findings of this research for their future research studies.

1.6.1 Theoretical Contribution

This research explores how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs by studying the SMEs in the tourism industry in Sri Lanka. Previously conducted researchers on this topic have come up with conclusions that are different from each other. Trait theory, behavioral theory, situational theory, transformational theory, and transactional theory were used as leadership theories as the basis for this research, and social exchange theory and leadermember exchange theory were used to explore the relationship between leadership styles and business performance. The literature review has identified that there is no single theory that explains what style of leadership is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs. Based on empirical data, the author wishes to point out that transformational theory explains greater business performance in SMEs.

1.6.2 Practical Contribution

Scholars have been studying leadership for a significant period and at the same time business is also a well-researched area of researches. However, limited research has been done to understand how leadership styles influence business performance in SMEs. When it comes to the Sri Lankan context amount of research on the subject matter gets further limited. Therefore, owners and managers of SMEs in Sri Lanka are not aware that what style of leadership to practice for greater business performance in SMEs. This research has identified that the TFL is the best style of leadership for greater business performance in SMEs. SME owners and managers can use this information and adopt transformational leadership in their practice. This research has identified personality traits that are associated with TFL. SME owners and managers can look for those personality traits when recruiting people for managerial positions. Policymakers in Sri Lanka can use this information when developing training and educational programs for the SME sector. At the same time, academics can use the conclusions of this research for their researches and academic teachings.

1.7 Methodology Overview

The author has decided to use "positivism" as the philosophy for this research. The author is independent of the research and the human interaction is minimum during the research study (Dudovskiy,2018). This research progresses through hypothesis and deduction Probability sampling method was used to selct samples to study. The researcher has selected the deductive approach as the way to approach this research because this research is focus on fasts, not on human interest(Crowther and Lancaster, 2008). This research is primarily based on hypothesis testing. The author attempts to create a generalized theory/understanding by studying a sample consisting of a limited number of SMEs. Therefore, the deductive approach is most suited for this research. Only a limited period was allocated to collect data for this research. The level of risk involved in this research for both participants and the researcher is considerably low. By considering all these factors, the deductive approach is the most suited approach for this research (Wilson,2010).

Due to the "nature of the relationships within the population", the survey can be considered as the ideal method for this research (Dudovskiy, 2018). The epistemology of this research has

been decided as positivism and deductivism has been selected as the research approach. Therefore, a quantitative research method is suited for this research (Bryman, and Bell, 2015). Therefore this research is qualitative. The unit of analysis for this research is be individual since SME managers or owners used ot as subjects for this research (Trochim, 2020). Since this survey only is conducted one time, the time horizon for this research is be cross-sectional. A survey method wasbe used and a questionnaire with a five-point Likert scale was used as the research instrument. The questionnaire consists of five parts. Part (a) of is gather background information, Part (b) Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 6S, Part (c) Big Five Leadership questionnaire part (d) is an author designed questionnaire to study organizational Culture and part (e) is an author designed questionnaire to assess business performance. Selected SMEs were contacted over the phone and questionnaires were sent via online method. Krejcie Morgan sampling formula was used as the sampling method for this research. The formula is as follows " $s = X 2NP(1-P) \div d 2(N-1) + X 2P(1-P)$ ". Quantitative data analysis techniques were selected for the present. SPSS software was used for the analysis of the data collected data from questionnaires. Descriptive statistics, correlations analysis, and regression analysis were used in the process of data analysis.

1.8 Limitations of the Study

This research study involves both methodological and circumstantial research limitations. Unfortunately, there is no commonly agreed definition of SMEs in Sri Lanka. Different government agencies use their definition. That creates confusion when selecting samples to study. Therefore, the author has to find a definition that suits this research. This research study uses a quantitative method to understand how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. Consequently, descriptive data are not be used for this research. Hence, the present research does not provide any descriptive analysis. Samples to be collected from a tourism industry for convenience. Hence, it creates a bias and can reduce the level of diversity among samples for the reason that. The tourism industry may not represent an exact representation of the whole SME sector in Sri Lanka.

The questionnaire consists of 5 parts. Altogether, it is one hundred and four questions. Even though is a multiple-choice (five-point Likert scale) it takes more than half an hour to go through all the questions and answer properly. Because of that, it can be expected that some respondents could skip a question or even answer questions without going through the

questions thoroughly. The survey questionnaire includes Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 6X, Big 5 personality traits questionnaire, and two other authors designed questionnaires (to assess the organizational culture and business performance) Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 6X, Big 5 personality traits questionnaire is developed by native English speakers and the language is sophisticated. Since the research participants are selected based on the sampling method, the level of English language proficiency of the respondent (SME owners and leaders) cannot be predicted. It can be assumed that not all the participants may have adequate English language proficiency. Therefore, it is possible that some respondents (SME owners and leaders) may not grasp the true meaning of a few questions or more and it is also possible that the meaning of questions. It is also possible that some questions are personal. Therefore, it could be a possibility that some participants may not answer some questions honestly.

Conducting the interview became a challenge due to Covid 19 situation in Sri Lanka. The country was in lockdown and there were many social-economic difficulties. When this research was designed in post covid – 19 time, it was decided that postal service to be used to send and receive questionnaires. Selected SME leaders have contacted the questionnaire to be sent with a stamped envelope so that the participant can post the answered questionnaire back to the researcher. Unfortunately, due to Covid – 19 country was on lockdown and the postal service was not functioning. People were confined to homes and businesses were closed. Therefore, the author had to find another way to conduct the research. The author decided to use google forms as a method to conduct the research. The author uploaded the questionnaire to a google form in a way that participants could answer the questions based on a five-point Likert scale and e-mailed the link to selected participants.

Another limitation for this research is how covid-impacted Sri Lanka. The tourism industry was hit hard by restrictions. Therefore, the author had to ask respondents to answer the question based on the financial figures of 2019. At the same time, the emotional state and socio-economic circumstances of the respondent (SME owners or leaders) could affect the attention that they would give to the questionnaire.

1.9 Chaptalization

This research comprises 5 chapters. Chapter 01 – Introduction, Chapter 02 – Literature Review, Chapter 03 – Methodology, Chapter 04 - Data Analysis, & Chapter 05 - Conclusion and Recommendation

Chapter 01 – Introduction.

The introduction chapter provides an overall picture of the research study. The chapter discusses the background of the research study and provides an overview of the SME sector in Sri Lanka. The author explains the SME sector's contribution to Sri Lanka and the Sri Lankan economy. In this chapter, the author has provided justifications for conducting this particular research and acknowledged the problem that tends to explore. The author has highlighted the gap in research, the gap, in theory, the gap in the literature, and the gap in practice to justify the research topic. At the same time, the introduction chapter contains research objectives and research questions. This chapter briefly describes the value of the study,

Chapter 02 – Literature Review.

In chapter two the author has provides a theoretical underpinning for the research study. It outlines theories and concepts that are related to the research. Moreover, the literature discusses present research concepts leadership, leadership theories, leadership styles (transformational, transactional, and passive-avoidance), organizational culture, personality traits, etc. This chapter provides a theoretical base to develop the conceptual framework.

Chapter 03 – Research Methodology

In this chapter, the author defines the exact methodology to be used for the entire research. The author also justifies why a certain methodology was selected for this particular research study. At the same time, this chapter introduces the research variable and conceptual framework. Then again this chapter introduces data collection, research methods, analytical tools, etc.

Chapter 04 – Data Analysis

In this chapter, the author introduces the analytical process that was used to collect & analyze research. The author describes the tools, techniques, and step-by-step process that was used to generate results. It contains a deep analysis of the hypotheses test.

Chapter 05 – Conclusion and Recommendation.

In this final chapter of the research study, the author explains the evaluation of research findings. It outlines the conclusion derived from the whole research process and expresses theoretical and practical knowledge gained from the research. Moreover, it provides opportunities for future research.

Chapter 02: Literature Review

2.1 Introduction

This chapter provides a theoretical underpinning for the current research "the effect of Leadership style on business performance. A study of SMEs in the tourism sector in Sri Lanka. Leadership has been a topic of interest among academics for over a century and it has been identified that leadership affects business performance in business. This chapter begins by describing what leadership is and the author introduces several definitions introduced by various scholars throughout the years. By doing so the author attempts to provide a reasonable explanation of what leadership is to the reader. Then the author discusses the theatrical background of the research. In this section, the author discusses leadership theories that the present research is based upon. This research is primarily based upon the full-range leadership theory that was introduced by Bruce J. Avolio and M. Bass. The author explains their primary styles of leadership (transformational, transactional, and passive-avoidance) that have been introduced in this full-range leadership theory.

In the next section, the author explains what a small and medium enterprise (SME) is and describes business performance in SMEs. The author points out some of the key performance indicators that are used to measure and capture business performance in SMEs. Thereafter, the author discusses the relations ship between the leader's (SME leaders/manager) leadership style and business performance. The author further discusses how organizational culture plays a moderating role in between leader and business performance. How a leader affects the business performance in SMEs through organizational culture. In the next section, the author explains the how personality traits of the leader (SME owner/manager) act as moderating facto in the leader's influence on the business performance in SMEs. The author introduces the fivefactor model of personality. This model explains the personality of an individual based on five traits and they are neuroticism, extraversion, openness, agreeableness, and conscientiousness.

2.2 Theoretical Background

2.2.1 Understanding Leadership

Leadership is a widely discussed phenomenon in academia. Scholars generally label leadership based on their perspective. Scholars such as Roost, Bernard Bass, John P. Kotter, etc. are well known for their theories of leadership. According to Bass (1990) leadership can be described as a leader's desire to lead his or her followers. Kotter (1988) defines leadership as an effect on people while Rost (1993) considers leadership as a relationship between leader and the follower. The search for understanding into leadership dates back to the nineteenth century. During all this time meaning to leadership has been explored as an attribute and a procedure. Throughout the time the attribute approach was based on the proposition that leadership is intrinsic while the procedure approach illustrates leadership as a value-based occasion, which is present-day and progressively consistent. According to Northouse, (2007), there are countless classification frameworks in trying to make sense of what leadership truly is. These frameworks have academically attempted to label and interpret leadership in a practical way for thinking.

Cummings and Schwab, (1973) describe leadership as a highly considered factor in an organization and affect multiple variables of the organization including worker potential to be effective. It is the point of view of Jaskaran and Sri-Guru, (2014) that the concept of leadership has progressed over the past few decades. Due to countless number studies conducted over this time have come up with progressive ideas on leadership. It has been an agreed opinion that leadership styles sway workers to do their best work. Jaskaran and SriGuru, (2014) point out the recently conducted brain researches have generated results to support that argument. Jones and George (2004) define leadership as the process that allows one individual to arouse a keen interest in others to perform tasks and guides their activities to accomplish group activities and joint initiatives to accomplish organizational objectives. According to Cole, (2005) leadership is a method that is used to accomplish objectives in a given situation that can impact the gathering of people. Leppit and White (1939) describe that leadership style is the specific method that a leader used to accomplish the above objectives. Vigoda-Gadot (2007), describes leadership in their organization and actions reviews exact leadership style where such styles are derived from the value system of the individual such as their standards, personal behaviors, how they react to everyday situations, etc. Shirzad and

Zanganeh (2011) the administrator of an organization work in alliance with the workers and the value system of the leader's style of leader have an impact on the competency and confidence of the follower. This type of reinforcement on employees' confidence is recognized to have a positive impact on the performance of the employee because the employee will develop a sense that the leader can be relied on. It is one of the common assumptions that leaders are not conceived but, created. Jago (1982) that great leaders are created through the endless process of self-study, instruction, training, and experience. If the individual has the passion and pledge can turn into an excellent leader.

Northouse, (2017) in his opinion expresses that well-known connotation of leadership stated that the person who impacts a collective of people to achieve a shared objective is described as a leader. At the same time Zeitchik (2012), empathizes that it is a common trait of a leader is to motivate the follower until the common idea turns into a shared vision. A vision that would lead to the accomplishment of a chare objective. It is the opinion of Cole (2005) leadership is an influential process whereby individual influences others to contribute deliberate acknowledgment and accomplishment of the objectives and targets.

2.2.2 Leadership Theories

According to Hannay, (2013), leadership theories have developed from attention on qualities, to practices, to possibility hypotheses, to progressively contemporary methodologies including hireling leader transport theories to value-based and transformational hypotheses which center on aptitudes and capacities. Bass. (2000) and Stogdill (1989) explained that the leadership improvement centers on authority character characteristic that leads individuals normally into influential positions and obligations. The aptitudes approach contrasts with the qualities approach in that aptitudes and capacities can be scholarly while characteristics can't be educated. Charry, (2012) noticed that insightful enthusiasm for leadership expanded altogether during the early piece of the twentieth century. He distinguished eight significant leadership theories. Most theories see leadership as grounded in at least one of the accompanying three viewpoints: leadership as a procedure or relationship, authority as a mix of attributes or character qualities, or leadership as specific practices or, as they are all the more generally alluded to, leadership abilities. In for all intents and purposes the entirety of the more prevailing speculations there exist the ideas that, at any rate somewhat, leadership is a procedure that includes impact with a gathering of individuals toward the acknowledgment of objectives Great Man Theory Great which accept that the limit with regards to leadership is

inalienable, that incredible leaders are conceived, not made. These theories frequently depict leaders as chivalrous, mythic, and bound to ascend to leadership when required. Ololube, (2013) acknowledged that the "term incredible man" was utilized because, at that point, authority was thought of fundamentally as a male quality, particularly military leadership.

2.2.2.1 Trait Theory is similar somehow or another to extraordinary man theories, the characteristic theories accept that individuals acquire certain characteristics or qualities that improve their fit to authority. These theories delineate the possibility that extraordinary leaders have certain basic character characteristics that prompt powerful leadership. Great leaders are conceived, not made. The qualities related to capable authority are straightforward, astute, incredible comical inclination, leadership, constancy, and aspiration, want to exceed expectations, capable, uprightness, and conviction, obligation, understanding, fearlessness, and motivation. Kouzes (2008) opined that the most attractive and significant attribute is "Genuineness". He went further to state that insights have indicated that trustworthiness is in reality one best attribute a leader must-have. Genuineness is immensely urgent in authority in this manner, a leader ought to have the attributes (qualities) referenced right now to be effective in an association with the end goal of productivity and reachability between the leader and adherents.

Although there had been little steadiness in the outcomes of the numerous trait studies, some traits did seem more often than others, including practical skill, outgoingness, task motivation, application to task, cluster task supportiveness, communal skill, emotional control, managerial skill, general charisma, and intelligence. Kilpatrict and Locke (1991), in a meta-analysis, did seem to discover some steadiness around the resulting traits: drive to accomplish; the inspiration to lead; honesty and truthfulness; self-confidence, including the ability to withstand setbacks, standing firm, and being emotionally resilient; and knowledge of the business. Kilpatrict and Locke (1991), also note the importance of managing the perceptions of others about these characteristics. Northouse (1997) offers a valuable historical judgment of the list of traits exposed in various other research studies.

Trait theory is partially applicable for this research because this theory helps to provide a somewhat understanding of what leadership is characteristics of a leader and where the characteristics of leader derive from. Since this theory is only applicable partially, it creates room for further exploration.

2.2.2.2 The behavioral theory

The behavioral or style school was popular from the 1940s to the 1960s. This theory of leadership is based on the belief that great leaders are made, not born. This leadership theory focuses on the actions of leaders, not on intellectual qualities or internal states. According to behavioral theory, people can learn to become leaders through training and observation. Naylor, (1999) noted that interest in the behavior of leaders has been stimulated by a systematic comparison of autocratic and democratic leadership styles. It has been observed that groups under these types of leadership perform differently. Behavioral Theory assumes Leaders through teaching and observation. Behavioral theorists characterize leaders in contrast to one or two constraints and place them on a one-dimensional continuum or in a twodimensional matrix (Blake & Mouton, 1978). The constraints include apprehension for people or relationships, apprehension for production, use of authority, participation of the team in decision-making, participation of the team in decision making, and plasticity versus the application of rules

a. The Blake and Mouton Managerial Grid

The Blake and Mouton managerial grid of brought out a presumable mode of management in the organization. They attempted to highlight the relationship or compromise between Interestbased tasks, objectives, results, performance, and Interest-based on people.



Figure 2.1 The Blake and Mouton managerial grid (source: http://apppm.man.dtu.dk/index.php/The_Blake-Mouton_Managerial_Grid)

According to Blake & Mouton, (1978), the Laissez-faire leader is characterized as a manager who evades responsibilities. The social or country club style importance is given to the pleasantness in the management style. It defines a manager who has more courtesy to the security and the comfort of workers, favoring a working atmosphere sometimes at the detriment of production. The Autocratic leader is a manager who coerces his team and is only inattentive with results. The Integrative style represents a well-adjusted manager who reassures and assistance his team in the understanding of fixed aims. The institutional style illustrates a manager who harmonies importance to his people and production and who targets a suitable level of results. This managerial grid separates two vital leadership characteristics. The first type of manager is fixated on behavior that is oriented towards tasks, productivity, and results. These leaders have a dominant concern which is the realization of objectives. They focus on competence to the detriment of working relations. The second type a manager is fixated on a behavior-oriented towards the relation between workers. The manager is inattentive with the social climate and sustains a decent working relationship with the team.

b. McGregor's Theory of X and Y

McGregor's theory of X and Y is another theory that falls under behavioral theory. McGregor (1960) explains that there are primarily two ways of managing people. Those two say are illustrated as theory X and theory Y. McGregor (1960) explains that theory X is grounded on suppositions such as the person is lazy and does not like work henceforth, they must be controlled, engaged, acquiesced to sanctions. Only wages can reward the work. At the same time, people desire to be directed and choose to evade all responsibility. People are not ambitious and wish security. They despise change and prefer routine work. According to McGregor (1960), theory Y explains that work is as essential to a worker just as rest. A system that consents and outside control helps to achieve organizational outcomes and satisfy the worker. At the same time, he explains that an individual has the capacity to self-manage and self-control. McGregor (1960), also believes that the worker can use their imagination and their ingenuity for the best interest of the employer. Comparison of McGregor's theory of X and are illustrated in the below table.

Theory X leaders assume	Theory Y leaders assume	
 Employees inherently dislike work and, Whenever an attempt to avoid it. 	 Employees can view work as being as natural as possible, will rest or play 	
 Because employees dislike work, they must be coerced, controlled, or threatened with punishment desired goals Employees will shirk responsibilities and seek 	 Men and women will exercise self- direction and self-control if they are committed to the to achieve objectives The average person can learn to accept, even 	
formal direction whenever possible 4. Most workers place security above all other factors associated with work and will display little ambition	 seek, responsibility 4. The ability to make good decisions is widely dispersed throughout the population and is not necessarily the sole province of managers 	

Table 2.1 McGregor's Theory X and Theory Y comparison (Source: McGregor (1960))

The behavioral theory of leadership is partially applicable for this research because this theory describes certain aspects of leadership that relevant to this research. However, this theory does
not paint a complete picture of leadership. Therefore, this theory is partially applicable for this research and leaves a void that needs to be addressed.

2.2.2.3 Situational theory

The situational or contingency method suggests that the efficacy of a leadership style is based on the situation. A leadership style that may be effective in one situation may not be effective in another. Therefore, leaders pick the best strategy dependent on situational conditions or conditions. These facets of the condition can enhance or reverse the effects of the leader. Yukl (2002) explains this as 'situational moderator variables.' Therefore, situational theorists contend that there is no universally fitting leadership style. Based on that assumption situational theorists proposes that the best activity of the leader relies upon the scope of situational factors. For instance, in a circumstance where the leader is relied upon to be the most proficient and experienced individual from a gathering, a dictator style of initiative may be generally fitting. In different cases where a bunch of individuals are talented specialists and hope to be treated, all things considered, a fair style might be progressively successful. At the point when a choice is required, a powerful leader doesn't simply fall into a solitary favored style.

Contingency theory leadership was initially introduced by Fiedler (Fiedler, 1964, 1967). He determined the situation using three facets: "the leader-member relations, the position power, and the task structure." The effectiveness of a leadership style rests on situational favorability. The situational favorability derives from pondering and compounding the three situational facets. Fiedler (1967) theorizes that the correlation between leaders' efficiency and style of leadership style can differ based on the situation. He also contended that in highly favorable or highly unfavorable circumstances task-oriented leaders can thrive, while in intermediate favorable circumstances, the person-oriented leader is more effective. With the introduction of the contingency theory, Fiedler was able to arouse interest in situational factors. However, certain conceptual weaknesses can be found this Fiedler's. A key weakness is that the way leadership behavior was measurement (Schriesheim& Kerr, 1977). This measure has been changed multiple times since the introduction of the theory. The most recent theory that was introduced by Staehle, (1999) is still under some speculations, especially of those not obtained by Fiedler's scholars (Neuberger, 2002).

The path-goal theory of leadership provided a solution to overcome the inconsistency in measuring leadership behavior. Evans, (1970) contends that "the effects of leaders on the motivation and abilities of immediate subordinates and the effects of leaders on work unit performance" (House, 1996). This theory signifies a claim of the expectancy theory of motivation. The competence of the leader rests on his skill to positively influence the subordinates' expectation of instrumentations and valency and the prospects of rewards. The motivational purposes of the leader contain growing personal payments to aides for a work goal accomplishment. Making the path to these remunerations easier to achieve by illuminating it, reducing barricades and drawbacks, and growing the chances for individual satisfaction (House, 1971).

House & Mitchell, (1974) extended the number of leadership behaviors to four, supportive leadership, directive leadership, participative leadership, and achievement-oriented leadership. Yukl, (2002) illustrates that the early form dealt with supportive leadership and directive leadership. House and Dessler (1974), further explain that the "leader behavior will be viewed as acceptable to subordinates to the extent that the subordinates see such behavior as either an immediate source of satisfaction or as instrumental to future satisfaction." Furthermore, subordinates' locale of control and experience are important variables. On the other side the circumstantial characteristics, the competence of leader conduct will be subject to the nature of the duty. When the task is heavily structured, commanding leadership might lead to unnecessary control. Therefore Yukl (2002) illustrates that dissatisfaction can arise among subordinates.

The particular theory is somewhat applicable for this research because it looks at leadership from a situational perspective. This theory addresses situational effectiveness only. Therefore, this theory is partially relevant for this research and at the same time leaves a void that needs to be addressed properly.

2.2.2.4 Transformational Leadership Theory

The concept of transformational leadership was originally introduced by James MacGregor Burns in 1978. According to Burns (1978), transformational leadership is a situation, "one or more persons engage with others in such a way that leaders and followers raise one another to higher levels of motivation and morality." Bass (1985) explains transformational leadership is a set of 's behaviors derived from a set of beliefs and values system of an individual. It can be expected from a transformational leader to do more than expected and motivate subordinates to do more than expected that it is common for a transformational leader to receive loyalty, trust, and admiration from the followers. The transformational leader (TFL) makes the follower aware of the value of the outcome of tasks persuading them to look at the greater picture rise above their interest for the greater good of the organization (Kahn, 1978) Bass and Avolio (1994) contend that TFL applies intellectual stimulation to his or her encourages followers by encouraging them to think critically and take new approaches to the way they work. Because of that performance of the organization increases and at the same time employee fulfillment and commitment increase (Podsakoff et al, 1996).

Ismail et al., (2009) discuss that transformational leaders pay attention to subordinates' needs and their development. At the same time, transformational leaders tend to boost the morale of the subordinates, uplift their value system and motivate them to do better and work harder. Also, transformational leaders work on developing the skills of their team members. Bass (1994). Further, describe that transformational leaders are keen on understanding thing follower interests and by doing so try to act as a conduit between leaders and followers. It helps followers attain their organization and it inspires subordinates to be open and adaptable and easily adaptive to changing organizational atmosphere. Bass (1994) further elaborates that to induce the follower to a genuine interest in the vision and mission of the organization by widening the interest in the organization and the work that they are doing. Transformational leaders pay genuine interest in his or her employees to understand what they need to know to do their best work and provide the best support for them to do their best work.

Bass (1989) transformational leaders urge adherents to see issues from new viewpoints, offer help and consolation convey a dream, animate feelings, and distinguishing proof. Bruce et al. said that transformational leaders can describe and verbalize a dream for their organizations and their leadership style can impact or "change" singular level factors, for example, expanding inspiration and organization-level factors, for example, interceding strife among gatherings or groups. Bass, (1989), discovered that transformational leadership had a dynamic effect on individual and leadership results, for example, worker fulfillment and performance. More elevated levels of transformational leadership were related to more significant levels of gathering intensity. This type of leadership advances that workers are in subjection to their bosses. It likewise works under the standard of remuneration and discipline. Bureaucratic Leadership: This type of leadership guarantees outright consistency to strategies and rules to the last letter. Employees normally welcome this leadership over the long haul particularly in a high hazard working condition, for example, a concoction plant or a manufacturing plant.

Transformational leadership is one of the leadership styles that influence the organizational responsibility of their devotees by urging them to take an interest in dynamic procedures and creating individual capacities to oversee change. Golshani, (2001) demonstrated that leadership style motivates the adherents and lifts their assurance. Transformational leadership is one of the persuasive leadership styles as indicated by written works. In TFL, the colleagues consent to comply with their leader when they acknowledge an occupation while the organization pays colleagues as a result of their exertion and consistency. It is a leadership style that depends on the setting of clear targets and objectives for the devotees. Jantz, (2012) opined that transformational leadership has been seen in a few contextual analyses as more powerful than other leadership styles, for example, value-based and laissez-faire leadership. Leader relies upon the leadership style that is embraced in an offered circumstance to fill in as a manual for the arrangement of the organization (Iguisi, 2009). To this end, unmistakably the leadership style of a leader has a nearby connection to the advancement of an organization. It is imperative to take note of that for an assistance conveyance organization like the library, the achievement and disappointment are for the most part dictated by the exhibition of the staff which is extraordinarily affected by the leadership styles that are embraced by the leader. Bass (1990), introduces four characteristics to transformational leadership and they are Idealize influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individual consideration.

a. Idealized influence

Idealized influence or charisma is one of the early characteristics introduced by Bass (1985) in "Leadership and Performance Beyond Expectations." Bass (1985) explains that charisma is one of the key elements in transformational leadership. According to Humphreys & Einstein, (2003) idealized influence behavior contributes to setting the common vision and aligning employees to achieve a shared goal. This is achieved by creating a sense of mission among the group. In that process, the transformational leader gains the respect of the followers and their trust. This behavior encourages subordinates to look beyond self-interest for the good of the collective. By doing so idealized influence behavior promotes confidence, overcoming obstacles in the process of achievement. Conger and Kanungo (1998) contend that because of that reason followers place an inordinate amount of confidence and trust in charismatic leaders.

Hughes (2014) contends that idealized influence behavior instills pride in the groups for being allied with the leader and because of that they will go beyond their normal commitment for the organization and their leader. They even compromise their self-interest in the process. With this type of behavior, a transformational leader can keep the group together to achieve organizational objectives. A leader with idealized influence behavior tends to show confidence and power. Because of this reason, flowers get a sense of assurance and confidence during difficult periods.

b. Inspirational motivation

Inspirational motivation is one of the primary aspects of a transformational leader.is usually a companion of charisma and is concerned with a leader setting higher standards, thus becoming a sign of reference. Subordinates s look up to their leaders who can inspire and motive with the expectation of emotional appeal to raise awareness and consideration of shared goals that are desirable. Transformational leaders do this by communicating greater expectations, using signs to focus efforts, and modestly express key attributes. Bass and Avolio (1994) explain that leaders with this facet in their character are optimistic and have a positive approach toward the future. They can articulate a convincing vision for the future and provide a thrilling vision of the future transformation of the organizational change. The inspiration happens by providing sense and challenge to subordinates at an individual level and the team environment. These leaders encourage followers to envision striking future circumstances, for both themselves and the organization (Bass and Avolio, 1994).

c. Intellectual stimulation

According to Bass (1985) leaders with intellectual stimulation drives followers to break away from tradition and old ways of thing and evolve into a new way of thinking. Leaders with this behavior indulge strategic thinking, logical reasoning, rational decision making, intelligence, careful problem thinking, etc. The qualities comprise of seeking opposing viewpoints when it comes to solving problems, telling new ways of exploring how to accomplish tasks encouraging re-thinking of previously completed activities. Bass and Avolio (1994) further elaborate that leaders with this type of behavior inspire the subordinates to be innovative problem solving, reframing problems reanalyzing previously delt situations.

d. Individualized consideration

Bass &Avolio, (1990) discuss that this dimension of transformational leadership refers to the coaching and mentoring aspect of the transformational leader. This behavior is the most recent addition to the aspect of the transformational leader. This quality allows the transformational leader to pay individual attention to individuals and identify their differences. By doing so the leader can provide individual attention and mentor them on a personalized level. Then the leader can provide and support to his or her followers to capitalize on their strengths and work on their weaknesses (Bass and Avolio, 1994).

This theory is directly linked with this research because transformational leadership is a key component in this research. This research is based on three styles of leadership and transformational leadership is one of the key leadership styles that is used in this research and it is used to describe certain key characteristics that are used to analyses leadership in this research. However, this theory only covers one aspect of leadership, therefore, it allows the opportunity to explore a gap in theory.

2.2.2.5 Transactional/Management theory

The transactional theory of leadership was initially introduced by Max Weber in 1947. His work was further developed by Bernard Bass in 1981. Nikezic, Puric, and Puric, (2012) pointed out "that transactional leadership is a necessary, evolutionary path toward transformational leadership." Weber (1947) in his publication 'The Theory of Social and Economic Organization' talks about three styles of leadership, bureaucratic - transactional leadership, traditional leadership, and charismatic leadership. Bass, (1981) characterizes that transactional leadership as a primary stage exchange between leaders and followers where all parties get something out of that transaction. Therefore, the interaction between the leader and the follower is a rewarding system based on pre-agreed performance. It was further explained that maintaining the status quo is a key attribute in transactional leadership. Bass (1981) further elaborates that transformational leadership can be effective in the short term. However, for long-term sustainability changes are required for transactional leadership to effective to be in the long run. At the same time, transactional leadership is recognized to be effective in process-oriented organizations with short-term goals.

Transactional leaders tend to focus on providing contingent reinforcement to followers' employees based on performances. By doing so transformational leaders by appealing to their

wishes, grounded on instrumental economic dealings. It is also said that transactional leaders are bureaucratic. Bennet, (2009) explains that these leaders normally use structural bureaucracy, policies, authority, etc. to control their followers. Because of that transformational leadership is often recognized as leadership with authoritative nature. Bass (1985) has (e.g., Bass, 1985, Podsakoff, 1990) recognized that transactional leadership uses contingent rewarding to motivate their followers. These leaders clarify the role and the duty which is expected and the reward that will be offered in return for fulfilling the previously agreed commitment. Podsakoff (1990) explains that these contractual commitments as the fundamental characteristic of transactional leadership. Podsakoff (1990) further describes that the reward offered by the transaction leader can be tangible or intangible. A tangible reward can be an increase in pay or promotion and an intangible reward can be recognition, recommendation, etc. It is important to understand that in this transactional process the leader explains clearly what is exactly expected from the followers to achieve the offered. There are two key characteristics to transformational leadership and they are contingent reward and management by exception.

a. Contingent reward

The system of contingent reward establishes a trust the leader can be relied on. It creates the impression that the leader will continue to reward his or her followers consistently based on their performance. This makes a leader reliable in the eyes of the follower. Avolio, (1999) describes that "the leader assigns or secures agreements on what needs to be done and promises rewards or actually rewards others in exchange for satisfactorily carrying out the assignment." For this arrangement to work efficiently, the leader must understand the needs of the follower and link them with the task at hand. Bass &Avolio (1995) because the above reason followers can rely on the leader to honor the commitment that has been set forth by the leader. Mclaggan, Botha, and Bezuidenhout (2013) explain that contingent reward leadership behavior is applicable in task-oriented work environments where followers are engaged in routine work environments and hard labor working conditions such as construction, mining, oil rigs, etc.

b. Management by Exception

Leaders who practice management by exception intervene usually when the cause of action runs off course. Bass (1990) describes the motto of this type of leader to be "if it ain't broken don't fix it." Bass (1990) further explains that the absence of criticism is one of the key traits that can be expected from the leaders who practice thy type of leadership behavior. Management by exception behavior can be highly effective in situations where active monitoring is required or things need to be fixed before they can go wrong or in a submissive manner or when officials wait submissively and respond when faults or glitches arise. Bass &Avolio (1994) explain that there are two types of management by exception and they are active management by exception and passive management by exception. Leaders who practice active management by exception actively monitor their subordinates and immediately attend to remedy the situation when things go off course. Leaders who practice passive management by exception intervene only when employees fail to meet expected goals or the circumstances become dire.

The transactional theory directly connects with the concepts of this theory. This research is based on three styles of leadership and transactional leadership is one of the key leadership styles that is used in this research. The transactional theory describes certain key characteristics that are used to analyses leadership in this research. However, this theory only concerns one facet of leadership, therefore, it permits the opening to explore a gap in theory.

2.2.2.6 Passive avoidance Leadership

Yukl, (1981) describes passive avoidance leadership as a lack of leadership or no leadership at all. This type of leader prefers to ignore his or her duties as the leader and avoid taking responsibility. At the same time, passive avoidant leaders are ignorant of the tasks at hand and the workers under their leadership. They also avoid paying attention to the needs of their subordinates and the needs that they may have. Leaders of an organization are expected to face the problems in their organization head-on. Unfortunately, passive avoidant leaders do the opposite. They tend to ignore the problems avoid them instead of dealing with them (Kiernan, Westbrook, and Cranney, 1995). A passive avoidant leader is a poor decision-maker. In most cases instead, of taking decisions they delegate the decision-making to their subordinates and avoid the responsibility of decision making. Even on a rare occasion if they make a decision, they tend to take a longer period to decide the cause of action.

Avolio, Bass, and Jung, (1999) describe that it is an expected role of a leader to provide necessary feedback, guidance, provide the necessary motivation, and recognition to their follower. It is highly unlikely that this type of support to come from a passive avoidant leader. It is unlikely that a passive avoidant leader to react to a situation in a systematic manner. Passive avoidance leaders are identified as poor communicators. They struggle to clear communication and avoid clarifying misunderstandings. Since these leaders do not clarify what they expect from their subordinates. Because of this reason, employees of the organization will not get a clear picture of the organizational goals and objectives. This impacts the organization as a whole and individuals in the organization. Because of that organization can fail to meet its organizational outcomes (Avolio, Bass, and Jung, 1999). Passive avoidance leader is regarded as the most ineffective leadership style in the full range of leadership.

There are two characteristics in passive avoidance leadership and they are management by exception and laissez-faire leadership. (Managed by exception is described in the above section. Therefore, it is not described in this section

a. Management by Exception

Leaders who exercise this type of behavior get involved when it is absolutely necessary. According to Bass (1990) this type of leader play by the rule that "if it ain't broken don't fix it." Bass (1990) further explains that the absence of criticism is something that can be expected from this type of leader. This type of leadership behavior can work in certain situations such as situations where vigorous monitoring is essential or in situations where things have to be remedied before a disaster. Active management by exception and passive management by exception are two types of behaviors that can be associated with passive avoidant leadership (Bass &Avolio, 1994). Leaders who exercise the passive method intervene only when situations turn to turmoil and the leader has no choice but to intervene.

b. The laissez-faire leadership

The expression lassies-fare is originally a French expression that describes incompetence in matters related to monitory and social issues. Northouse, (2013) describes laissez-faire as an approach that implies a "hands-off, let things ride" in a working environment. This behavior of leadership is can only be found in the PAVL among all the leadership styles this research is based on. According to Bass and Avolio (1990) Leaders with laissez-faire leadership behavior tend to shy away from being a leader. This leadership behavior could be simply explained as "non-leadership" and this is the exact opposite of the behavior described in the behaviors of a transformational leader. A key trait of laissez-faire behavior is that these leaders hesitate to

accept the responsibilities that come with a leadership position. It is common among leaders with this trait not to offer enough information, feedback, acknowledgment, etc. According to Skogstad et al (2007) laissez-faire, leadership has a negative and destructive effect on an organization. The previously agreed opinion is that laissez-faire behavior is no leadership at all and it will not have a positive impact on the organization and organizational performance. Skogstad et al (2007) describe that due to the lack of governance and involvement in the matters of the organization laissez-faire leadership can have "systematic relationships with workplace stressors, bullying at work, and psychological distress." At the same time conflict among coworkers can be identified with this type of leadership behavior due to the reason that these types of leaders often fail to define roles within the organization.

Passive avoidance leadership is directly relevant for this research because this style of leadership is used to describe one of three leadership aspects that are used in this research. Therefore, passive avoidance leadership is directly relevant to this research. However, passive avoidance only covers one area of leadership. That allows the room to discover a gap in theory.

2.2.2.7 Social Exchange Theory

Social exchange theory (SET) is a social-psychological theory that dates back to the 1960s. This theory is based on utilitarianism on the one hand and behaviorism on the other hand. Emerson (1976) explains that this theory can be used to provide a theoretical explanation for organizational citizenship behavior. Emerson (1976) further explains that SET is more as a framework than theory. This theory is considered as one of the highly influential conceptual archetypes for understanding workplace behavior. The foundation of SET rests on several core assumptions regarding human nature and the nature of relationships. There are a few core assumptions in SET. One of the main assumptions is that people tend to move toward rewards and evade punishments. One more assumption is that the purpose of interaction with one another is to maximize profit and minimize cost, in other words, "what's in it for me?" The final assumption is that people prefer to analyze the profit and cost before engaging. Finally, the SET assumes that individuals know that these circumstances can vary from person to person and even with the same person during a period. One of the basic doctrines of the theory is that relationships can grow into that is trusting, trustworthy, and communal assurances over time.

a. Social Exchange Theory and Leadership

According to Hollandder and Julian (1969), SET applies to studies on leadership. They explain that the leader provides more benefits or regards to the follower than burdens or costs to them followers in the mission of achieving the goals of the organization. To achieve the goals of the organization the leader has to provide a positive exchange to the followers. This theory explains that a leader is expected to provide benefits/rewards that exceed burdens/costs for followers. Elstad, Christophersen, and Turmo, (2011) that SET explains how individuals behave in an organization and they further explain that leadership has a clear influence on how individuals behave within that organization. This organizational behavior occurs because of the social exchange that happens between the leader and followers of the organization.

b. Social Exchange Theory and Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership theory can be best explained with social exchange theory. Initially, SET described that social behavior or human interaction has an economic transaction in nature. However, later it was explained that the exchange goes beyond a simple transaction of materialistic goods. Under transformational leadership, it is considered a mutually beneficial transaction between the leader and the follower. Werbel and Henriques (2009) explain that by comparing transformational leadership and social exchange theory, the dynamic between leaders and followers can be identified. That relationship goes beyond the economic transaction. Nohe and Hertel, (2017) explain that SET can be considered as the leading framework that can be used to explain the leader-follower relationship. This is based on the understanding that transformational leaders have a positive influence on job satisfaction, commitment to the organization, and attitudes towards the organization as a whole. Nohe and Hertel, (2017) further explain that can later evolve into a sophisticated relationship. They further explain that under transformational leadership the exchange can be turned into a high-quality relationship characterized by, for example, trust and leader-member exchange.

c. Social Exchange Theory and Transactional Leadership

Young et al (2021) explain that the TSL is one of the most common styles of leadership. Countless studies have been performed on transactional leadership, not enough research has been performed to understand the mechanisms that explain why transactional leadership predicts follower performance. Young et al (2021) further illustrates that TSL is hypothesized to influence the performance of the follower and follower performance successively through the leader-member exchange (LMX) and psychological enablement. Researches further argue that certain behaviors of the transformational leader such as contingent reward can benefit performance through positive encouragement of the leader-follower social exchange. At the same time, some leadership behaviors such as contingent reward may simultaneously display an undesirable impact on performance because of reduced empowerment. Young et al (2021) point out that TSL is a "double-edged sword" when it comes to predicting its influence on followers because it displays both positive and negative indirect influences on the performance of the follower. At the same time, Young et al (2021) contend that management by exception fosters empowerment but hinders it.

The social exchange theory is directly connected with the present research. This theory is used to explain a leader's behavior, the relationship between the leader and the follower, and how leaders influence followers to induce business performance in SMEs. Therefore, this theory can be considered one of the key theories this research is based upon. At the same time, this theory allows the researcher to explore the theoretical gap.

2.2.2.8 Leader-Member Exchange Theory

The origin of leader-member exchange dates back to the 1970s. Vertical dyad linkage (VDL) theory is considered. Liden, Sparrowe, and Wayne (1997) explain that LMX is used to explain the dynamic between the leader and the follower in an organization. Even thorough is a decades old theory, it still provides "operable alternative to the traditional leadership approaches focused on leader traits and behavior." Dansereau, et al. (1975). According to Gerstner, and Day, (1997) the outcome of the organization, group, or any other gathering is subjected to the quality of the relationship between the leader and the follower. Van Breukelen, Schyns, and Le Blanc (2006) also agree that the quality of the exchange relationship between a leader and a particular member or members of the organization impacts the performance of the organization.

Graen and Scandura, (1987) explain that relationships between leaders and followers go through three stages and are Role-Taking, Role-Making, and Routinization. Role-taking happens when followers join the team for the first time. Leaders usually use this stage to evaluate the capabilities of their followers. Role-Making happens when new followers initiate their work as team members. During the second stage leaders expect the new followers to work hard, show loyalty and show their trustworthiness. In the final stage, leaders allocate new followers into one of two groups. Followers who are loyal, trustworthy, and skilled, they're put into one group and others into another group. In the final stage, routines between the leader and the follower will be established.

Dulebohn et al (2012) describe three types of antecedents related to LMX and they are leader characteristics, follower characteristics, and interpersonal relationships. According to Dulebohn et al (2012) followers, the characteristics include "competence, agreeableness, conscientiousness, extraversion, neuroticism, and openness, positive affectivity, negative affectivity, and locus of control." Leader characteristics include the "supervisor's expectation of followers, contingent reward behavior, transformational leadership, extraversion, and agreeableness." In this dynamic situation, the leader takes the lead, it is important to understand that follower has a role to play. This study also further explained that there are certain characteristics of the follower that can lead to either positive or negative output of the relationship. However, the leader should have the ability to drive the situation to his or her liking because the leader has the upper hand in the relationship.

The LMX is important for the present research because this theory help to understand the interactive relationship between leaders and follower. This explanation is important to the present research because this explains how leaders influence the follower to create business performance in the organization. Therefore, this theory is of key importance to this research and at the same time, this theory allows the researcher to explore the gap in leadership theory.

2.3 SME, SME Performance Measures, and KPIs

Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) play a vital role in the global economy. OECD reports that 90% of global firms are SMEs and contribute to sixty-three percent of global employment. Several characteristics distinguish an SME from a large business. Academics, authors, policy makers' etc. use a variety of definitions to identify SMEs. These criteria can vary, based on industry classifications (Berisha Pula, 2015). When defining SMEs factors such as the number of employees, sales volume, net assets value, total investment, etc. are considered. European Commission defines SMEs based on staff headcount and turnover or balance sheet total. Businesses with less than fifty employees, no more than ten million euros turnover, or no more than ten million euros balance sheet total are considered as small

businesses. Businesses with less than two hundred and fifty employees, no more than fifty million euros turnover, or no more than forty-three million euros balance sheet total are considered medium-sized businesses (European Commission, 2021). OCED defines SMEs as "non-subsidiary, independent firms which employ less than a given number of employees. The most frequent upper limit designating an SME is 250 employees."

In Australia, businesses with fewer than two hundred employees are recognized as SMEs. In the United States businesses with less than five hundred employees and gross annual sales below volume less than a hundred million USD are considered SMEs. In Canada businesses with less than a hundred employees are recognized as small-sized businesses and businesses with hundred to five hundred employees are considered medium-sized enterprises. In Sri Lanka, one of the key policy frameworks on SME, the National Policy Framework for SME Development (2017), defines SME as enterprises with 50 to 200 employees and enterprises with an annual turnover between 16 million rupees to 750 million rupees and annual turnover between 16 million rupees are considered as SMEs.

Kaplan and Norton, (2005) stress the importance of measuring performance. Performance measurements are important to SMEs as much as for other businesses. It has been identified that it is difficult to manage something that is not measured. Certain performance measures are financial such as Sales Volume, Revenue, Operational Expenditure, cost of sales, Total expenditure, Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), net cash flow, Gross profit margin, etc. Other performance measures are described as non-financial measures. One of the most effective ways to measure business performance in SMEs is by analyzing key performance indicators KPIs. Lindberg et al (2015) point out that KPIs are "fundamental in measuring the performance and its progress. Peng, (2008) points out that KPIs are vital to the future and present success of an SME. Further, KPIs, indicate how industrial percusses of the business actively operate toward the business success. At the same time, KPIs can provide information about the performance in different areas such as energy, raw-material, control & operation, maintenance, planning & scheduling, product quality, inventory, safety, etc." Peng, (2008) further explains that KPIs are used in a variety of levels in the organization. At the top-level KPIs look at overall operations and at lower levels KPIs look at processes.

Ahmad et al (2017) point out that KPIs play a pivotal role in achieving objectives and measuring performance. By measuring performance, SME leaders and managers can maintain

efficacy, efficacy, productivity, and organizational stamina. At the same time, KPIs act as guiding posts to deliver everyday results. KPIs create an impeccable and singular roadmap to achieve business performance. KPIs assist decision-makers to make decisions that are accurate and in line with organizational objectives. At the same time, KPIs help a business to stay on the right track by providing mile markets (Ahmad et al, 2017). The management team of an SME can often be subjected to change, KPIs can keep goals and performance in check even in the change of management.

SMEs often look at the SMART KPIs concept. Al-Ghunaim et al, (2017) point out that SMART stands for Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and Time-bound. The letter S stands for specific. An effective KPI should be specific about what needs to be measured. The letter M stands for measurable. It has to be able to be measured in a numerical or another way. The letter A stands for achievable. The KPI has been practical enough to be achievable. The letter R stand for relevant. The KPI has to be relevant to the business and the goals of the business. The letter T stands for time-bound. There should be a specific time frame for achieving the goal. KPIs that can full fill the above criteria can be considered effective. AlGhunaim et al, (2017) further explain that SMART KPIs play a pivotal role in decision making, improving performance, and implementing business strategy. At the same time, it allows businesses to allow benchmarking by proving the opportunity to compare past performance to present and to future expected performance.

Zhou et al (2020) explain that KPIs can be further defined as leading KPIs and lagging KPIs. Lagging KPIs measure the past performance of a business and predict future performance based on the patterns and trends of the previous performance. Lagging KPIs can indicate indicators such as growth in annual sales, annual sales, annual net income, and growth in the annual net income, gross profit margin, and earnings before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization, etc. Leading KPIs on the other hand are utilized as the indicators that occur within the business (Zhou et al, 2020). They can indicate a negative or positive initial result. Leading KPIs can include percentage in growth, e percentage of growth in new markets, number of website viewers, number of new customers, etc.

Lindberg et al (2015) point out that, another way of identifying KPIs is based on the area of operations. Those areas are sales, HR, finance, and projects. Some of the key sales KPIs can include sales growth and profit, sales pipeline, rate of follow-up contact, market share, customer lifetime value, etc. Key HR KPIs can include retention of talent, average tenure,

absenteeism rate, employee productivity rate, etc. Key financial KPIs can include accounts receivables, accounts payable turnover, inventory turnover, working capital, net profit margin, revenue, and revenue growth rate, revenue per employee, order fulfillment cycle time, cash flow forecast, etc. (Lindberg et al, 2015). Key project management KPIs can include planned value, earned value, task cycle time, employee time spent, budget variance, budget line items, customer satisfaction, etc.

2.4 Leadership Styles and Business Performance

The topic of leadership has been of enthusiasm for a huge number of years for researchers and numerous researchers have attempted to make meaning of leadership. The initiative is a social marvel that is found all over the place. For person fantasies and legends consistently got appealing about what separate extraordinary leaders from adherents (Hartog and Koopman, 2011). Leadership is a relational procedure through which one individual can impact the activities of people or gatherings (i.e., the supporters) towards the achievement of given distinct countries inside a specific circumstance by methods for communication (Covey, 2007; Mullins, 1999). The idea of the initiative has produced enthusiastic intrigue, banter and periodic disarray as the executives suspected has advanced. Indeed, even today, it is difficult to characterize initiative, and given the intricacy of the subject, there is no broad agreement about the delimitation of the field of the country.

As indicated by Bass (1999), the meaning of leadership is identified with the reason related to the endeavor to characterize it, thus presenting a wide scope of potential outcomes. Leadership can be viewed as a gathering procedure, a property of character, the craft of inciting obligingness, an activity of impact, a specific sort of activity or conduct, a type of influence, a forced relationship, an instrument to accomplish objectives, the consequence of cooperation, a separated job or commencement of a structure (Bass, 2000).

Ruslan, Rosli, and Hussin (2013) explain that leadership is a decisive factor in business performance in SMEs. They further elaborate that leadership styles affect business performance but, the level of impact on business performance can be varied. Ruslan, Rosli, and Hussin (2013) explain that it is the traditionally accepted opinion that leadership is an important factor of success in business performance in any organization. To lead organizations leaders to utilize different tactics and strategies to be effective. A combination of these tactics and strategies can be described as leadership styles. Different leaders use styles of their own to lead the organization that they are in charge of and these styles of leadership contribute to the performance of the organization that they lead. Ruslan, Rosli, and Hussin (2013) further illustrate that the leach leadership style can have a different manner of impact on organizational performance.

Nave (2006) contends that the style of leadership used by the leader of the organization can result in the success and the demise of the organization. He further elaborates that each leadership style can have different characteristics that are different from one another. Therefore, the effect of each leadership style on people, organizational culture, motivation, etc. is different. Because of that, the impact of the leadership style on business performance is different. Nave (2006) further explains that some styles of leadership can have a positive impact on the business performance of the organization while some leadership styles may have a negative one. According to Van Wart (2006) leadership is the guiding hand that drives organizational operations in any kind of organization. It is the role of the leader to direct the people in the right direction of the organization in a way that the organizational objectives. By doing so leaders influence the performance of the organization.

Leaders are problem solvers in an organization. Plowman et al (2007) describe that leader's ability to solve problems affects the business performance and overall performance of any organization. Plowman et al (2007) further illustrate that leaders deploy tactics to solve problems based on the styles of leadership they practice. Therefore, the effectiveness of the leader in solving problems can be vary based on the styles of leadership leaders practice, and the effectiveness of the leader in swaying business performance and organizational performance is subjected to the style of leadership they practice. Leaders are expected to guide the organization through tough and challenging situations. To do that leader has to unite to people in the organization to work tother to achieve organizational objectives or objectives. Stahl (2007) contends that ability depends on the leader's ability to influence and motivate employees and the ability to define clear objectives for them. Therefore, leaders' leadership styles influence business performance in different ways.

Mgeni (2015) has identified that when the styles of the leader are directed towards entrepreneurial orientation, a positive impact on business performance can be identified. Based on the study he conducted on SME Tanzania Mgeni (2015) has identified that entrepreneurial orientation is a substantial predictor of business performance. Therefore, thus its role should not be dented. He also contends that entrepreneurial leader has high ambitions, are highly motivated, and lead the organization with passion. At the same time, Mgeni (2015) points out that a lack of entrepreneurial skills in a leader can contribute to poor performance in the organization. A leader's ability to communicate is a decisive factor determining the business performance in any organization. According to Stahl (2007), an effective leader has to be an excellent communicator. He or she should be able to communicate a vision, mission, objectives, and goals of the business to the employees and should be able to communicate effectively with outside stakeholders. This ability of the leader affects not just the business performance but, it affects every other aspect of the business. Not all leadership styles used the same way of communication. Therefore, the effectiveness of leadership communication can vary from one leadership style to another and because of the impact on the business performance of the organization. Bass (1985) identified three styles of leadership. They are transactional leadership, transformational leadership, and passive-avoidant leadership. These styles of leadership have different characteristics and impact business performance in an SME in different ways. These leadership styles are relevant to the SME environment because they influence individual and organizational performance.

2.4.1 Transformational Leadership Style and Business Performance

Bass (1999) opinionated that leaders with the transformational style of leaders lead with motivation, morale upliftment, inspiring, and catering to the immediate self-interest of the follower. Transformational leaders have shown the ability to excel at problem-solving and decision-making, especially in challenging situations (Feinberg, Ostroff, and Burke, 2005). These leaders also have shown the ability to promote corporation among team members. These characteristics lead to business performance and the overall performance of the organization. For a business to achieve its objectives, promotion of personal growth, and development, offering emotional support and direction, and developing their abilities and capabilities to the employee is important. Transformational leaders promote such behaviors which lead to better performance. Gillispie and Mann (2004) discuss that transformational leaders possess the ability to interconnect, care, appreciate and grow supporters helps promote the trusting relationship between the followers of the group. Prior research studies have illustrated that a strong correlation between transformational leadership with a wide range of performance of business performance.

2.4.2 Transactional Leadership and Business Performance

Udayanga, (2020) explains that transactional leadership maintains an affiliation between leaders and subordinates. The leader establishes a clear goal and what is expected from the follower and then clarify that what are the rewards for accomplishing these goals and what are the consequences if they fail to achieve what they are expected of. These rewards can be a promotion, pay raise, performance reviews, new responsibilities, etc. Udayanga, (2020) further explains that transactional leadership does not significantly influence the productivity of the organization. However, Al Khajeh, (2018) argues that the TSL has a constructive influence on the organizational performance because transactional leadership defines what is expected of the worker and clarity of what is the expectation and rewards that employees be getting in return for their accomplishment. Longe (2014) further illustrates due to the ability of the transactional leader to create sustaining context within the organization and the ability to maximize the human potential lead to innovation and efficacy which lead to the growth of business performance. Being said that, Sofi and Devanadhen (2015), explain that it is difficult to find a direct relationship between transactional leadership and business performance of the organization because transactional leadership does not promote creativity and innovation. among the employees and hence, the employees do not perform as per the expectations of the organization.

2.4.3 Passive-avoidance Leadership Style and Business Performance

Avolio & Bass, (2004) explain that this type of leadership provides a minimum or no leadership at all to the followers. It is considered as lack of leadership or leaders inability to provide necessary leadership or do nothing leadership at all. According to Gartner & Stough (2002), passive-avoidance leadership is ineffective in challenging situations where tough decisions need to be made because this type of leader tends to avoid making sharp and quick decisions and delegate decision-making to others. That can lead to poor business performance. Gartner & Stough (2002) further describe that passive-avoidant leaders' inability to provide the necessary supervision and support can affect the performance of the organization negatively. It is also being said that due to inaction passive avoidance leaders lose control and influence over the organization, making it ineffective in swaying the business performance of an organization.

2.4.4 Leadership Style and Business Performance in SME

Literature indicates that leadership is considered one of the key influential factors in business performance in any business. Several studies have identified leadership sway business performance in SMEs (Fokam, 2016). Leaders have a certain set of behaviors that can be described as styles of leadership. The research looks at how transformational, transaction and passive-avoidance leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs. It has been identified that a significant number of studies have been conducted on leadership and business performance. However number of researches have been conducted with reference SMEs are considered limited (Madanchian and Taherdoost, 2017). le Max Weber introduced transformational leader in 1947 and James MacGregor Burns in 1978. In the full rage model introduced by Avolio, and Bass, (1991) all three leadership styles were combined as a model. Studies have identified that these leadership styles have an influence on business performance in SMEs but, they often disagree on what style of business is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs. The common observation is that research studies conducted on different contexts such as various geographical locations, various cultures, etc. tend to produce dissimilar results (Aziz et al, 2013). Some researchers have indicated that the TFL tends to produce the best results while other researchers point out TSL is ideal for greater business performance in SMEs. At the same time, some researchers recommend passive avoidance for SMEs for greater business performance.

Aziz et al, (2013) describe that based on their research conducted on SMEs in Malaysia, leadership styles impact business performance in SMEs. They have identified that each leadership style impacts business performance differently. These researchers have identified a positive relationship between transformational leadership style and TSL. They also identified that passive-avoidance leadership styles hurt business performance in SMEs. Among these two leadership styles, the TFL appears to produce greater business performance. Therefore, Aziz et al, (2013) point out TFL to have a greater business performance in SMEs. Ebrahim Hasan Al Khajeh (2018) conducted his research based on six leadership styles – -"transformational, transactional, autocratic, charismatic, bureaucratic and democratic." This research identified that TFLs, autocratic leadership style, and democratic leadership style have a positive effect on the performance of SMEs. On the other hand, TSL, charismatic leadership style, and bureaucratic leadership style were identified to have a negative influence on business. Therefore, this research points out that some leadership styles can have a positive impact while others can have a negative impact. Ebrahim Hasan Al Khajeh (2018) further explain that SMEs should focus on transformational and democratic leadership styles to improve their performance. In addition to that Ebrahim Hasan Al Khajeh (2018) points out the importance of involving employees in the decision-making process.

Franco and Matos (2015) in their study conducted on SMEs in the Portuguese context, identified that leadership is an essential component for the business performance in SMEs.

SME leaders practice not just one but, different styles of leadership in their organization and each leadership style produces different results. Franco and Matos (2015) opinionated that t both TFL and TSL indicate a positive impact on business performance in SMEs. Results indicated that the passive-avoidance leadership style does not show any positive or negative influence on business performance. Franco and Matos (2015) further explain SMEs that practice TSL produces greater performance compared to other styles of leadership. On top of that the points out that TFL can be effective in one on one level. At some time, it was identified that environmental factors such as dynamism, hostility, or geographical region can impact the effectiveness of the leadership styles.

Washington (2017) conducted his research based on financial performance and non-financial performance. His research revealed that some leadership styles support the financial aspect of the business performance and some leadership styles support the non-financial aspect of the business performance. Washington (2017) concludes that the TSL is better suited for the financial performance in SMEs, while transformational has a greater impact on non-financial performance in SMEs. Paudel (2020) studied how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs in the Nepali context. Paudel (2020) used TFL and TSL as predicting leadership styles and entrepreneurial orientation as mediating variables. The research has identified that TFL has a greater impact on business performance directly and through entrepreneurial orientation.

Albloshi and Nawar, (2015) conducted their study on SMEs and business performance in Saudi Arabian context. In most countries, SMEs contribute heavily to economic growth. However, in Saudi Arabia SMEs' contribution to economic growth is considered low. They based their research on three styles of leadership and they are transactional, transitional, and passive avoidance leadership styles. Researchers contended that the TSL appeared to be the most suited style of leadership. Results of their research pointed out that under transactional leadership employees tend to put extra effort into their work willingly and the job satisfaction is indicated to be higher than other leadership styles. At the same Albloshi and Nawar, (2015) point out that transformational also indicated to have a positive correlation with business performance. However, Albloshi and Nawar, (2015) finalized that the effectiveness and motivation of employees are at the best under transactional leadership.

Mwakajila and Nyello (2021) explain that leadership is a crucial factor that influences business performance and financial performance in SMEs based on their study in the Tanzanian context. This research was conducted based on the relationship between four leadership styles and they are TSL, TFL, a combination of transactional and transformational leadership styles and, passive-avoidant leadership style. According to Mwakajila and Nyello, (2021) TFL and, combined transformational and transactional leadership styles have a positive and significant influence on business performance. At the same time, the TSL demonstrates a significantly negative influence on SMEs' business performance. They also point out that passive- avoidant leadership style was found to have an insignificant impact.

Yıldız, Baştürk, and Boz (2014) suggest that leadership and innovation are influential factors affecting business performance in SMEs. They used innovation, TFLs, and TSL as predictors of business performance. According to Yıldız, Baştürk, and Boz (2014) innovativeness produce a positive impact on business performance and that influence is consistent. However, the impact of leadership styles is subjected to industry, sector, location, size, and other variables. Among the two leadership styles, transformational leadership is indicated to have a greater impact on business performance.

According to the study conducted in the Taiwanese context, Yang, (2006) describes that leadership and entrepreneurial orientation affect business performance in SMEs. The researcher points out that not all leadership styles correlated with entrepreneurial orientation and business performance equally. Yang, (2006) points out that TFL is the better predictor of leadership orientation in SMEs. At the same time, TFL have a greater influence on business performance than both transactional and PAVLs. At the same time, passive-avoidance leadership is indicated to have a better influence on business performance than the TSL.

Doctoral research conducted by Ossai, (2021) in the Nigerian context questions whether leadership is an important component in business performance. The researcher conducted this study based on transformational, transactional, and passive-avoidance leadership styles. The researcher has identified that innovation as an influential factor in business performance. The study was conducted based on the full range leadership model and organizational learning theory. Ossai, (2021) further explains that TFL is an excellent predictor of business performance and both transactional and transformational and passive-avoidance leadership styles do not have a recognizable impact on business performance.

Based on this evidence it can be understood that there is no universally accepted opinion on the effect of leadership styles on business performance. Therefore, further research is can shed light on the subject matter.

2.5 Mediating Role of the Organization Culture

Organizational culture depends on the idea of expanding on three levels: Level Basic Assumption, Value, and Artifact to be specific something that is abandoned. A degree of essential suspicion is a human relationship with what is on the earth, for example, nature, plants, creatures, and different people. The fundamental suspicion could mean a way of thinking, a conviction that can't be seen by the eye yet exists. Second, Value has a profound connection to acts or conduct. As a result of it, the worth can be estimated with any progressions or through social accord. While the ancient rarity is something that can be seen yet it is hard to recreate. It very well may be as innovation, workmanship, or anything that can be heard. Organizational culture is a type of convictions, qualities, and ways that can be figured out how to adapt and live in an association. Authoritative Organizational culture is probably going to be acknowledged by the organization employees. Kennedy and Quigley, (1994) expressed that a solid culture would drive the organization's performance and serve to defeat the authoritative individuals' issues to adjust to their outer condition by reinforcing the comprehension of the organization employees, the capacity to understand the strategy, standard, and assessment.

Ogbonna and Harris, (2000) have demonstrated the firm relationship between organizational culture and leadership in organizations. Be that as it may, there is an extensive discussion comparative with how a culture starts and whether leaders have any effect on molding organizational culture. Smircich, (1983) recommended that the way of life is simply the association, and seen as something which can be controlled. Therefore, it is normal for leaders that oversee and control the way of life in any event somewhat. Denison, (1990) and Hofstede et al., (1990) proposed that the activity of the organizational leaders can make and without a doubt affect the shape of the authoritative culture and vision. Bryman, (1992) explains that

the job of leaders to actualize an altar of course directed by a dream has an unmistakable potential to keep up e shaped by the way of life (Schein, 1997).

Transactional leaders will in general work inside the limits and cutoff points of the current culture, while transformational leaders much of the time progress in the direction of changing the way of life by their vision (Bass, 1985). The connection between the two ideas speaks to a progressing transaction wherein the leader shapes the way of life and is thus molded by the subsequent culture (Bass and Avolio, 1993). The endurance of an association relied on the change and responsiveness of culture as impacted by successful leadership (Bass, 1998; Kotter, 1998; Schein, 1997).

2.6 Moderating Role of Personality Traits

The findings of Cabral and Mata (2003) show that for medium measured firms it is financial imperatives that produce skewness in the firm size dissimilar country, by constraining the development pace of firms that need capital. Research on banking deregulation shows that increasingly serious financial markets can carry specific advantages to small-scale firms (Cetorelli and Strahan, 2006). The absence of access to acknowledge has been distinguished as one of the significant imperatives blocking the development of private companies and along these lines, the gracefully of innovative activities in Tanzania, however in other creating countries (Kuzilwa and Mushi, 1997).

Although the role of credit as a determinant of fruitful leading action may look evident when utilizing a fractional examine country, the elements in the enterprising procedures make this job subtler. The examine country of an innovative movement shows that money doesn't in itself make financial chances. Or maybe it is innovative individuals who see manners by which they can produce pay from circumstances, abilities or contact, or other push factors (Christen, 1997). Kristiansen (2001) summarizes it well by contending that credit makes dynamic business/opportunity open to the privileged enthusiastic person(s). The absence of credit could keep innovative activities from being attempted, and subsequently lead to business disappointment. An exploration of small-scale and medium estimated firms in Nairobi has uncovered that underlying capital more than some other firm-level variable clarified the size of the article of clothing business (McCormick and Pederson, 1996). This implies an absence of credit to get the required physical capital is probably going to restrict business development.

As Rogerson (2011) contends, entrepreneurs with a bigger supply of human capital, as far as instruction and additionally professional preparing are relied upon to be better ready to adjust to big business' continually evolving condition. While in the past preparing and aptitudes building were assumed as the liability of the express, the present changes in many creating countries are progressively commercializing this leadership. Harper and Finnegan (1998) effectively watch, the writing on layaway sway evaluation is tormented by methodological issues. Adams (1988) has been condemning the endeavors to quantify the impacts of credit on big business execution by looking, for instance, at the progressions in physical yield. He thinks that it's convoluted and hard to disengage the level of progress that can be ascribed to the accessibility of credit. There is a threat of exaggerating the impacts of credit. Also, credit is typically offered related to another mediation, all the more regularly business preparing. Other effect evaluation concentrates using credit card programs have gone past taking a gander at the company's presentation, to take a gander at the general improvement in the personal satisfaction of the beneficiaries, contrasted with non-beneficiaries.

According to Harper and Finnegan, (1998), a study by Chowdhury and Abed surveyed the customers taking part in the Bangladesh Rural Development Committee and indicated that the personal satisfaction of the customers in the wording of nutrition and ownership of family unit resources had expanded. One of the as of late embraced approaches outfitted towards catching the elements of small-scale undertaking improvement is through seeking after longitudinal examine countries that screen the states of individual small-scale projects over some stretch of time and periods of their development cycle from the fire up through development or endurance to graduation (Mead and Liedholm, 1998). While this methodology sounds powerful, it necessitates that it is in-incorporated with the checking arrangement of the miniaturized scale fund program. A standard circumstance should be set up toward the start of the intercession Studies on the impact of obligation on returns have produced blended outcomes running from those supporting a positive relationship theory to those restricting it as indicated by Obert and Olawele (2010).

Empirical studies concluded by Ruland and Zhou (2005), coincide with that the additions from influence are noteworthy, and that the utilization of obligation expands the market estimation of a firm. They have reasoned that financial leverage has a positive effect on the firm's return on equity provided that the earning powers of the company's advantages (the proportion of

profit before interest and expenses to add up to resources) surpass the normal intrigue cost of obligation to the firm. Abor (2005) led an examining country on the impact of obligation on firms in Ghana which demonstrated an altogether positive association between all-out obligation and absolute resources and profit for value. The outcomes hence depicted a positive influence. As indicated by Berkivitch and Israel (1996), a company's obligation level and its worth are emphatically related particularly when investors have total power over the matter of the firm and it is contrarily related when debt.

2.6.1 Five-Factor Model of Personality

The Big five personality model is occasionally signified by the acronym of OCEAN; openness, consciousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism (Barrick and Mount, 1991). Mark and John (2000) explored the relationship of openness to experience and job performance, and reveals that this specific trait predicts unique variance in job performance for personnel; they further propose that leaders who are more open to experience can cope and resolve the conflicts positively and thereby enhances job performance. Leutner et al., (2014) explain that conscientiousness is the trait of dutifulness, competence, achievement orientation, and self-discipline. This trait is found to be the most descriptive of employee job performance (Hurtz and Donovan, 2000). Extraversion is possibly the most important trait of leadership and is the extent to which individuals are emphatic, invigorated, and eager (Solaja, Idowu, and James, 2016). Extroverted leader tends to be more efficacious because they are more likely to be conversational, sociable, and network-oriented (Colquitt, Le-Pine, and Wesson, 2009).

Five-Factor Model of Personality Consensus is developing that a five-factor model of a character (regularly named the Big Five) can be utilized to portray the most striking parts of the character (Goldberg, 1990). The principal scientists to duplicate the five-factor structure were Tupes and Christal (1992), commonly credited with establishing the five-factor model. The five-factor structure has been recovered through examinations of character inventories, and choices concerning the dimensionality of existing estimates made by master judges (McCrae and John, 1992). The multifaceted generalizability of the five-factor structure has been built up through research in numerous nations (McCrae and Costa, 1997). Proof demonstrates that the Big Five are heritable and stable after some time (Digman, 1989). The measurements involving the five-factor model are Neuroticism, Extraversion, Openness to

Experience, Agreeableness, and Conscientiousness. Neuroticism speaks to the inclination to show poor enthusiastic alteration and experience negative effects, for example, tension, weakness, and antagonistic vibe. Extraversion speaks to the propensity to be friendly, emphatic, dynamic, and to encounter positive effects, for example, vitality and enthusiasm. Receptiveness to Experience is the attitude to be inventive, nonconforming, unusual, and selfsufficient. Suitability is the propensity to be trusting, agreeable, mindful, and delicate. Good faith is contained two related features: accomplishment and trustworthiness. DeNeve and Cooper, (1998) the Big Five characteristics have been seen as applicable to numerous parts of life, for example, abstract prosperity and even life span (Friedman et al., 1995). One of the most famous utilization of the five-factor model has been to the territory of occupation execution, where eight meta-investigations have been led (Barrick and Mount, 1991). **a.**

Ruler et al (1986) meta-investigation uncovered a remedied connection of .24 between proportions of change and initiative observations based on a moderately modest number of studies cumulated in their examination. This measure, in any case, couldn't be recognized from zero. Bass (1990), in his survey, demonstrated that practically all examinations on the relationship of self-assurance—showing low Neuroticism—to the initiative "was uniform the positive way of their discoveries. Luciano et, al (2018) recommended that confidence another marker of low Neuroticism (Eysenck, 1990) is prescient of administration: 'Apparently there is persuading proof for the consideration of confidence as a significant quality of both unrivaled and subordinate in examining initiative viability' (Hill and Ritchie, 1977). Proof additionally demonstrates that psychotic people are more averse to being seen as leaders (Hogan et al., 1994). Considering this proof and these contentions, we would expect that Neuroticism is contrarily identified with leader development and administration adequacy.

b. Extraversion

In Bass' (1990) survey, results connecting Extraversion to the initiative were conflicting. In early examinations, Extraversion was emphatically identified with administration in five investigations and adversely related in three, and there was no connection in four. Different audits, be that as it may, recommend that extraverts ought to be bound to rise as leaders in gatherings. According to Costa and McCrae, (1988) extraversion is emphatically identified with social authority and, as indicated by Watson and Clark (1997), to leader rise in

gatherings. Hogan et al. (1994) noticed that Extraversion is identified with being seen as leaderlike. Extraverts will in general be vivacious, exuberant individuals. Kirkpatrick and Locke (1991) remarked, 'Leaders are more probable than non-leaders to have a significant level of vitality and endurance and to be commonly dynamic, vivacious, and regularly eager'.

Descriptive words used to portray people who rose as leaders in leaderless gathering conversations included dynamic, decisive, fiery, and not quiet or pulled back (Gough, 1988). These are the attributes of extraverts. Undoubtedly, Gough (1990) found that both of the significant aspects of Extraversion—predominance, and friendliness—were identified with self and companion appraisals of administration. Thinking about this proof, Extraversion ought to be decidedly identified with both leadership development and authority viability, albeit to some degree all the more unequivocally to leader rise

c. Openness

At the point when Bass (1990) recorded the qualities that were the best corresponds of administration, creativity, and away from of Openness beat the rundown. Receptiveness corresponds with dissimilar reasoning (McCrae, 1987) and is unequivocally identified with both character-based and social proportions of inventiveness (McCrae and Costa, 1997). Inventiveness gives off an impression of being the significant expertise of viable leaders. Innovativeness was one of the abilities contained in Yukl's (1998) synopsis of the aptitudes of leaders, which depended on Stogdill's (1974) prior survey. Research demonstrates that imagination is connected to powerful initiative (Sosik, Kahai, and Avolio, 1998), proposing that open people are bound to develop as leaders and behavior.

d. Agreeableness

Thoughtfully, the connection between Agreeableness and administration is uncertain. From one perspective, helpfulness will in general be identified with administration (Bass, 1990), and Zaccaro et al. (1991) found that relational affectability was identified with administration. That unselfishness, respect, and affectability are signs of a pleasing character would recommend that leaders ought to be progressively pleasing. Then again, pleasing people are probably going to be humble (Goldberg, 1990), and leaders tend not to be unreasonably unobtrusive (Bass, 1990). Besides, even though it regularly is viewed as a component of Extraversion (Watson and Clark, 1997), numerous researchers believe alliance to be a marker of Agreeableness (Piedmont, McCrae& Costa, 1991). Requirement for the association has all

53

the earmarks of being adversely identified with initiative (Yukl, 1998). These variables recommend that Agreeableness would be adversely identified with administration. Considering these clashing defenses, the conceivable connection between Agreeableness and initiative is uncertain.

e. Conscientiousness

Bass (1990) remarked that the "Task competence results in attempts to lead that are more likely to result in success for the leader, effectiveness for the group, and reinforcement of the tendencies". Barrick and Mount, (1991) explain that Conscientiousness is identified with by and large employment execution, and this proposes Conscientiousness will be identified with leader adequacy. Besides, activity and tirelessness are identified with administration. As Kirkpatrick and Locke (1991) noted, 'leaders must be vigorously tireless in their exercises and finish their projects' (p. 51). Since faithful people have greater determination and tirelessness (Goldberg, 1990), we expect that reliable people will be progressively viable leaders. **f.**

Overall Relationships

Like meta-examinations including work execution in which different parts of execution are consolidated into a general measure, we explored the relationship of the Big Five qualities to initiative pooling over the administration standards (Barrick and Mount, 1991). As noted before, adroitly, initiative viability and rise are particular builds. In any case, operationally, both are commonly estimated through evaluations or perceptions of others, which implies that the two models speak to people's view of authority. Since there is valid justification to accept that Neuroticism, Extraversion, and Openness will be identified with numerous authority measures, which accept that these qualities will show critical (nonzero) associations with initiative in the joined analyses.

2.7 Literature summary

This chapter provides a theoretical underpinning of the present research. A thorough review of the literature has been conducted by the author. A significant number of materials including books, academic journals, articles, websites, etc. have been used for the literature review. Under the initial section theoretical background, the author explores the meaning of leadership based on several definitions provided by multiple scholars during the last several decades. In the second part of this section, the author has discussed leadership theories that provide the

basis for designing this research. The author has discussed, trait theory, behavioral theory, situational theory, transformational theory, transactional theory, etc. and leadership theories and social exchange theory, and leader-member exchange theory to analyze the relationship between the leader and the member. In the next section, the author introduces what is a small and medium enterprise (SME) and discussed commonly used definitions to identify SMEs.

Then the author discusses business performance in SMEs and performance measures that are used to measure business performance in SMEs. The author points out that key performance indicators (KPIs) are the ideal way to measure business performance in SMEs and the use of leading KPIs and Lagging KPIs.

In the next section, the author discusses literature relating to leadership and business performance. He compares different scholarly work that has been performed about leadership styles and their impact on business performance. He points out that there is no mutually agreed opinion on what styles of leadership are ideal for greater business performance in SMEs. In the next section, the author explores the literature on organizational culture and the mediating role organizational culture plays in the present research. In the final section, the author discusses how personality traits play a moderating role between leadership styles and business performance. Since the big five personality model is used for this research, the author discusses the five traits of the big five model which are extroversion, agreeableness, openness, conscientiousness, and neuroticism.

Chapter 03- Research Methodology

3.1 Introduction

In chapter two, the author provided a theoretical and conceptual underpinning of the present research by reviving the work of previous scholars. In the same chapter, the author has conversed theories on leadership, organizational culture, how leadership styles affect business performance, etc. Chapter three illustrates the methodology upon which the present research is based upon. In the first subdivision, the author has explained the conceptual framework that the present research is based upon. The conceptual framework illustrates, variables of the research study, the relationship between each variable, and the rationale for selecting these particular variables. In section two the author has explained hypotheses that are be tested during this research. In section three the author enlightens operational definitions that are relevant to this research and in section five the author has explained the operationalization aspect of this research. In section six the author has illuminated the design of the research and its component, Research Epistemology, Research Approach, Research Strategy, etc. In sections seven and eight the author has outlined how primary data were collected, what tools that were used, what sort of questionnaire used, how the researcher is planning on selecting a sample to study, what is the size of the sample, what sampling method used. In the same section, the author has explained the data collection method and the method and techniques that were be used to analyze data.

3.2 Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework outlined the variables of this research and the relationships between each variable in a precise manner. The author used the conceptual frames to define the aim and objectives of the research clearly (Jabareen, 2009). The conceptual framework was scientifically designed based on the research topic, findings of the reviewed literature (Chapter Two), research objectives, and research questions the conceptual framework has been designed. The author has used a 6-step process to develop the conceptual framework.

- 1. The research topic was selected
- 2. an in-depth review of the literature was conducted.

- 3. Research objectives and research questions were identified.
- 4. Variables of the conceptual framework were identified
- 5. Relationships between variables were identified.
- 6. The conceptual framework was generated.

Based on extensive reviews on literature the author has identified the following variables. The conceptual framework consists of four variables, and they are independent variable, dependent variable, mediating variable and moderating variable. Leadership Styles of SME owners or managers have been identified as the independent variable, business performance in SMEs has been acknowledged as the dependent variable, organizational culture has been recognized as the mediating variable and SME owners' or managers' personality traits have been identified as the moderating variable.

Based on the reviewed literature, the author has recognized the leadership style of the SME owner or manager as the Independent Variable and business performance in SME as the Dependent Variable. as a leadership style. Ulrich and Smallwood (2012) describe that "leadership occurs when the organization builds a cadre of future leaders who have the capacity to shape an organization's culture and create patterns of success." Cohen (1990) expresses leadership as "the art of influencing others to their maximum performance to accomplish any task, objective or project." As remarked by Kouzes and Posner (1995) "leadership is the art of mobilizing others to want to struggle for shared aspirations." Mihai et al (2017) describe leadership as "the process of guiding a group to act in a certain direction." Based on the research topic and the literature review business performance in SMEs has been identified as a Dependent Variable. According to the present research, business performance is influenced by leadership style. Therefore, business performance in SMEs has been identified as the Dependent Variable.

It has been a topic of research for the last several decades that, whether leadership makes a difference in performance in businesses. Based on this evidence the author has identified business performance in SMEs as the dependent variable. Thomas (1988) points out that leaders have a significant and crucial impact on the performance of their business. Nave (2006) depicted the importance of leadership in driving business performance. He also illuminates that the success of a business depends on the leadership style adopted by the leader. Based on the above justifications the author has established that leadership style affects

business performance. Therefore, Independent Variable has a relationship with Dependent Variable.

To further elaborate the relationship between the Independent Variable and the Dependent Variable, the author has introduced a Mediator. Reviewed literature indicates that leaders of an organization affect business performance through multiple avenues. Organizational culture has been identified as one of these avenues. Therefore, the author had introduced organizational culture as the Mediating Variable. By adding the Mediating Variable the author attempts to provide a cause and effect between Independent Variable and Dependent Variable.

Tsai (2011) theories that values and ways of doing things of an organization are referred to as the organizational culture. The culture of an organization gets stimulated by the behavior and style of the leader of the organization. Organizational culture contributes to job satisfaction among other things in an organization. Job satisfaction leads better performance (business performance) of the business. Ogbonna and Harris (2000) reassure that a positive relationship can be acknowledged between leadership, organizational culture, and business performance. Xenikou and Simosi, (2006) contend that leadership has an impact on the organizational culture. At the same time, organizational culture influences leadership. Especially, transformational leadership has been recognized to have a distinct impact on organizational culture. Xenikou, and Simosi, (2006) similarly reasons that organizational culture plays a vital role in organizational outcomes and performance. With that understanding, it is evident that organizational culture has been recognized as the mediating variable.

To add further weight to the outcome of the research, the author has included a Mediating Variable to the conceptual framework. By adding the Moderating Variable try to explain the relationship between Independent Variable and Dependent Variable. A leader's personality traits have been identified as a mediator between leadership styles and business performance in SMEs. Why each leadership style affects business performance on its own has been explained by personality traits associated with each leadership style.

Deinert, et al (2015) contended personality traits of the leaders affect both leader's performance as a leader and the business performance of the organization. Deinert, et al (2015) argue that the big five personality traits illustrated in transformational leadership have a

clear association between leaders' performance and the business performance of the organization. Andersen, (2006) elucidates that there is a relationship between personalities traits that contribute to the persona of the leader. At the same time Deinert, et al (2015) remark the significance of a leader's persona on effectiveness in swaying business performance. According to Garcia et al (2014), a strong affiliation can be acknowledged among perceived personality traits and leadership styles. Garcia, et al (2014) specified that Openness, Agreeable, and Emotionally Stableness are shared among Transformational Leaders, while Conscientiousness and Emotionally Unstableness, are shared among Passive-Avoidant Leaders.



(Moderating Variable)

Figure 3.1 Conceptual Framework

3.3 Hypotheses

Literature indicates that scholars have empirically proved that leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs (Aziz et al, 2013). have identified that leadership styles influence the business performance in SMEs, and organizational culture and personality traits play a role. Therefore, the present research study investigates the effect of leadership styles on business performance in SMEs in the Sri Lankan context with special reference to the tourism industry. Based on the above conceptual framework the author has developed several hypotheses. Literature indicates that various researches have tested the association between leadership styles and business performance in SMEs from different perspectives, different contexts, different cultures, different geographical locations, and different standpoints. Therefore, Obivuru et al, (2011) point out that the outcomes of these research generated dissimilar results. The researcher's opinion is unique because of the context, geographic location, and the industry the research has conducted. At the same time, the present research uses mediating and moderating variables in this research. Several scholars have examined the correlation between leadership styles and business performance in SMEs based on similar variables that are demonstrated in the conceptual framework (Aziz, et al, 2013; Nave, 2006; Tsai, 2011; Andersen, 2006). Ogbonna and Harris, (2000) contended that in UK context organizational culture has been identified to have a link with business performance and leadership and act as a mediator between leadership and business performance. Xenikou and Simosi, (2006) contend thar TFL has a has impact on organizational culture and transactional leaders can business performance. Obiwuru, et al (2011) claim it is visible that there is a relationship between a leader's personality traits and business performance in SMEs. However, the effect of personality traits on leadership and business performance is different in each context. Based on the above findings, the following hypotheses were developed. Each hypothesis is

designed to test the relationship between variables of the conceptual framework.

Hypothesis one tests the relationship between the independent variable and dependent variable. Hypothesis two tests the relationship between the independent variable and mediating variable. Hypothesis three tests the relationship between mediating variable and the dependent variable. Hypothesis four tests the relationship between moderating variable and the dependent variable. Hypothesis five tests the how independent variable affect the dependent variable through mediating variable. The present research is questionnaire-based quantitative research. Parts of the questionnaire are linked to hypotheses and hypotheses were tested based on results generated from these parts of the questionnaire.

3.3.1 Research Hypotheses

Based on the conceptual framework, the following hypotheses are identified. Hypotheses are used to predict the outcome of the findings of the research. Hypothesis one is used to establish the relationship between the independent variable and dependent variable.

As indicated by Mullins, (1999), leadership can be demonstrated as an interpersonal procedure through which one individual can sway the activities of a group of people. Bass (1999), defines leadership as an influence based on reason and characteristics. Stogdill (1957), acknowledges that an individual's ability to manage a group of people to accomplish an objective can be declared as leadership. Bass (1999) illustrate that leader influence the behavior of a group of individuals through communication and providing a common purpose. The idea and meaning of leadership style may contrast from one individual, or circumstance, to the next. Messick and Kramer (2004) explain that the capacity to lead differs from individual and it can be a result of traits that person possesses. Leadership style is the most predominant components component of an organization (Adair, 2002). Chung-Wen, (2008) recognizes a direct association between leadership styles and business performance in SMEs. At the same time, Chung-Wen (2008) enlightens that each leadership style can affect business performance in a dissimilar manner.

Avolio and Bass (1991) introduced full range of leadership with three distinct leadership styles and they are TFL, TSL, and passive-avoidance leadership style. Each of these leadership styles indicates a distinct characteristic separate one from the other. The multifactor questionnaire was introduced to analyze characteristics and to identify the styles of leadership practiced. Aziz et al (2013) have conducted a research study to examine how leadership styles affect business performance in the Malaysian context. Based on the multifactor questionnaire (MLQ 5X) Aziz et al (2013) recognized a relationship between leadership and business performance in SMEs. Additionally, it was realized that each leadership style influence business performance in SMEs in a distinct way. The questionnaire tested business performance in SMEs against each leadership style.

According to Aziz et al (2013), transformational leadership can drive organizations to advance performance for reasons that of participative, supportive, collaborative, delegate nature of the relationship between leader-follower that in the organization. Fokam, (2016) indicated both transformational and TSLs have a comparable level of positive impact on SME performance. Arsawan, Pasek, and Suryantini, (2017) declared that "transactional leadership was more appropriate in inducing commitment and business performance in small and medium enterprises than transformational leadership style." Arsawan, Pasek, and Suryantini, (2017) reflect that transactional leadership is significantly effective in influencing business performance in SMEs. Adom, (2017) in his research SMEs in Gahanna remarks that
passiveavoidance/laissez fair is the most effective leadership style and this leadership style promotes creativity among employees and transactional leadership fails to create employee commitment.

Based on the above justification the author has developed hypothesis one to determine the relationship between the independent variable (leadership style) and the dependent variable (business performance in SMEs.

H1:Leadership styles contribute to greater business performance in SMEs

According to Sürücü, and Yeşilada, (2017) organizational culture is the founding of the organization's general behaviors, organizational value system, distributed beliefs, organizational characteristics, organizations attitudes, etc. Gholamzadeh, Khazaneh, and Nabi, (2014) recognize organizational culture as assumptions, underlying beliefs, values, etc. in an organizational climate. It is also identified that organizational culture is a collection of attitudes, beliefs, and non-formal ways of behaving within an organization. Ogbonna and Harris, (2000) have demonstrated that leadership plays a vital role in defining organizational culture.

Gholamzadeh, Khazaneh, and Nabi, (2014) recognize a relationship between leadership and organizational culture. At the same time, not all leadership styles have a similar impact on organizational culture. It is the opinion of Gholamzadeh, Khazaneh, and Nabi, (2014) that transformational leadership style and TSL have a positive influence on organizational culture and Laissez-fair leadership style has a negative effect. TFL was recommended to balance all four traits of Denison's organizational culture. Rijal, (2010) enlightens transformational leadership can have a positive impact on organizational culture. However, that impact can be subject to differ based on the context of the research. Bass and Avolio (1993) point out that transformational leadership creates transformational cultures within organizations. Therefore, transformational leaders have a positive impact on organizational culture.

Contrary to the popular opinion Sürücü, and Yeşilada, (2017) in the article "The Impact of Leadership Styles on Organizational Culture" challenges the notion that leadership styles have any effect on organizational culture. It is the opinion of Sürücü, and Yeşilada, (2017) that organizational culture is immune to the effects of leadership. Sürücü and Yeşilada, (2017) further illuminate that transactional leadership act according to procedures, rules, and

agreements. Therefore, under transactional leadership, the interactions take a requirement fullfilling nature. In such circumstances, the room for innovation, creativity, or motivation gets minimized. In this scenario, both the leader and followers are just fulfilling their responsibilities and duties while no risk-taking is involved. Sürücü and Yeşilada, (2017) also illuminate that in highly competitive markets both TFL and TSL appear to have no effect at all.

Based on the above justification the author has developed hypothesis two to determine the relationship between the independent variable (leadership style) and the mediating variable (organizational culture).

H2: Leadership styles have a positive influence on organizational culture

Shehu and Mahmood, (2014) contended that a positive relationship between organizational culture and business performance in SMEs can be identified. Berson, Oreg, and Dvir (2005) also suggested a correlation between organizational culture and business performance can be identified. Ezirim, Nwibere, and Emecheta (2010) enlighten that a positive relationship can be acknowledged between organizational culture and business performance. Ezirim, Nwibere, and Emecheta (2010) point out organizational culture has a significant impact not just on business performance but, on market share, sales volume, and profitability as well.

As indicated by Aliyu, Rogo, and Mahmood, (2015) a positive relationship can be witnessed between organizational culture and business performance in SMEs. When the organizational culture has an entrepreneurial orientation, is innovative, and creates a positive atmosphere, they contribute to growth in business performance within particular SMEs. According to Shehu, and Mahmood, (2014) both organizational culture and entrepreneurial orientation affect business performance in an organization (SME) significantly. It was discovered organizational culture act as a mediating factor between entrepreneurial orientation business performances. Shehu and Mahmood, (2014) further empathy that with the appropriate organizational culture, managers can face competitive market situations with optimal performance levels. Eker and Eker (2009) find it difficult to connect financial and business performance to organizational culture. Organizational culture may influence certain factors within an organization such as job satisfaction. However, Eker and Eker (2009) were unable to link business performance and financial outcomes with organizational culture. Once again, firms with a flexible organizational culture are less likely to influence business performance than organizations with solid organizational culture.

Sok, Blomme, and Tromp, (2014) Recognize are two main types of organizational cultures and are Positive organizational culture and negative organizational culture. Positive organizational cultures affect business performance in a positive manner and negative organizational cultures, the impact on business performance is unmeasurable. Therefore, it is clear that there is no common agreement on whether organizational culture has an impact on business performance in SMEs or not. Therefore, the author wishes to test that theory.

Based on the above justification the author has developed hypothesis three to determine the relationship between mediating variable (organizational culture) and the dependent variable (business performance in SMEs).

H3: Organizational culture contributes to greater business performance in SMEs

In the 1970s Costa and McCrae led a team of scientific research in pursuit of identifying traits in personality and discovered the Five-Factor Theory of Personality (McCrae & Costa, 2003). In the Five-Factor Theory of Personality McCrae & Costa, (2003) identify five personality traits in a person and are Openness, Extraversion, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, and Neuroticism. McCrae & Costa, (2003) declared each personality trait has its characteristics. Extroversion is broadly defined by using factors such as initiative, cheerfulness, communicativeness, and initiative. Those who score high for extroversion are companionable, sociable, and able to accomplish what they set out to do. Those with low scores tend to be introverted, reserved, and more submissive to authority. Openness relates to novelty and creativity. Individual with is low score tend to be conventional thinkers, has a sense of right and wrong, and routine. Agreeableness describes how well a person gets along with others (McCrae & Costa, 2003). An individual with a high score in conscientiousness is selfmotivated, well-disciplined, and is considered trustworthy. Those who are found in the low end are easily distracted and act irresponsibly. McCrae & Costa, (2003) identified neuroticism relates to emotional stability. Those who are high on the scale demonstrate traits such as anxiousness, inhibition, moody, and less self-assured. People at the lower scale tend to be more confident, calm, and contented.

Kalshoven, Den Hartog, and De Hoogh, (2011) contended that these personality traits affect the personal capacity of an individual as a leader and these traits affect the business

performance when a person leads an organization. It was discovered that these personality traits have a significant influence on business performance in SMEs due to the close interaction between leaders and employees in SME organizational environment. According to Franco, and Prata, (2019) personality traits and business performance in SMEs have a complicated relationship. Extraversion, conscientiousness, and openness have a positive relationship with business performance in SMEs. Neuroticism appears to hurt business performance in SMEs. Personality trait agreeableness appears to not affect business performance in SMEs. Andersen, (2006) empathies that the personality traits of the leader do not have an impact on the business performance of the SME he/she is leading. According to Andersen, (2006) further describes that in traditional organizations leaders' personalities and traits or event leadership have no impact on business performance. Avolio & Bass, (1991) indicated that personality traits in the big five leadership model can be interconnected with full-range leadership theory.

Based on the above justification the author has developed hypothesis four to determine the relationship between moderating variable (leader's personality traits) and the dependent variable (business performance in SMEs).

H4: Leadership styles can positively influence business performance in SMEs through organizational culture

Ogbonna and Harris, (2000) illustrate leadership styles and organizational culture are interlinked to each other, and together both leadership styles and organizational culture impact business performance in SMEs. It was discovered that leadership style contributes to the positive or negative nature of the organization and that impacts business performance. Ogbonna and Harris, (2000) contended that organizational culture plays the role of the mediator between leadership style and business performance in SMEs. Al-Sada, Al-Esmael, and Faisal, (2017) recognize that both leadership style and organizational culture is direct influencer on predominant influences on business performance such as job satisfaction, work motivation, organizational commitment, work attitudes, and ability to handle stress at work that has an impact on organizational culture. In such circumstances, organizational culture becomes the mediating factor. It has been indicated that organizational cultures such as innovative organizational culture are shaped transformational nature of the leader. Ogbonna

and Harris, (2000) explain that innovative cultures lead to breakthroughs and leads to better business performances.

and competitive cultures can have a direct effect on business performance without the intervention of the leader or leadership styles. It has also been said that bureaucratic and community-style organizational cultures do not influence business performance. Because of the uniformity and strictness, these cultures prevent leaders from using organizational culture as a tool to influence business performance. effecting the business performance using (Ogbonna, and Harris, 2000). It is also a fact that factors such as industry, and competitiveness organizational culture can influence business performance without the influence of the leader or leadership style. According to Birincib, (2013) not all leadership styles behave in the same way. Some leadership styles impact business performance in SMEs while some leadership styles have no effect on organization culture and by doing so not impact business performance. At the same, some leadership styles influence organizational culture in a way that it would influence business performance. Birincib, (2013) illuminates that some leadership styles and organizational culture of that organization can have similar traits. TFL can have an influence on the organizational culture in a way that it creates a transformational organizational culture and that would lead to business performance in the organization. Birincib, (2013) indicated leadership styles such as TSL and passive-avoidance leadership style affect the organizational culture and by doing so the business performance.

Based on the above justification the author has developed hypothesis five to determine whether the mediating variable (organizational culture) acts as a conduit between the independent variable (leadership styles) and the dependent variable (business performance in SMEs).

H5: Leader's personality traits moderate the business performance in SMEs

3.4 Operational Definitions

This section illustrates key concepts and definitions used in the conceptual framework. These concepts and terminologies derive from related fields such as psychology, management, and leadership. Based on appropriate literature the author recognizes the following operational definitions.

Concept	Definition
Leadership	Leadership is the behavior of an individual when he is directing the activities of a group toward a shared goal. The ability to affect a gathering of employees' choice, behavior, acknowledgment of the objective, and work with certainty and enthusiasm can be described as leadership (Bass, 1988). Leader envisions the future to spur members of the organization to accomplish the goals s and to improve the exhibition.
Transactional Leadership	According to Bass (1999) "transactional leaders cater to their follower's immediate self-interest" and the relationship is an exchange of interests. This relationship can be a contingent rewards system. The transactional leader will directly or indirectly clarify the rewards and what followers need to receive those rewards. The leader monitors the performance of the followers and if the follower is unable to meet the expected performance the leader will take corrective actions such as reducing rewards. Bass (1998) further elaborates transaction leadership contributes to a greater level of stress within an organization comparative to transformational leaderships styles and the passive-avoidance leadership style.
Transformatio nal Leadership	According to Bass, (1999) "transformational leaders uplift the morale, motivation, and morals of their followers" and also" inspire, intellectually stimulates, and is individually considerate of them." Bass (1999) further discloses that transformational leadership is effective in fragile market conditions where employee development is significantly important. Under transformational leadership, followers are treated as colleagues rather than subordinates.
Passiveavoidance Leadership	According to Avolio & Bass, (1994), passive-avoidance leadership is compatible with "no leadership." At the same time, they contend it as a "do nothing" leadership style. Passive avoidance leaders provide hardly any direction or hardly any guidance to their followers. Because of that, the followers are left to make the decisions. Avolio & Bass, (1994) also portray that passive avoidance leadership is a lack of leadership altogether.
Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs)	The "National Policy Framework for SME Development (2017)", defines SMEs as enterprises with 50 to 200 employees and enterprises with an annual turnover between 16 million rupees to 750 million rupees in the service sector. In the manufacturing sector, SMEs defines as enterprises with 51 to 300

	employees and annual turnover between 16 to 750 million rupees (National Policy Framework for SME Development, 2017).
Business Performance	Business performance "is a set of analytic processes that enables the management of an organization's performance to achieve pre-selected goals." It is "An effective management of financial and non-financial objectives and measures to venture growth" (Franco-Santos et al, 2007)
Organizational Culture	Tsai, (2011) refers to organizational culture as a "set of beliefs and values that have existed in an organization for a long time, and to the beliefs of the staff and the foreseen value of their work that will influence their attitudes and behavior" (Tsai, 2011).
Personality Traits	"Personality traits are typically defined as descriptions of people in terms of relatively stable patterns of behavior, thoughts, and emotions" (Parks-Leduc, Feldman, and Bardi, 2015).
Gross Domestic Product (GDP)	It is the "measures the monetary value of final goods and services that is, those that are bought by the final user produced in a country in a given period (say a quarter or a year). It counts all the output generated within the borders of a country. GDP is composed of goods and services produced for sale in the market and also includes some nonmarket production, such as defense or education services provided by the government" (Callen, 2008).

Table 3.1 Operational Definitions (Source: Author's Work)

3.5 Operationalization

Operationalization is the process that turns abstract concepts into measurable annotations. It defines how concepts can be measured and observed. Operationalization, allow the researcher to evaluate abstract concepts into measurable indicators. Operationalization is important for any kind of research. Especially, for quantitative research operationalization of variables is significantly important.

The author has used a three-step process for operationalization.

- 1. Identify the main concepts you are interested in studying.
- 2. Choose a variable to represent each of the concepts.
- 3. Select indicators for each of your variables.
- 4. Identify Measurement Indicators

The author has used previous literature to identify measurement indicators for variables specified in the conceptual framework. The operationalization table is shown in the below table

No	Concept	Variables	Measurement Ind	icator	Source
01	Leadership	Leadership Styles	Transformational Leadership Style	Idealized influence Inspirational motivation Intellectual stimulation Individual consideration	Bass and Avolio (1998)
			Transactional Leadership Style	Contingent reward Management-by- exception	Bass and Avolio (1998)
			Passive avoidance Leadership Style	Management- byexception Laissez-faire leadership	Bass and Avolio (1998)
02	Business Performance	Business Performance	Financial performation Non-financial performation of the second s		Mead, Bolnick, and Young, (1989)
03	Organizational Culture	Organizational Culture	Communication Decision making Change Growth Management		Tidor, et al (2012)
04	Leader's Personality	Personality Traits	Openness Conscientiousness Extraversion Agreeableness Neuroticism		Barrick and Mount, (1991)

3.5.1 Measurement Indicators

Table 3.2 Measurement Indicators (Source: Author's Work)

3.6 Research Design

3.6.1 Research Epistemology

Malhotra et al., (1996) define that the conceptual framework provides a support structure to researchers. By using the conceptual framework as a reference, researchers were then able to illustrate the relationship between the key variables of the study. At the same time, it enables researchers to measure data about research structure. Based on previous scholarly work, the author, a conceptual framework has been developed. Based on the conceptual framework, "positivism" has been identified as the research philosophy. During the present research, the investigator is independent of the study and human interaction was be minumum (Dudovskiy,2018). The research progresses through hypothesis and deduction. Sample for the research was selected based on probability formula and a considerable number of samples were be used for the study.

Based on conceptual framework and research philosophy it is determined that positivism is the research philosophy. The present research is primarily based upon facts, numbers, and statistics because that philosophy has been selected (Crowther and Lancaster, 2008). For a research that is based upon a survey method, questionnaire is ideal research tool. As a result of those interactions with the research, participants would be minimal. As a result, the investigator is independent of the research study and participants are to be treated objectively (Smith et al. 2008). At the same time, the present research attempt to find answers through hypothesis testing. All these justifications indicate that positivism as the research philosophy deductive approach is the most suited approach for the present research (Dudovskiy,2018).

3.6.2 Research Approach

Crowther and Lancaster, (2008) contend that two predominant approaches to research and are the inductive approach and the deductive approach. Wilson, (2010) expresses that for a research study that is based on hypothesis testing, the deductive approach would be the most appropriate. The present study explore selected number of samples that are selected from the population. By investigating these samples a theory is expected to be developed and that theory to be generalized and applied to the whole population. That qualifies the deductive approach as the most relevant approach for the present research (Wilson, 2010). Gulati, (2009) explains that for a low-risk research study, the deductive approach is ideal. At the time research studies conducted within a limited period qualifies for a deductive approach. When using the deductive approach makes it easier for the researcher to illustrate the correlation between variables (Dudovskiy, 2018). At the same time, the deductive approach allows the researcher to measure results quantitative manner. Based on the above justifications the author established that the deductive approach to be the most suited approach for the present research.

3.6.3 Research Strategy

Scholars have identified two predominant research strategies and they are qualitative research method and quantitative research strategies (Dudovskiy, 2018). Qualitative research studies are descriptive and quantitative researches are numerical. Dudovskiy, (2018) contended research studies that are based on positivism and deductive approach tend to be more quantitative than qualitative. For the present research, the author has adopted "positivism" as the research philosophy. Since the present research is based on hypothesis testing the author decided to take a deductive approach for this present research. It has been identified that for research studies to conduct hypothesis testing numerical data is required (Dudovskiy, 2018). The present research uses a structured questionnaire with a five-point Likert scale to collect numerical data. Based on research philosophy, research approach, hypotheses testing and fivepoint Likert scale-based questionnaire the author has decided to the present research to be quantitative.

3.6.4 Research Method

Investigators use several research strategies for their research. As indicated by Sackett, and Larson (1990) several factors need to be taken into consideration when selecting the strategy to conduct research. Empirical studies contend that factors such as research philosophy, research approach, and research method need to be taken into consideration. Strauss and Whitfield enlighten that for research that is based on positivism philosophy, deductive research approach, and quantitative method, the survey is the most suited strategy. It is important to understand that the present research is based on hypothesis testing. To conduct hypothesis testing controlled numerical data is needed. At the time number of samples to be studied needs to be considered when deciding the strategy (Strauss and Whitfiel, 2018). The survey is ideal in a situation where a considerable number of samples need to be studied. Under such circumstances survey would be the most suited research strategy for the recent research.

3.6.5 Research Instruments

Wilkinson and Birmingham, (2003) contend that there are two types of research instruments used in research and are Qualitative Research instruments and Quantitative Research Instruments. These research instruments can be generally included, Interviews, Observation, Surveys, etc. Interviews be divided into five categories, Structured Interviews, Unstructured Interviews, Non-Directive Interviews, Focus Interviews, and Group Interviews. Wilkinson and Birmingham, (2003) contended that Observations can be divided into three categories, Structured Observations, Naturalistic Observation, Participant Observations. Survey research can be divided into two categories, free answer surveys, and guided response surveys. Research methodology, conceptual framework, and the qualitative nature of a controlled questionnaire have been adopted for the present research.

The research questionnaire consists of of four parts. Part (a) of the questionnaire is to gather general information about the participant (anonymity of participants is preserved by not presenting personal questions). Part (b), (c), (d) be aligned with the variables of the conceptual framework. Part (b) of the questionnaire is Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ 6S) short form. This form consists of 15 self-assessment questions. This part of the questionnaire addresses the relationship between the independent variable (leadership styles) and the dependent variable (business performance in SMEs). Part (c) of the questionnaire is the big five personality traits questionnaire. This particular part of the questionnaire addresses the moderating variable (personality traits of the SME owner/manager). Part (d) is an authordeveloped questionnaire. This set of questions addresses the mediating variable (organizational culture). Questions in parts (b), (c), & (d) are to be assessed based five-point Likert scale.

3.6.5 Unit of Analysis

Sekaran (2009) specifies that the unit of analysis is a key component of the research design. Malhotra & Grover (1998) contended that the unit of analysis can be group, individual, organization, and department or with the industry-level organization. The present research surveys either the leader or the manager of the selected SME. Therefore, under the present circumstances unit of analysis can be identified as an individual(Trochim, 2020). The unit of analysis for this research is individual. The manager or the owner of the SME who is directly managing the employees was selected for this research study. In a company where the owner is directly managing the employee, he or she was selected for the research. In a company where there is a chairman and a general manager and if the general manager is directly managing the employees, he or she was selected. In companies where the managing director and chairperson manage employees directly, they were selected for the research.

3.6.6 Time Horizon

Malhotra & Grover (1998), enlighten that there are two types of time horizons in research and they cross-sectional or longitudinal. In longitudinal survey research, the survey is expected to be conducted multiple times on the same subjects over a period of time. In Cross-sectional, it is a one-time survey. Data collected from a one-time survey is treated as the final data (Saunders et al. 2007). The present research participants (SME leader or manager) is to be given a questionnaire and expect to fill it one time only. Considering the above justifications, the time horizon for the present research has been identified as Cross-Sectional.

3.7 Primary Data Collection

Data collection is a crucial component of a research study. Data collection can be divided into two categories and they are primary data and secondary data. Secondary data is collected based on previous literature and information available (Kabir, 2016). New findings are discovered through primary data analysis. Collection of primary involves surveying, interviewing, observing, or experimenting. Then these data were analyzed using analytical tools and based on these results new conclusions are drawn. Selecting primary data that meets the standards of quality, availability, statistical power, and another requirement is crucial. Then again it is vital to identify a research method to meet the above expectations. The present research investigates how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs in the Sri Lankan context. SMEs in Sri Lanka are the generic target population. To increase the accuracy, a specific industry has been identified. The tourism industry represents a diverse variety of businesses that qualify for research such as the present research. Primary data were be drawn from SMEs in the tourism industry in Sri Lanka. Based on the collected data hypotheses were be tested and conclusions were drawn. Literature indicates that previously conducted research studies have based their investigations based on research questionnaires. Several research studies had used Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (Obiwuru, et al, 2011; Aziz, et al, 2013; Nave, 2006; Tsai, 2011; Andersen, 2006).

The below table provides examples of researches that are conducted on leadership the effect of leadership styles on business performance.

Author/s	Research Approach	Research Instruments	Sample size
Mgeni, T.O., 2015	Interview & Survey	Self-designed questionnaire	100
Zehir, C., Ertosun, Ö.G., Zehir, S. and Müceldili, B., 2011	Survey	questionnaire	295
Aziz, Abdullah, Tajudin, and Mahmood, 2013	Survey	Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire	250
Obiwuru, Okwu, Akpa, and Nwankwere, 2011	Survey	Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire	15

Table 3.3 Past Research Methods (Source: Author's Work)

Based on the information in the above table the majority of past investigators' researches have used questionnaire-based surveys. The multifactor leadership questionnaire appears to be a preferred questionnaire among several investigators.

3.7.1 Questionnaire

Based on the research philosophy, research approach, and research strategy a questionnaire has been identified as the research tool. Based on the conceptual framework, variables and hypotheses a five-part questionnaire has been designed. Part (a) of the questionnaire is to collect background information of the participant. This part of the questionnaire is to get the demography of the participant. However, these questions are not designed to reveal the identity of the participant, and the participants can refrain from answering any questions that seem to reveal their identity or they feel uncomfortable. Part (b) of the questionnaire is Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 6S. This form consists of 15 self-assessment questions and is linked to the relationship between the independent variable (leadership styles of SME owner/manager) and the dependent variable (business performance in SMEs). Part (c) of the questionnaire is the big five personality traits questionnaire. The part of the questionnaire

addresses the moderating variable (personality traits of the SME owner/manager). Part (d) of the questionnaire is developed by the author. This part of the questionnaire addresses the mediating variable (organizational culture of the SME). Part (e) of the questionnaire is an author-developed questionnaire to address the dependent variable business performance.

The author has designed this research in a way that hypotheses can be tested. Part (a) of the questionnaire is used to test hypothesis 01 (H1: Leadership styles have a direct impact on business performance in SMEs). Part (b) of the questionnaire is test hypothesis four (H4: Leaders' personality traits affect the business performance in SMEs) and Part (c) of the questionnaire is used to test hypotheses H2 (H2: Leadership styles have an impact on organizational culture, H3 (H3: Organizational culture has an impact on business performance in SMEs) and hypothesis H5 (H5: Leadership styles affects the business performance in SMEs because of organizational culture). and detailed questionnaire exemplified in the annexure (Please refer to Annex 01 for the complete questionnaire). Questions are assessed based on a five-point Likert scale. Participants are be allowed to answer the question. Five points of the scales would be 1. Strongly disagree 2. Disagree, 3. Neutral/ Agree to some extent, 4. Agree, 5 strongly agree. The structure of the questionnaire is illustrated in the below table.

Section	Investigation Area	Questionnaire Type	Questionnaire
			Numbers
А	General Information of the subject	Author designed questionnaire	From Q 1.1 to Q 1. 8
В	Leadership Styles and Business performance	Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire 6 S	From Q 2.1 to Q 2. 21
С	Leaders Personality Traits	Gig Five Personality Traits Questionnaire	From Q 3.1 to Q 3. 44
D	Organization Culture	Author designed questionnaire	From Q 4.1 to 4.30
Е	Business Performance	Author designed questionnaire	From Q 5.1 to 5.12

Table 3.4 Questionnaire Structure (Source: Author's Work)

3.8 Sample Plan

According to Bryman (2006) sampling plays a vital role in both quantitative and qualitative research studies. Since this is a study of business performance and leadership styles in SMEs in Sri Lanka, SMEs in Sri Lanka would be the general population. Therefore, samples have to be selected from SMEs in Sri Lanka. According to National Policy Framework for SME Development (2017), in Sri Lanka, an SME can be described as businesses "with 50 to 200 employees and enterprises with an annual turnover between 16 million rupees to 750 million rupees in the service sector. In the manufacturing sector, SME defines as enterprises 51 to 300 employees and annual turnover between 16 to 750 million rupees." According to Certifies Management Accounts of Sri Lanka (2018), over fifty thousand SMEs are operating in Sri Lanka. There is a large number of SMEs that are not registered with any organizations. SMEs in Sri Lanka are spread across all industries including import, export, tourism, health care, hospitality, manufacturing, agriculture, transport, logistics, FMCG, retail, etc. Therefore, it makes it difficult to obtain a justified sample from the general population. The author believes that sticking with a certain industry that has a higher degree of diversity and a list of registered businesses that are registered with a government authority would be better suited for this research.

3.8.1 Target Population

The SME sector in Sri Lanka is the general population for this research study. Since the SME sector is a broad population to acquire quality samples, the author decided to acquire samples from one particular industry. Because of that research, the author has selected the tourism industry as the target population for the present research. The tourism industry includes a large number of SMEs and includes a diverse range of businesses. SMEs operate in the tourism industry cross-reference with many other industries such as transport and logistics, healthcare, hospitality, food and drinks, and many other industries. Therefore, the author believes that the tourism industry can accurately represent the SME sector in Sri Lanka. Having properly maintained databased maintained by the SLTDA is a bonus. Therefore, the sampling frame for this research would be Tourism Industry in Sri Lanka.

3.8.2 Definition of SME for this research

For the present research, SMEs were selected from the Sri Lanka tourism development (SLTDA) registered database. The number of employees and annual turnover were used as indicators to identify SMEs. Businesses with employees were considered as small businesses and businesses with employees between and fifty and a hundred were considered as medium businesses. Businesses with annual turnover below fifty million LKR were considered and small businesses and businesses with annual turnover between a hundred million and two hundred were considered as medium scale businesses. SLTDA database consists of businesses such as hotels, guesthouses, restaurants, travel agents, transport providers, activity providers, healthcare providers, etc. all of these businesses that were considered as potential samples. Therefore, all these businesses were used sample selection.

3.8.2.1 Sampling Method

According to Taherdoost, (2016) researchers use a wide range of sampling methods to find a quality sample that represents the population accurately. Taherdoost, (2016) described 6 stage process when it comes to selecting a sample,

Stage1: Clearly Define Target Population,

Stage 2: Select Sampling Frame,

Stage 3: Choose Sampling Technique,

Stage 4: Determine Sample Size,

Stage 5: Collect Data and

Stage 6: Assess Response Rate.

For the present research, the author has decided to use the probability sampling method to attain an accurate sample because of the size of the target population. Out of multiple probability sampling techniques, the author has decided on a representative sampling method. In representative sampling, all samples get an equal probability of being included in the sample. Based on these factors the researcher decided that a sampling formula would the best course of action. Therefore, the researcher decided to use a sampling formula to select the sample for the research. The Krejcie Morgan sampling formula was selected for the research to avoid sampling bias (Taherdoost, 2016).

3.8.2 Sample size and Sampling formula

Scholars always prefer a snapshot sample of the target population. When a researcher is faced with a larger population it makes it difficult to get an exact representation of the population. In such a situation researchers use a sampling method to get the best possible sample (Chuan, and Penyelidikan, 2006). Chuan and Penyelidikan, (2006) portrayed that a representative sampling method based on formula would be the most effective way to get the an accurate and unbiased sample. Krejcie & Morgan sampling method was developed in 1970 by Robert V. Krejcie and Daryle W. Morgan. Due to the timely need for an accurate representative statistical sampling method Krejcie & Morgan method was developed.

According to Chuan, and Penyelidikan, (2006). Krejcie and Morgan formula has higher accuracy than Cohen's formula over to base decisions on research findings with confidence. The author believes that it is very important to select samples (SMEs in the tourism industry) in an unbiased manner.

The database of SMEs in SLTDA consists of over thousand businesses. Because of that reason the author decided to use a sampling formula. The author decided to use Krejcie Morgan sampling formula to select sample SMEs to study (Chuan, and Penyelidikan, 2006). The Krejcie Morgan formula is given below:

Formula for determining sample size $s = X^2 NP(1-P) + d^2(N-1) + X^2 P(1-P)$ s = required sample size. $X^2 =$ the table value of chi-square for 1 degree of freedom at the desired confidence level (3.841). N = the population size. P = the population proportion (assumed to be .50 since this would provide the maximum sample size). d = the degree of accuracy expressed as a proportion (.05). Source: Krejcie & Morgan, 1970



N	s	N	S	N	S	N	s	N	s
10	10	100	80	280	162	800	260	2800	338
15	14	110	86	290	165	850	265	3000	341
20	19	120	92	300	169	900	269	3500	346
25	24	130	97	320	175	950	274	4000	351
30	28	140	103	340	181	1000	278	4500	354
35	32	150	108	360	186	1100	285	5000	357
40	36	160	113	380	191	1200	291	6000	361
45	40	170	118	400	196	1300	297	7000	364
50	44	180	123	420	201	1400	302	8000	367
55	48	190	127	440	205	1500	306	9000	368
60	52	200	132	460	210	1600	310	10000	370
65	56	210	136	480	214	1700	313	15000	375
70	59	220	140	500	217	1800	317	20000	377
75	63	230	144	550	226	1900	320	30000	379
80	66	240	148	600	234	2000	322	40000	380
85	70	250	152	650	242	2200	327	50000	381
90	73	260	155	700	248	2400	331	75000	382
95	76	270	159	750	254	2600	335	1000000	384

Table 3.5 Krejcie and Morgan Table (Source: Kerjcie & Morgan, 1970)

Based on the number of SMEs in the Sri Lanka Tourism Authority number of samples were be selected. According to SLTDA, over 1000 SMEs are operating in the Sri Lanka Tourism industry. Therefore, based on the Krejcie Morgan sampling formula the researcher decided to select select 285 sample SMEs.

3.9 Data Analysis Techniques

A wide range of data analysis techniques are used in modern-day research. Data can be divided into two categories. Qualitative Data and Quantitative data. For this research, the author decided to collect quantitative data using a questionnaire that is assessed based on fivepoint liker scales. Data analysis can be s defined as "a process of cleaning, transforming, and modeling data to discover useful information for decision-making. The purpose of Data Analysis is to extract useful information from data and make the decision based upon the data analysis." According to the Responsible Conduct of Research (RCR) website at Northern Illinois University (2021) "data analysis is the process of systematically applying statistical and/or logical techniques to describe and illustrate, condense and recap, and evaluate data." Data analysis techniques can be primarily divided into two categories. Qualitative data analysis techniques and quantities data. Qualitative data analysis techniques are descriptive in

nature and qualitative data analysis techniques are statistical. Since this research is quantitative this part of the chapter mainly focuses on quantitative data analysis techniques.

According to Kawulich, (2004), qualitative data analysis involves getting familiar with data, identifying themes and patterns, and trying to establish relationships between data points. According to Davis, and Meyer, (2009) qualitative research techniques include Conversation analysis, Discourse analysis, Narrative analysis, Semiotics qualitative comparative analysis, Constant comparison analysis, Keywords-in-context, Word count Membership categorization analysis, Domain analysis, Taxonomic analysis, Componential analysis, Classical content analysis, Micro-interlocutor analysis, Comparative Analysis, etc. Bernard, (2013) defined that there are several approaches to qualitative data analysis including grounded theory analysis, interpretive analysis, narrative analysis, performance analysis, discourse analysis, hermeneutics analysis, content analysis, cross-cultural analysis, etc.

The below table explains the approach to the analysis used in the qualitative analysis by two
authors – Bernard (2013) and Merriam (1998).

Author	Approaches
Merriam (1998)	Ethnographic Analysis
	Narrative Analysis
	Phenomenological analysis
	Constant Comparative analysis
Bernard (2013)	Hermeneutic/Interpretive Analysis
	Narrative/Performance Analysis
	Discourse Analysis
	Grounded Theory Analysis
	Content Analysis
	Cross-Cultural Analysis

Table 3.6 Approached to Analysis (Source: Kawulich, 2004)

There are several software available today to assist qualitative researchers enabling a large number of data to be analyzed in a short period. This software allows the researcher to conduct rather accurate analysis than manual process (Kawulich, 2004). Some software allows the researcher to analyze audio and visual data to analyze. Quantitative data analysis techniques

can be divided as Techniques based on Mathematics and Statistics and Techniques based on Visualization and Graphs (Zikmund, et al, 2003). Techniques based on Mathematics and Statistics include Descriptive Analysis, Dispersion Analysis, Regression Analysis, Factor Analysis, Time Series Analysis, etc. According to Zikmund, et al (2003) descriptive data analysis is "the transformation of raw data into a form. That makes it asy to understand and interpret; rearranging, ordering, and manipulating data to generate descriptive information."

Jansen and Warren, (2020) contended quantitative data analysis as a number-driven analytical method. Quantitative data analysis allows researchers to perform hypothesis testing and at the same time allow the measure correlation between variables in contrast to analysis of perceptions and feelings in people in qualitative data analysis. As indicated by the University of Sothern California library website (2021) "quantitative methods emphasize objective measurements and the statistical, mathematical, or numerical analysis of data collected through polls, questionnaires, and surveys, or by manipulating pre-existing statistical data using computational techniques. Quantitative research focuses on gathering numerical data and generalizing it across groups of people or to explain a particular phenomenon." The present research study is quantitative. The conceptual framework has identified research variables. Hypotheses are developed to test relationships between variables and they will be tested based on numerical data collected from the research questionnaire.

a. Descriptive analysis

Lawless and Heymann, (2010) contended descriptive statistics as a way of organizing statistical data in a manner that it can be comfortably understood. Descriptive analysis is not developed based on probability theory, unlike inferential statistics. Unlike inferential statistical analysis, descriptive analysis can provide data in a vivid descriptive way. Descriptive analysis is less time-consuming compared to other statistical-based analytical techniques. According to Lawless, and Heymann, (2010) descriptive analysis can be divided into two categories based on variables, and are "Descriptive analysis for each variable" and "Descriptive analysis for combinations of variables." When analyzing each variable separately, histograms and boxand-whisker plots calculate mean and standard deviation separately. When analyzing combinations of variables, scatter plots, box-and-whisker plots, or contingency tables are commonly used.

b. Predictive Analysis

Predictive analysis is a modern-day data analytic tool sued in a wide range of statistical-based data analyses. Nyce and Cpcu, (2007) contended predictive analysis uses a wide range of analytical and statistical techniques to predict future behaviors and events based on predictive models. Predictive models that are used for analysis can be differ based on each behavior or event that the researcher tries to predict. These models use a system that is based on a scoring system. When the score is high the probability of a particular event or behavior occurring is highly probable. In predictive analysis, the researcher uses a technique called 'data mining' which enables the researcher to establish relationships, trends, patterns, etc., and this information is then used to generate predictive models. Nyce and Cpcu, (2007) illustrated that predictive analysis to predict the future behavior of people based on present and past data, therefore they can design future insurance plans. Advances in technology, faster computer (with greater speed and higher data processing power), machine learning, and access to big data have contributed to the accuracy in predictability in predictive analysis.

3.9.1 Main Data Analysis Techniques

To analyze collected data and to test the hypothesis, the researcher has used two quantitative data analysis techniques, Regression Analysis and Correlations Analysis.

a. Regression Analysis

Gallo, (2015) enlightened that regression analysis is one of the popular statistical-based analysis techniques used in quantitative data analysis. Regression analysis is a way of conducting analysis based on variables and "a way of mathematically sorting out which of those variables does indeed have an impact." One of the key elements in regression analysis is the measure of the correlation between of how variables. Especially, it measures the independent variable correlation between dependent variable Gallo, (2015). For regression analysis to work, researchers need to gather data on variables using questionnaires, then a regression model will be designed using a scatterplot.

Building a Regression Model

The line summarizes the relationship between x and y.



Figure 3.3 Regression Model (Source: Gallo, A., 2015)

The regression line is drawn based on statistical calculation. These calculations are primarily calculated using statistical software. Microsoft Excel is an elementary software that can be used. Then again for sophisticated analysis, software such as SPSS or STATA are available (Gallo, A., 2015). By analyzing the regression line, the relationship between the independent variable and dependent variable. In addition to conducting analysis based on the regression line, statistical software is capable of performing formula-based analyses. Regression formulas are given below.

Formula 01

Y=200+5X+error term

Formula 02

Y = 200 + 5X

Regression analysis is primarily divided into two categories and they are linear regression and multiple regression. Linear regression is primarily used to analyses deterioration between two variables and multiple regression is used to estimate the relationship between more than one variable. For research with only an independent variable and a dependent variable linear regression is suited. For research such as the present research with more than two variables (research with an indigent variable, a dependent variable, a mediating variable, and a moderating variable) multiple regression is the applicable model.

b. Correlation Analysis

Correlation analysis looks at the relationship between two different variables. When the correlation coefficient is between +1 and 0 it is considered as a positive relationship and when the correlation coefficient is between 0 and -1 it is considered as a negative relationship between two different variables (Senthilnathan, 2019). When the correlation coefficient value gets closer to 0 (either positive or negative) the relationship between the variables becomes less significant. When data are scattered closely together in a line it is considered that correlation is strong and when data points are scattered loosely it is considered as a weak correlation. The below figure illustrates this relationship clearly.



Figure 3.4 Regression Model Scatter Plot (Source: Yadav S., Correlation analysis in biological studies, 2018)

Calculating the correlation coefficient manually is time-consuming and room for error can be high. Therefore, using software such as SPSS, Eviews, Minitab 18, Stata, JMP, etc. are recommended. According to Xu, et al. (2015) correlation analysis is often used in quantitative data-driven research methods. The correlation coefficient is commonly used for analysis in financial markets. For example, it can be used measure how to stock behave against each other under the same market conditions. At the same time correlation coefficient in academic research are data-driven. It can be used to analyze the correlation between variables in the conceptual model and to see whether these variables have a positive, negative, or insignificant relationship.

3.9.2 Validity and Reliability

Zikmund, (2003) indicated validity and reliability are key elements in measuring research data. Reliability and validity positively impact the effectiveness and accuracy of analysis results because of the efficiency and effectiveness. The author believes that it is very important to include validity and reliability measures in the present research. By doing so the author would be able to increase the accuracy of the research. According to Sekaran & Bougie, (2011) reliability measures ensure the consistency of the measurement's indicators, stability, measurement across the time, etc. Canava et al., (1998) contended that reliability can create a degree of consistency among variables act as an indicator of measurement. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient is used to conduct the reliability test. By using Cronbach's alpha coefficient, the reliability of each element can be measured and how closely they are related as a group can be measured.

Validity can be considered as is one of the key important techniques that are used in research modern day. It is also stated that "the degree to which an instrument measures what it is prime to measure." According to Sekaran and Bougie, (2011) researchers have high regard for valid measurement because it helps researchers to maintain the level of accuracy in their research. At the same time validity has been proven that when it comes to the final output it plays an important part (Sekaran and Bougie, 2011). The validity test is mainly conducted using Kaiser –Meyer -Olkin (KMO) tests and Sphericity by Bartlett's Test (BTS). It is recommended that Uni-Dimensionality Test is to be conducted before conducting Kaiser –Meyer -Olkin (KMO) tests and Sphericity of collected data is measured through the KMO test and the suitability of the data is measured by the BTS test.

3.10 Chapter Summary

The present chapter illustrates the methodology that the present research was conducted. The chapter begins with the introduction of the conceptual framework. The author introduces a conceptual framework with four variables. The author introduces leadership styles as the independent variable and business performance in SMEs as the dependent variable. The author introduces two more variables to the conceptual framework a mediating variable and a moderating variable. Organizational Culture has been introduced as the mediating variable and the leader's personality traits have been introduced as the moderating variable. H1: Leadership

styles influence business performance in SMEs positively. H2: Leadership styles influence organizational culture positively. H3: Organizational culture influences business performance in SMEs positively. H4: Leader's personality traits facilitate the leader's influence on business performance (re-worded) & H5: Leadership styles influence business performance in SMEs positively through organizational culture (re-worded)

Further, into the chapter, the author introduces operational definitions of key concepts that are used in the research and measurement indicators for each of these concepts. The next section of the chapter discusses the design of the research. The author explains that the present research used positivism as the research philosophy and uses the deductive approach. The present research uses quantitative as the research strategy and uses surveys as the research method. Questionnaire as the research tool. The unit of analysis for this research is individual and the time horizon is cross-sectional. In the next section, the author contends that SMEs in Sri Lanka have been identified as the general population and the Tourism industry in Sri Lanka has been identified as the target population. 285 SMEs were selected from the SLTDA database using Krejcie & Morgan sampling method. A 5-part questionnaire which is based on a 5point Likert scale was identified to collect data. In the next section, the author has discussed data analysis techniques and explains that descriptive analysis, correlation analysis, and regression analysis is used for the present research. Then the researcher explains the Importance of validity and reliability measures in research.

Chapter 04- Data Analysis

4.1 Introduction

In previous chapters of the present research, the author has discussed the background of the study, reviewed literature, and research methodology. In the research methodology chapter, the author has discussed data analysis tools with reference with relations to variables that are used in the research in detail. The present chapter explained the analysis of the empirical data collected by the author through the main survey process. Firstly, this chapter demonstrates how the database was prepared from the selected sample. Secondly, the author illustrates how the reliability of the variables was analyzed for this research. In the final section, the author has conducted dept data analysis.

4.2 Data Analysis Process

The author has used a 5-step process to conduct data analysis. Step 1: Identification of Data Requirements. Step 2: Data Collection. Step 3: Preparation of Database. Step 4: Data Analysis Step 5: Interpretation of results.

a. Step 1: Identification of Data Requirements. In the previous chapter, the author illustrated that in detail that the present research study is quantitative research. This research uses a survey method and uses a questionnaire that is based 5point Likert scale. SMEs in the tourism industry have been selected as the population and 285 samples were selected based on the Krejcie Morgan sampling formula.

b. Step 2: Data Collection. Data collection was performed via google forms. Link to the google form was emailed to the selected respondent.

c. Step3: Preparation of Database. Google form creates an automatic excel type database automatically and based on the database for data analysis was developed. (Please refer to section 4.3 for detailed description information).

d. Step 4: Data Analysis. Primary data analysis was done based on descriptive analysis, correlation analysis, and regression analysis.

e. Step 5: Interpretation of results. Based on the results of the analysis hypothesis test results and other finds were presented. Please refer to chapter 5 for a detailed interpretation of the results.

4.3 Preparation of Database

As mentioned in the previous chapter, a questionnaire method was used for collecting primary data. Previously, the author decided to use the postal system as the way to co. The tool Google Forms was used for data collection. The questionnaire was uploaded to a google form with the ability for participants to answer the questions based on a 5point Likert scale. Then the link to the Google Form was sent to selected SME leaders/managers via an e-mail. The leader of the SME who is directly managing employees is selected as the respondent. The leader of the organization who is directly managing the employee was identified as the respondent for the present research. For example, if a company has a chairman and he or she is directly managing the employees, he or she was selected as the respondent. If in a company there is a chairman and general manager and if the general manager is the person who is directly managing the employees, he/she was selected as the respondent.

Google Forms provided data in Microsoft Excel format. That data was downloaded onto the primary computer used for this research and used for further analysis. It was decided that a particular industry be used as the population. Based on a wide variety of factors tourism industry was selected. SLTDA maintains a registry of SMEs operating in the industry. Based on the number of SMEs registered with SLTDA it was decided to use Krejcie and Morgan Formula. On that basis 285 was determined as the suitable sample size for the research.

Owners/managers of selected SMEs were contacted and an e-mail was sent with the link to the Google Form. The questionnaire included 5 sections. Section (a) included 8 questions on basic information about the participant's background. Section (b) is the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire which included 21 questions to assess the leadership style. Section (c) is the Big 5 Personality questionnaire which included 44 questions on personality traits. Section (d) included 30 questions on organizational culture. Section (e) included 12 questions on business performance. Out of 285 selected participants 240 responses were received. These responses were carefully reviewed and 40 responses had to be taken out of the database due to the incompleteness or extremeness of the responses. Therefore, for the final analysis, 200 responses were selected. The valid response rate for this research is calculated as 70% and it is an acceptable rate for this type of research.

4.3.1 Data Entry and Handling Missing Data

The data entry process was conducted systematically. Google Forms creates an automatic Microsoft Excel format datasheet. That datasheet was downloaded to the primary research computer. After removing invalid responses, the data was entered manually to SPSS software for analysis. It has been identified that missing value is considered to have a significant influence on the outcome of the data analysis (Hair et al., 2010). The researcher identified that missing values error kept on appearing. Therefore, data has to be checked multiple times to assure the accuracy of the entered data. The researcher identified missing data is missing in some sections of the datasheet. Later, it was identified that it was due to a data entry mistake. The researcher was able to re-enter the data after careful rechecking. At the same time, 25 missing values were identified. The researcher was able to remedy the situation by using the hot and cold deck imputation techniques. The hot and cold deck imputation technique illustrates missing value can be assumed by substituting the value of a similar answer of another. Therefore, the researcher remedied the situation by paired with another case that had a similar outcome to the missing variables (Hair et al., 2010).

4.4 Sample Profile

Understanding the demographic profile of respondents is important to any research. According to Sekaran and Bougie (2011) characteristics of the demographic profile help the researcher when it comes to generalizing findings to the population (Sharma, Shimp & Shin, 1995). To create the demographic profile of the respondent, the researcher evaluated respondents based on age, gender, the role of the organization (Managing Director, Manager, Chairperson, General Manager, etc.) highest educational qualification, years of experience in the SME sector number of, type of the business, number of employees employed in the organization and the annual turnover of the business. The researcher used data collected from section (a) of the questionnaire and data was analyzed based on descriptive statistics.



Figure 4.1 Responder Demography-Gender (Source: Author's Work)

Based on descript statistical analysis (figure 4.1) male SME owners/managers amount for 51.43% of the respondents and female SME owners/managers amount for 48.57% of the respondents. Based on these results gender gap between SME owners/managers among responses appears to be insignificant.



Figure 4.2 Responder Demography-Age (Source: Author's Work)

Age plays an important factor in developing the demographic profile of respondents. Age was analyzed based on five categories. Category 1 is aged between 21- 30, category 2 is aged between 31-40, category 3 is aged between 41-50, category 4 is aged between 51-,60 and category 5 is aged above 61. Descriptive statistics illustrated that (figure 4.4) 20% of

respondents fall into category 1 and another 20% of respondents fall into category 5. 11% of respondents fall into category 4 and 9% of respondents fall into category 3. Based on the descriptive statistics 40% of the respondents fall into category 2 which is the age group between 31-40. This appears to be a significantly recognizable demographical characteristic for the age factor.



Figure 4.3 Responder Demography Managerial Position (Source: Author's Work)

A managerial position is considered the 3rd demographic factor. The present research is focused on leaders of SMEs. These leaders can be owners or managers. Therefore, for this geographic factor respondents were requested to describe their position based on the following categories and they are Owner, General Manager, Managing Director, Manager, and Chairperson. In reality, there can be a wide range of titles. However, their titles are selected to provide generalized representation. Based on descriptive statistics 5% of the respondents fall into the Owner category. 20% fall into the Managing Director category. Another 20% fall into the Manager category and for the Chairperson category number of respondents is 20%. The number of respondents who fit into the General Manager category is 35%. Based on these descriptive statistics 45% of the respondents are owners (it could be a sole proprietor, majority shareholder, or a shareholder) and 55% of the respondents are managers (employees).





Education qualifications play a vital factor when understanding the demographic profile of the respondent. Education qualification can be categories in a wide range of ways. To suit this research education qualifications were categorized under 5 categories and respondents were asked to mark their highest level of education based on the following categories and they are G.C.E. Advanced Level, Diploma, Bachelor's Degree, Professional Qualifications such as CIM, SLIM, CIMA, Charted Accountancy, etc., and Masters/MBA and above. Descriptive statistics illustrate that respondents fall into all the categories in different percentages. Only 9% of respondents have Advanced Level as the highest level of education. Respondents with Masters Degree, MBA, or even higher qualification (including post-graduate diploma, Ph.D., etc.) was estimated as 11% out of all the. Diploma holders accounted for 22% of the respondents and the same diploma holders accounted for 29% of respondents. Diploma holders and degree holders have the exact percentage and it is the highest percentage there is. Respondents with Advanced level as the highest percentage there is. Respondents with Advanced level as the highest percentage there is. Respondents with Advanced level as the highest percentage there is. Respondents with Advanced level as the highest percentage there is. Respondents with Advanced level as the highest qualification accounted for the lowest number of respondents.



Figure 4.5 Responder Demography- Years of Experience in SME Sector (Source: Author's Work)

The researcher believes that the number of years of experience is an important factor in understanding the demographic profile. The researcher categories years of experience 1-2 years of experience, 3-5 years of experience, 3. 6 - years of experience 11-20 years of experience, and more than 20 years of experience. Descriptive statistics indicate that only 4% of respondents had 1-2 years of experience in the SME sector. Respondents with over 20 years of experience amount to 6% of the respondents. Respondents with 3-5 years amount for 21% of the respondents while respondents with 11-20 years of experience amount for 26% of the whole respondents. It appears that 43% of respondents fall into the group of 6-10 years of experience category. That is almost half of the entire respondents' population.



Figure 4.6 Responder Demography-

Number of Employees (Source: Author's Work)

The number of employees in the organization is another vital demographic factor in assessing the demographic profile. This factor helps the researcher to get a sense of the size of the organization. The number of employees was categorized as 1-5 employees, 6-10 employees, 11-20 employees, 21-50 employees, and more than 50 employees. Based on descriptive statistics a significantly small amount of respondents are in charge of organizations with less than 5 employees. Only 10% of respondents manage organizations with over 50 employees. At the same time, 11% of respondents manage organizations with 6-10 employees. The lion share of the respondents which is 73% of the total respondents manage organizations with 1120 and 21-50 employees.



Figure 4.7 Responder Demography- Annual Turnover (Source: Author's Work)

Annual turnover is another influenceable factor in understanding the demographic profile of respondents. Annual turnover is categorized under 5 categories and they are less than 4 million, between 4 million and 10 million, between 11million and 50 million, between 51million and 100 million, and above100 million (these numbers are in Sri Lankan rupee terms). The least number of respondents fall in category 1 which is less than 4million LKR. Only 5% of respondents fall into that category. Only 6% of respondents manage business over 100 million annual turnovers. The majority of the respondents manage a business with annual turnover between 11-50 million and 50-100million which amounts to 74% (41% & 33%) of overall respondents.

4.4 Reliability Test

Based on the information provided by the author in chapter 03, a reliability test was conducted to measure the internal consistency and reliability. The author used Cronbach's alpha coefficient to measure the reliability of each element. A reliability test was performed before conducting the validity test. This research consists of one independent variable, one dependent variable, one moderating variable, and a mediating variable. The questionnaire was divided into subsections based on variables. Each of these variables has indicators varying from 5 to 7. These variables were used in designing the questionnaire. Please refer to the below table for the summary of the information.

Variable	No of Items	Cronbach's Alpha
independent variable - Leadership Styles	21	.809
dependent variable - Business Performance	12	.735
moderating variable - Personality Traits of the Leader	44	.547
mediating variable - Organizational Culture	30	.966

Table 4.1 Reliability Statistics- Cronbach's Alpha (Source: Author's Work)

Based on table 4.1 Cronbach's Alpha value of variable remains <0.5. Moderating variable (Personality Traits of the Leader) shows a low Cronbach's Alpha value which is .547. The other 3 variable indicates Cronbach's Alpha value <0.7 and mediating variable - Organizational Culture indicates a Cronbach's Alpha value close to 1.0.

4.5 Validity Test

Based on the previous chapter validity testing is a vital component of research when it comes to measuring the accuracy of the research and collected data. On the other hand validity test give an indicator of the level of precision of the research and collected data. To validate the independent variable, dependent variable, mediating variable, and moderating variable the researcher selected the Kaiser –Meyer -Olkin (KMO) tests and Sphericity by Bartlett's Test.

4.5.1 Uni-Dimensionality Test

Uni-Dimensionality test is conducted right before conducting validity testing. It provides a meaningful construct summarize construct with numbers that can be easy to understand (Hattie, 1985). The ideal way to analyze Uni-Dimensionality is by calculating factor loading. It is important to check whether factor loadings are equal to or greater than 0.45 before moving into validity testing. Ziegler & Hagemann, (2015) points out that this test provides satisfactory results in a circumstance where a single indicator measures a single dimension within the construct.

Uni-dimensionality test analyzed for the present research based on rotated component matrix table for all 4 variables.

No	Variables	Measurement Indicator	Component	Components 2
			1	
01	Leadership Styles	Idealized influence	.729	-
		Inspirational motivation	.922	-
		Intellectual stimulation	.920	-
		Individual consideration	.950	-
		Contingent reward	.916	-
		Management-by-exception	.915	-
		Laissez-faire leadership	.901	-
02	Business Performance	Financial performance	.723	-
	renomance	Non-financial performance	.715	-

03	Organizational	Communication	.8912	-
	Culture	Decision making	.877	-
		Change	.922	-
		Growth	.852	-
		Management	.832	-
04	Personality Traits	Openness	.7371	-
		Conscientiousness	.766	-
		Extraversion	.714	-
		Agreeableness	.740	-
		Neuroticism	.778	-

 Table 4.2 Rotated Component Matrix (Source: Author's Work)

Source: Based on Author's Data Analysis based on Component Analysis - Kaiser Normalization.

Based on table 4.2 rotated component matrix, it is evident that for all measurement indicators factors all the variables, the loading is higher than 0.45 (>0.45) clearly illustrates that all the factors. Therefore, the researcher has satisfied that uni-dimensionality test for the variable of this research.

4.5.2 Convergent Validity

It is considered that measuring convergent validity is important for any kind of research. Convergent validity is used to analyses up to what degree the findings of the present research correlate with previous theoretical understanding. At the same time, convergent validity is used to analyze the correlation between elements of the related concepts. For the present research, the researcher has conducted **Convergent Validity** based on the KMO Test (Kaiser Meyer Olkin) and BTS Test (Bartlett's Test of Sphericity) using SPSS software.

4.5.3 KMO Test (Kaiser Meyer Olkin Test)

KMO test is primarily used to measure the accuracy of the collected data. At the same time, the test is used to measure how far data deviated with factor analysis. KMP test points towards sustainability quantity sampling suitability for the entire module as well as for individual
elements. At the same time, the KMO test is used to determine the validity of factor analysis enumerating adequacy. The value of the KMO test must be higher than 0.5 (>0.5) for a research context to be accepted as valid. When the KMO value is toward 1.0 it is considered desirable and when the value of close to 0.5 it is considered undesirable. Vale between 1.0 and 0.8 is a highly desirable range.

4.5.4 Bartlett's Test of Sphericity (BTS Test)

Bartlett's Test of Sphericity shows the suitability and validity of the research. Therefore, the researcher believes that it is important to incorporate the BTS test for the present research. At the same time, the author believes that BTS Test is relevant for this research because of the topic of the research.

No	Variables	Measurement Indicator	KMO Test	BTS Test	Significance
01	Leadership Styles	Idealized influence	.729	891.231	0.0
		Inspirational motivation	.675	471.250	0.0
		Intellectual stimulation	.701	473.390	0.0
		Individual consideration	.734	597.867	0.0
		Contingent reward	.742	390.703	0.0
		Management-by-exception	.744	476.202	0.0
		Laissez-faire leadership	.620	448.039	0.0
02	Business Performance	Financial performance	.623	891.231	0.0
		Non-financial performance	.715	973.211	0.0
03	Organizational	Communication	.773	1949.731	0.0
	Culture	Decision making	.877	739.861	0.0
		Change	.665	1043.288	0.0
		Growth	.631	1076.837	0.0
		Management	.580	976.837	0.0
04	Personality Traits	Openness	.737	2574.363	0.0
		Conscientiousness	.834	2174.311	0.0
		Extraversion	.790	1134.063	0.0
		Agreeableness	.637	974.250	0.0
		Neuroticism	.778	2177.153	0.0

Table 4.3 Convergent Validity for all variables (Source: Author's Work)

Based on table 4.2 the LMO value remains above >0.5 for all variables and elements. The BTS value is recorded below 0.05. Therefore, the convent validity for the research appears to be at acceptable levels.

4.6 Independent Variable Responses and Frequencies -Leadership Styles

The independent variable of the research is leadership styles (leadership styles of the SME owner/manager). Leadership styles were studied under 3 leadership categories and are Transformational Leadership, Transactional Leadership, and Passive-avoidance leadership, and 7 elements/ measurement indicators (Bass and Avolio, 1990). The below table illustrates the way respondents reacted to leadership style questions based on descriptive statistics and frequency analysis.

Variables		Measurement Indicator	1. Not at all	. Once in a while	. Sometimes	. Fairly often	. Frequently, if not always	Mean Value	Standard Deviation
Leadership Styles	lational	Idealized influencer	-	20.0	20.0	32.0	28.0	3.6600	0.76638
	Leadership Tenor Styles Junto Leadership Tenor Leadership Tenor Leader	Inspirational motivation	-	20.0	20.0	28.0	32.0	3.6800	1.14198
		Intellectual stimulation	-	26.0	28.0	20.0	26.0	3.4600	1.13793
		Individual consideration	-	28.0	12.0	26.0	34.0	3.6600	1.21316
	Transactiona	Contingent reward	-	12.0	28.0	18.0	42.0	3.9000	1.08438
	Tran 1	Management- by-exception	-	20.0	20.0	25.0	35.0	4.0000	1.26809
	Passive- Avoidance	Managementby- exception		20.0	20.0	25.0	35.0	4.0000	1.26809
	Pa: Av	Laissez-faire leadership	20.0	12.0	20.0	14.0	34.0	3.3000	1.53026

Table 4.4 Descriptive Statistics for Leadership Styles (Source: Author's Work)

To collect responses from the questionnaire five-point Likert scale was used by the researcher. Deliberating to scale the mean value to remain between 1 to 5. Mean value between 3.67 to 5

is recognized as high on the scale and mean value between 2.33 and recognized as low on the scale. A mean value between 3.6 and 2.33 is recognized as a medium.



Figure 4.8 Mean Scale (Source: Author's Work)

Based on the analysis the mean value for all 7 indicators for the independent variable (leadership styles of the owner/manager of SMEs) remained above 3.4 and 3.67 indicating medium level men value while, measurement indicators Inspirational motivation, Contingent reward, and Management-by-exception had a mean value above 3.67 which indicates high mean value. The standard deviation for measurement indicators ranges from 0.76638 to 1.53026 where the Idealized influencers had the lowest value and the Laissez-faire leadership indicator had the highest.

4.7 Dependent Variable Responses and Frequencies – Business Performance

Business performance is the dependent variable for the research. A researcher-developed questionnaire was used based on Financial Indicator which is based on financial KPIs) and Non-Financial indicator which is based on non-financial KPIs. Hence, the below table illustrates descriptive and frequencies associated with the responses and mean value and standard deviation for each indicator.

Variables	Measurement Indicator	1. Not at all	. Once in a 2 while	. Sometimes	. Fairly often	. Frequently, if not always	Mean Value	Standard Deviation
Business Performance	Financial performance	-	20.0 6.0	6.0	46.0	28.0	3.707	0.752
	Non-financial performance	-	20.0	20.0	28.0	32.0	3.520 0	.72956

Table 4.5 Descriptive Statistics for Dependent Variable – Business Performance (Source: Author's Work)

4.8 Mediating Variable Responses and Frequencies – Organization Culture

Organizational Culture has been identified as the mediating variable for this research. A researcher-developed questionnaire was used to collect information based on five indicators. Those five factors are Communication, Decision Making, Change, Growth, and Management. The below table illustrates descriptive and frequencies associated with the responses and means value and standard deviation for each indicator.

Variables	Measurement Indicator	1. Not at all	. Once in a while	. Sometimes	. Fairly often	. Frequently, if not always	Mean Value	Standard Deviation
Organization al Culture	Communication	-	20.0	6.0	46.0	28.0	3.707	0.752
	Decision making	14.0	6.0	4.0	30.	46	3.107	.93637
	Change		20.0	6.0	46.0	28.0	2.255	.91969
	Growth	8.0	20.0	-	40.0	32.0	2.707	.86495
	Management	-	20.0	20.0	28.0	32.0	3.520	.72956

Table 4.6 Descriptive Statistics for Mediating Variable-Organizational Culture (Source: Author's Work)

4.9 Moderating Variable Responses and Frequencies – Personality traits of the business owner/manager

Personality traits of the leader have been identified as the moderating variable. The Big 5 personality questionnaire was used to collect information and 5 personality traits that are described in the Big 5 personality model: Openness, Conscientiousness, Extraversion, Agreeableness, and Neuroticism used as measurement indicators.

Variable	Measurement Indicator	1. Not at all	Disagree	. Neither agree nor disagree	Agree a little	. Strongly Agree	Mean Value	Standard Deviation
Personality	Openness	-	20.0		66.0	14.0	3.7200	0.752
Traits of the								
Leader								
	Conscientiousness	-	20.0		68.0	12.0	3.7400	.86495
	Extraversion		20.0		66.0	14.0	3.7200	.67727
	Agreeableness		20.0		68.0	12.0	4.1600	.91969
	Neuroticism		12.0	56.0	18.0	14.0	3.3400	.93637

Table 4.7 Descriptive Statistics for Moderating Variable-Personality Traits (Source: Author's Work)

4.10 Data Analysis

4.10.1 Correlation Analysis

The correlation coefficient is primarily used to analyze the linear affiliation between two elements. It is used to summarize trends and patterns. By using the correlation coefficient, it can be identified that what is the relations ship between elements. The correlation coefficient can be performed even those the indicators are not exact in liner pattern. According to Hedges and Olkin (1985), the correlation coefficient is largely practiced to calculate the shared connotations with the two arithmetical approaches. At the same time, it is understood that the correlation coefficient can also be used to measure how two concepts influence each other (Klein and Ettenson, 1999). Based on multiple factors the author deemed it is appropriate to conduct correlation analysis for the research. Correlation coefficient values range from -1 to 1

(minus 01 and positive 1). This value system indicates the direction of the correlation. If the value is between 0 and +1 the trend is upward. If the value is between 0 and -1 the trend is downwards. If the correlation coefficient value is 0 the trend is leveled. If the correlation coefficient is close to +1 or -1 correlation coefficient value is considered stronger and if the correlation coefficient value is close to 0, the correlation coefficient is considered weaker.



Figure 4.9 Correlations Scale (Source: Author's Work)

4.10.2 Regression Analysis

The author has decided to use regression analysis for the present research. Regression analysis is a reliable analysis tool that can be used in research such as this. Regression analysis is ideal for hypothesis testing and to measure the relationship between variables in a conceptual framework. It allows researchers to analyze the association between multiple variables. The present research consists of multiple variables. Therefore, using regression analysis indicates the level of correlation between variables. Therefore, regression analysis can tell what variables have the greater impact and what variables have a weaker impact on each other. The ability to get that information is vital for this research because research is intended to find what leadership styles it the best for greater business performance. Therefore, regression analysis is ideal for this research.

At the same time, regression analysis offers insights in detail that can be used for future purposes. Regression analysis allows the researcher to understand what factors matter in the research. Regression analysis can be divided into subcategories such as a coefficient table, ANOVA table, multiple linear regression analysis, modules summer table, etc. When it comes to analyzing interrelatedness between theories, a regression can be considered an effective tool (Vegas, 2010).

4.10.2.1 Multi Linear Regression (MLR)

Multi Liner Regression (also known is as multiple regression) is one of the most common and highly effective techniques that is used by researchers to analyze variable outcomes. It is an extension of linear regression. Linear regression is used to analyze a single explanatory variable. Multi Liner Regression is used when multiple variables need to be explored. Multi Liner Regression is relevant for the research because a linear relationship can be found between the independent variable and dependent variable in this research. SPSS software has been used for this research.

4.10.3 Hypothesis 01

			Business Performance
Transformational Leadership Style	Pearson Correlation	1	.312**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001
	N	200	200
Fransactional Leadership Style	Pearson Correlation	1	.273**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001
	N	200	200
Passive Avoidance Leadership	Pearson Correlation	1	.154*
Style	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001
	N	200	200

4.10.3.1 Correlation Analysis

Table 4.8 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 01 (Source: Author's Work)

Based on table 4.8 it is clear that all 3 leadership styles have a positive impact on business performance. TFL indicate to have the strongest correlation and the Passive-Avoidance leadership style has the weakest correlation to business performance. Based on what is being illustrated in table 4.8, hypothesis 01 is tested positively. Therefore, is it is conformed that leadership styles influence business performance in SMEs positively.

4.10.3.2 Regression Analysis

Hypothesis		Regression	Beta	R	F	t-value	P-value	Hypotheses
		Weight	Coefficient	Square				Supported
H 1	TFL >BP	TFL >BP	.654	.933	911.950	11.9458	<.001b	Yes
	TSL >BP	TSL ->BP	.421	.933	911.950	10.943	<.001b	
	PAVL > BP	PAVL > BP	.208	.933	911.950	3.657	<.001b	

Table 4.9 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 01 (Source: Author's Work)

Table 4.9 illustrates the testing of hypothesis 01. The Independent Variable has been divided into 3 indicators and they are TFL, TSL, and PAVL. Leadership style predicts business performance F = 911.950, p, <.001b, which indicates that leadership styles have an impact on business performance. Table 4.9 indicates that among all 3 leadership styles TFL (b=.654, p, <.001b) has the highest influence on business performance.

4.10.4 Hypothesis 02

		Organizational Culture
Transformational Leadership Styles	Pearson Correlation	.700**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001
Transformation Leadershin Styles	N	200
Transformation Leadership Styles	Pearson Correlation	.398**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001
	N	200
Passive-Avoidance Leadership Style	Pearson Correlation	.488**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001
	N	200

4.10.4.1 Correlation Analysis

Table 4.10 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 02 (Source: Author's Work)

Based on table 4.10 it is clear that all 3 leadership styles have a positive impact on organizational culture. Transformational leadership styles indicate to have the strongest correlation and the TSL has the weakest correlation to organizational culture. TFL appears to have a much higher influence on organizational culture. Based on table 4.10, hypothesis 02 is tested positive. Therefore, it is confirmed that leadership styles influence organizational culture positively.

Hyp 1	thesi	Regression	Beta	R	F	t-value	P-value	Hypotheses
S		Weight	Coefficient	Square				Supported
H 2		TFL > OC	.855	.891	908.950	18.801	<.001b	Yes
		TSL > OC	.356	.891	908.950	13.504	<.001b	
		PAVL - OC	.489	.891	908.950	11.102	<.001b	

4 10 4 5	D '	A 1 •
4 10 4 2	Regression	Analysis
	itegi ebbion	1 Mildi y 515

Table 4.11 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 02 (Source: Author's Work)

Table 4.11 illustrates the testing of hypothesis 02. The Independent Variable has been divided into 3 indicators and they are TFL, TSL, and PAVL. Leadership style predicts the performance of organizational culture F = 911.950, p, <.001b, which indicates that leadership styles have a significant impact on organizational culture. Table 4.11 indicates that among all 3 leadership styles TFL (b=.855, p, <.001b) has the highest influence on organizational culture. business performance and TSLs (b=.356, p, <.001b) have the least influence on organizational culture.

4.10.5 Hypothesis 03

4.10.5.1 Correlation Analysis

		Business Performance
Organizational Culture	Pearson Correlation	.703**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001
	N	200

Table 4.12 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 03 (Source: Author's Work)

Based on table 4.12 it is clear that organizational culture has a positive impact on business performance. The impact can be considered as a strong correlation. Based on the results of

table 4.12, hypothesis 03 is tested positive. Therefore, it is confirmed that organizational culture influences business performance in SMEs positively.

Hypothesi s	Regression Weight	Beta Coefficien t	R Square	F	Pvalue	Hypotheses Supported
H 3	OC>BP	.492	.531	150.350	<.000	Yes

4.10.5.2 Regression Analysis

Table 4.13 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 03 (Source: Author's Work)

Table 4.13 illustrates the testing of hypothesis 03. Organizational culture predicts the business performance F = 150.350, p, <.000, which indicates that leadership styles have a significant impact on organizational culture. Table 4.13 indicates that a (b=.492, p, <.000) organizational culture has a significant influence on organizational culture.

4.10.6 Hypothesis 04

4.10.6.1 Correlation Analysis

		Business Performance
Leaders Personality Traits	Pearson Correlation	.321**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001
	N	200

Table 4.14 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 04 (Source: Author's Work)

Based on table 4.14 it is clear that a leader's personality traits have a positive impact on business performance. The impact can be considered as a medium-level correlation. Based on the results of table 4.14, hypothesis 04 is tested positive. Therefore, it is confirmed Leader's personality traits facilitate the leader's influence on business performance.

4.10.6.2 Regression Analysis

Hypothesi s	Regression Weight	Beta Coefficient	R Square	F	P-value	Hypotheses Supported
H 4	PT > BP	.623	. 571	891.652	<.000	Yes

Table 4.15 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 04 (Source: Author's Work)

Table 4.15 illustrates the testing of hypothesis 04. Personality traits of the leader predict the business performance F = 191.652, p, <.000, which indicates that personality traits of the leadership have a significant impact on business performance. Table 4.15 indicates that a (b=.623, p, <.000) leader's personality traits have a significant influence on business performance.

4.10.7 Hypothesis 05

4.10.7.1 Correlation Analysis

			Business Performance
Transformational Leadership Style	Pearson Correlation	1	.312**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001
	N	200	200
Transactional Leadership Style	Pearson Correlation	1	.273**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001
	N	200	200
Passive Avoidance Leadership Style	Pearson Correlation	1	.154*
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001
	N	200	200
Organizational Culture	Pearson Correlation		.703**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001
	N		200

Table 4.16 Correlations Coefficient for Hypothesis 05 (Source: Author's Work)

Based on table 4.16 it is clear that leadership styles can affect business performance through organizational culture. Table 4.16 indicates that leadership styles influence business performance in different intensiveness's. TFL appear to have an effective level of influence on business performance while organizational culture intends to have significant influence.

Hypothesis	Regression	Beta	R	F	t-value	P-value	Hypotheses
	Weight	Coefficient	Square				Supported
Н 5	TFL>OC	.855	.723	721.941	16.401	<.001b	Yes
Transformation al	OC>BP	.492	.723	721.941	10.000	<.001b	
Transactional	TSL>OC	.356	.723	721.941	10.454	<.001b	
	OCBP	.492	.723	721.941	11.454	<.001b	
Passive- Avoidance	PAVL>OC	.489	.723	721.941	12.145	<.001b	
Avoidance	OC>BP	.492	.723	721.941	11.123	<.001b	

4.10.7.2 Regression Analysis

Table 4.17 Regression Analysis for Hypothesis 05 (Source: Author's Work)

Table 4.17 illustrates the testing of hypothesis 05. For this testing, the author has used 2 independent variables and one dependent variable. Leadership styles (independent variable 01) and organizational culture (independent variable 02) have been identified as independent variables and for this testing, the author has used leadership styles and organizational culture as predicting variables and business performance as the dependent variable. The Independent Variable 01 (leadership styles) has been divided into 3 indicators and they are TFL, TSL, and PAVL. Leadership style predicts the performance of organizational culture have a significant impact on business performance. Table 4.17 indicates that among all 3 leadership styles TFL (b=.855, p, <.001b) has the highest influence on business performance through organizational culture.

4.12 Hypothesis Test Summary

Hypotheses testing has been conducted based on correlation analysis and regression analysis. In section 4.10 inadept analysis of correlation has been conducted and in section 4.11 in-depth analysis of regression has been conducted. All 5 hypotheses were tested using both correlation analysis and regression analysis. The below table represents the summarized details of analyses conducted.

Hypotheses	Relationship	Status- Regression Analysis	Status-Regression Analysis
H1: Leadership styles influence business performance in SMEs positively	LS BF TF BF TS BF PV BF	Accepted	Accepted
H2: Leadership styles influence organizational culture positively	LS OC TF OC TS OC PV OC	Accepted	Accepted
H3: Organizational culture influences business performance in SMEs positively	OC BP	Accepted	Accepted
H4: Leader's personality traits facilitate the leader's influence on business performance	LS BP T PT	Accepted	Accepted
H5: Leadership styles influence business performance in SMEs positively through organizational culture	LS —OC →BP	Accepted	Accepted

Table 4.18 Hypotheses Testing – Summary – (Source: Author's Work)

As illustrated in table 4.18 it can be confirmed that all 5 hypotheses have been tested and accepted as valid in both correlation analysis and regression analysis. Therefore, it can be identified that leadership styles have a positive impact on business performance and organizational culture in SMEs in Sri Lanka. At the same time, it can be identified that leaders of SMEs in Sri Lanka can influence business performance through organizational culture. Personality traits of the leader have a mediating influence on the business performance.

Chapter 5 – Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 Introduction

The present research is to explore how leadership style affects business performance in SMEs. The examination was conducted on SMEs operating in the tourism industry in Sri Lanka. Two hundred SME leaders were surveyed based on a quantitative method to draw the conclusion of the research. The present research is to contribute to the body of knowledge on to the domain of leadership, business performance, and the SME sector. Lack of studies has been conducted on leadership style and business performance in SMEs in the Sri Lankan context, especially together with organizational culture and leader's personality traits.

In the first section of the chapter, the author has critically evaluated key findings of the study in regard to how it addresses the research gap identified in the literature review. The second section discusses the general conclusion of this research with reference to research objectives. In the third section of this chapter, the author expressed his recommendations to SME leaders and other interested parties on how leadership affects the business performance in SMEs. In the final section, the author has discussed the room for future research and exploration possibilities.

5.2 Key Finding

Research objectives were primarily fixated on adding new knowledge to the existing body of knowledge empirical data. The findings of the research have both theoretical and practical contributions. The research findings of this research can be applicable not just to the tourism industry but to the SME sector in Sri Lanka in general. At the same time findings of this research can be applied to global contexts as well. The findings can help SMEs grow and prosper. Research findings have been laid out according to research objectives.

5.2.1 Leadership styles affect business performance

Limited research has been done in the SME sector in Sri Lanka, especially with reference to leadership and business performance. Because of that, this research brings a new perspective to the research domain.

The research questionnaire identified three leadership styles, TFL, TSL, and passiveavoidance leadership style. Analysis of empirical data suggested that all three leadership styles have a positive impact on business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. However, it was recorded that not all three leadership styles swayed business performance in the same manner. TFL indicated to have the highest impact on business performance in SMEs while passive avoidance indicated to have the least level of influence on business performance. Transactional leadership was indicated to have a greater level of influence over business performance than passive avoidance leadership but, it was much lesser than the influence of TFL. Avolio et al (1999) also points out that leadership has an impact on business performance and individual performance. At the same time, transactional leadership is less effective in swaying business performance than transformational leadership. Based on the findings it can be confirmed that leadership styles have an influence on business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka.

5.2.2 Leadership styles and organizational culture

Organizational culture plays a significant role in any organization. It can be identified that limited studies have been conducted to measure how leadership styles affect business performance in the SME context in Sri Lanka. Therefore, this can be considered as the first empirical attempt to explore the subject area.

Empirical data was conducted based on three leadership styles, TFL, TSL, and passiveavoidance leadership styles. The analysis of empirical data suggested that all three leadership styles have an influence on organizational culture in SMEs in Sri Lanka. However not all leadership styles have the same level of influence on organizational culture. Bass and Avolio, (1993) also agree that the leadership style influences organizational culture. TFL is indicated to have the highest influence on organizational culture. It can be considered as a significantly high level of influence on organizational culture. TSL has the least level of influence on organizational culture and the passive-avoidance leadership style has a slightly higher significant level of influence on organizational culture. It can be observed that the impact of transformational leadership on organizational culture is almost twice the influence

112

of TSL. Bass and Avolio, (1993) also confirm that transformational leadership has a greater impact on organizational culture. Therefore, it can be assumed that leadership styles have an influence on organizational culture.

5.2.3 Organizational culture affects business performance

Organizational culture has been studied as an influencer of business performance by researchers. However, limited research has been done to understand how organizational culture affects business performance in SMEs in the Sri Lankan context. Therefore, the findings of this research on the subject matter are important. Both correlation analysis and regression analysis clearly indicate that organizational culture influence business performance in SMEs. Umrani et al (2017) based the study conducted in Pakistani context also confirms that organizational culture sways business performance. Correlation analysis indicates that organizational culture has a significant influence on business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. Regression analysis also indicates that organizational culture has a considerable influence on business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka.

5.2.4 A leader influence business performance through organizational culture

It has been identified that during hypothesis testing that leadership styles (TFL, TSL, have an impact on business performance directly. For this research organizational culture has been brought in as a mediating factor between leadership and business performance. Based on empirical data the author has identified that leadership styles influence organizational culture and each leadership style impacts organizational culture differently. Empirical evidence also suggested that organizational culture influence business performance. Based on all the relevant data it can be identified that leadership styles can influence business performance through organizational culture and not all leadership styles influence business performance same way. Yıldırım and Birinci (2013) suggest that leadership style and organizational culture are predictors of business performance.

Empirical evidence has indicated that transactional leadership has the highest level of styles that influence business performance in SMEs through organizational culture. TSL can be considered as the leadership style that has the least level of influence on business performance through organizational culture and passive-avoidance leadership has a slightly greater influence on business performance than TSL. At the same time Yıldırım and Birinci, (2013)

describe transformational leadership to have a greater influence on business performance through organizational culture.

5.2.5 Moderating effect of leader's personality traits

The author wished to add an extra element to the research by adding a moderating variable to the conceptual framework. In section 5.2.4 the author has explained that organizational culture can be a mediator in predicting business performance. By adding personality traits as a moderator, the author attempts to explain the explain how leadership styles influence business performance. The big five personality model was used to analyze the personality traits of the leaders of SMEs. According to the big five personality models, there are five distinct personality traits to a person, openness, consciousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism. The leadership model that was used in this research and the big five personality model can be associated. Each of the leadership styles in the full range model (TFL, TSL, and passive-avoidance leadership style) can be linked with personality traits in the big five personality model. TFL shows high scores on Extraversion, Openness to Experience, Agreeableness, and Conscientiousness while passive-avoidance leadership style and transformational leadership shows a high score on Neuroticism. Andersen, (2006) also recognized leader's personality traits affect performance. Especially, business performance and employee job performance. Based on empirical data it can be understood that a leader's personality traits influence the leader's ability to influence the business performance in SMEs. That influence can be identified as a recognizable level of influence. Therefore, it can be confirmed that a leader's personality traits act as a moderator between the leader's ship style and the leader's ability to influence business performance.

5.3 Conclusion and Implications

Implications of this research study have both practical and academic significance. The below sections illustrate the conclusion and implications.

5.3.1 Practical Implications

The findings of the present research have a significant practical contribution to the SME sector in Sri Lanka. Lack of research into the SME sector has created gaps in understanding how certain aspects of the SME sector operate and how to maximize efficiencies and profitability. Due to a lack of research into studies into leadership and business performance in the SMEs sector in Sri Lanka, SME owner and leaders are unaware of what styles of leadership is ideal for greater business performance. At the same time, policymakers in Sri Lanka lack the information to develop the right policies that contribute to greater business performance in SMEs. The present research study sheds light on this subject matter. By understanding the findings of the present research SME leaders and followers can adopt the best practices in their leadership and gain greater business performance.

5.3.1.1 Implications for SME Leaders

a. Leadership style and business performance

The research has identified that all three leadership styles (TFL, TSL, and passive-avoidance leadership style) have influence in business performance in SMEs in Sri Lanka. The present research has identified that TFL have a greater influence on business performance. Therefore, now the SME leaders and managers are aware of what leadership styles to practice to gain greater business performance in their SME. The present research has pointed that the passiveavoidance leadership style is the least effective in creating a business performance in SMEs. Therefore, SME leaders can now avoid passive-avoidance leadership styles in their leadership practices.

b. Use of Mediator and Moderator

Since there is a lack of research into how organizational culture and leader's personality traits affect business performance SME leaders are previously not aware of the role organizational culture and leader's personality traits play. The present research has identified that organizational culture influence business performance in SMEs and leader can influence organizational culture. Therefore, the leader of an SME can influence business performance by influencing organizational culture. The present research compared all three leadership styles with organizational culture to identify what leadership styles would have a greater influence on organizational culture. The author has identified that TFL have a greater than other leadership styles. Therefore, the author recommends a TFL for greater organizational culture.

Research findings describe the personality traits of the leader as a mediator of business performance. The research has identified that a leader's personality traits mediate business performance in a considerable way. This is new information for SME leaders in Sri Lanka. The present research has linked personality traits with each leadership style. The present research has identified that transformational leadership style as the leadership style that contribute to greater business performance in SMEs directly and through organizational culture. SME leaders can adopt personality traits of TFL and gain greater business performance in their SME.

5.3.1.2 Implications for Policymakers

The findings of the present research point out important implications for policymakers in Sri Lanka. For the last two decades, the government of Sri Lanka has paid significant interest in the SME sector as the front runner for economic growth in Sri Lanka. Tourism is one of the key industries that the Sri Lankan government had paid special attention to. Therefore, the implications of the present research are valuable for policymakers. This research has identified that leadership as a driving force in business performance in SMEs. Therefore, policymakers can develop policies with that in mind. At the same time, the present research has identified TFL as the most suited leadership style for greater business performance. Policymakers can use this information when developing training educational programs for the SME sector. Government agencies operating in the tourism industry are regularly conduct training and other supportive projects. Officials who conduct such projects can use the information acquired in the present research.

The present research has identified that organizational culture can be used to sway business performance in SMEs. Policymakers can use this new information when developing training and development programs. Through training programs, SME leaders can be educated to improve organizational culture. At the same time with this information policymakers can set rules and guidelines that can promote organizational culture. The present research has identified that transformational leadership to be the leadership style that contributes to greater business performance directly and through organizational culture. At the same time, the present research has identified personality traits that are associated with TFL. Policymakers can use that information in the training and development of SMEs. Specialize training programs can be designed for SME leaders and employees to develop these personality traits in them. Also, the information given in section 4.3 sample profile, can be useful for getting an

idea of the demography of the SME sector in Sri Lanka. Demographic factors such as gender balance, age, educational background, etc. That information can be helpful in policymaking.

5.3.2 Academic Implication

Leadership is a highly researched area of study and business and what factors affect business performance is also an area that has been thoroughly studied. However, it has been identified that not enough studies have been conducted on how leadership styles affect business performance in SMEs. Even among these, it is difficult to discover a mutually agreed opinion on what styles of leadership affect the business performance the best. Therefore, the findings of the present research bring important discoveries into the field.

The present research has identified that transformational leadership as the leadership style that creates greater business performance in SMEs. There are a number of researchers who have also had come to the same outcome. Therefore, the present research validates that theory. At the same time, the present research points out that transactional leadership has less influence on business and PAVL have the least influence on business performance. This discovery affirms one of the previous theories by other researchers who have conducted similar research in different contexts.

The present research included a mediating variable and a moderating variable. Organizational culture as the mediating variable and leader's personality traits as the moderating variable. That makes this research unique. Therefore, the present research brings forth an original contribution to the body of knowledge. The present research introduces that organizational culture influence business performance in SMEs as new knowledge to the body of literature. The present research has discovered that the leader of an SME can influence business performance in SME by influencing organizational culture. This is a valuable contribution to the body of knowledge in the domain of leadership.

Previous literature has connected leadership styles in full range model (TFL, TSL, and passive-avoidance leadership styles) with personality traits described in big five personalities (extraversion, openness to experience, agreeableness, conscientiousness, and neuroticism). The present research has proven that the personality traits of the leader mediate the leader's ability to create business performance in SMEs. At the same time, the TFL has been identified to be the leadership style that has the greater influence on business performance. It has been identified that transactional leaders have a high score on (big five leadership test) extraversion, openness to experience, agreeableness, conscientiousness. Therefore, the present research has

identified that extraversion, openness to experience, agreeableness, conscientiousness contribute to greater business performance in SMEs.

5.4 Recommendation for Future Research

The present study highlights the following areas for future research purposes.

5.4.1 Recommendation based on the theoretical perspective

As indicated by literature similar research has been conducted on the same domain (leadership styles and SMEs) in various geographical and cultural contexts. There are many other geographical and cultural contexts where this research can be conducted. Geographical locations such as South America, North America, etc. can be recommended. The present research is based on the full-range leadership model. Future researchers can conduct the same research based on other leadership theories and models. The present research has used organizational culture and the mediating variable and personality traits as the moderating variable. Future researchers can look into different mediating variables and moderating variables.

5.4.2 Recommendations for Sri Lanka researchers

Within Sri Lankan, context future researchers have the opportunity to conduct the same research-based on qualitative methods. The qualitative methods can bring outcomes with a descriptive out. At the same time combination of both qualitative and quantitative can be explored. For the present research, the tourism industry was selected as the target population due to the representative nature of the industry with the SME sector in Sri Lanka. Future researchers can look into industries other than the tourism industry for their research. Industries such as hospitality, logistics, etc. can be used in future research.

References

Adair, J.E., 2002. Effective strategic leadership. London: Macmillan.

Adler, R.W. and Reid, J., 2008. The effects of leadership styles and budget participation on job satisfaction and job performance. Asia-Pacific Management Accounting Journal, 3(1), pp.21-46, viewed on 15th of October 2020,

http://arionline.uitm.edu.my/ojs/index.php/APMAJ/article/view/102

Ahmad, A.R., Tan, L.S., Ng, K.S., Md Yusoff, R. and Md Sapry, H.R., 2017. Key performance indicators used to measure SMEs business performance.

Albloshi, F.A. and Nawar, Y.S., 2015. Assessing the impact of leadership styles on organisational performance: the case of Saudi Private SME's. Journal of Organizational Studies and Innovation, 2(2), pp.66-77, viewed on 27th December 2021, http://mbacademy.org.uk/journals/2014-2015/vol-2/issue-2/Fahad%20Abdulaziz%20Albloshi%20and%20Yehia%20Sabri%20Nawar.pdf

Alon, I., Boulanger, M., Meyers, J. and Taras, V., 2016. The development and validation of the business cultural intelligence quotient. Cross Cultural & Strategic Management, viewed on 10th Septemebr 2020, https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/345085433.pdf

Aliyu, M.S., Rogo, H.B. and Mahmood, R., 2015. Knowledge management, entrepreneurial orientation and firm performance: The role of organizational culture. Asian Social Science, 11(23), p.140, viewed on 9th of January 202,

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mukhtar_Shehu_Aliyu/publication/282899825_Knowled ge_Management_Entrepreneurial_Orientation_and_Firm_Performance_The_Role_of_Organiz ational_Culture/links/56926ab208ae0f920dcd64af.pdf

Al-Ghunaim, S.M., Sadiq, B.M., Siam, M., Nassar, I. and Aissa, R.K., 2017, March. Operations Efficiency: Improved Well Planning Methodology Based on Invisible Lost Time Smart KPIs. In SPE Middle East Oil & Gas Show and Conference. Society of Petroleum Engineers, viewed on 24th of March 2021, https://onepetro.org/conference-paper/SPE-183941-MS Al Khajeh, E.H., 2018. Impact of leadership styles on organizational performance. Journal of Human Resources Management Research, 2018, pp.1-10, viewed on 21st of December 2021, https://ibimapublishing.com/uploads/articles/JHRMR/2018/687849/687849-1.pdf

Almeida, S. and Ahrens, J., 2011. Understanding employee well-being practices in Australian organizations, viewed on 25th of October 2020, https://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1040&context=chsd

Al-Sada, M., Al-Esmael, B. and Faisal, M.N., 2017. Influence of organizational culture and leadership style on employee satisfaction, commitment and motivation in the educational sector in Qatar. EuroMed Journal of Business, viewed on 9th of January 2021, https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/EMJB-02-2016-0003/full/html

Amabile, T.M., Schatzel, E.A., Moneta, G.B. and Kramer, S.J., 2004. Leader behaviors and the work environment for creativity: Perceived leader support. The Leadership Quarterly, 15(1), pp.5-32, viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1048984303001000

Amabile, T.M., Conti, R., Coon, H., Lazenby, J. and Herron, M., 1996. Assessing the work environment for creativity. Academy of management journal, 39(5), pp.1154-1184, viewed on 18th of October 2020, http://people.wku.edu/richard.miller/amabile.pdf

Amaradiwakara, A.U. and Gunatilake, M.M., 2016, Factors Affecting Growth of Small and Medium Enterprises in Sri Lanka, Journal of Business & Economic Policy Vol. 3, No. 4, viewed on 1st of November 2020, www. jbepnet.com/journals/Vol_3_No_4_December_2016/9.pdf

Andersen, J.A., 2006. Leadership, personality and effectiveness. The journal of

socioeconomics, 35(6), pp.1078-1091, viewed on 28th of December 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1048984315000946

Ardic, O.P., Mylenko, N. and Saltane, V., 2011. Small and medium enterprises: A crosscountry analysis with a new data set. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, (5538), viewed on 23rd of October 2020,

Arinaitwe, S. K. 2006. Factors constraining the growth and survival of small-scale businesses. A developing country analysis. Journal of American Academy of Business, 8(2), 167-179.

Arham, A.F., Boucher, C. and Muenjohn, N., 2013. Leadership and entrepreneurial success: A study of SMEs in Malaysia. World, 3(5), pp.117-130, viewed on 1st of December 2020, wjsspapers.com/static/documents/September/2013/11.%20Ahmad.pdf

Audretsch, D. B., 2002. The dynamic role of small firms: Evidence from the U.S. Small Business Economics, 18(1-3), 13-40.

Avery, G.C., 2004. Understanding leadership: Paradigms and cases. Sage.

Avolio, B.J., Walumbwa, F.O. and Weber, T.J., 2009. Leadership: Current theories, research, and future directions. Annual review of psychology, 60, pp.421-449, viewed on 25th of October 2020,

https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163621

Avolio, B.J., & Bass, B.M., 1991. The full range of leadership development: Basic and advanced manuals. Binghamton, NY: Bass, Avolio, & Associates.

Avolio, B. J. & Bass, B. M., 2004. Multifactor leadership questionnaire: Manual and sample set. Redwood City, CA: Mind Garden.

Avolio, B.J., Bass, B.M. and Jung, D.I., 1999. Re-examining the components of transformational and transactional leadership using the Multifactor Leadership. Journal of occupational and organizational psychology, 72(4), pp.441-462, viewed on 19th of December 2021, https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/50024838/pdf-with-cover-page-v2.pdf?

Ayman, R. and Korabik, K., 2010. Leadership: Why gender and culture matter. American psychologist, 65(3), p.157, viewed on 10th September 2020, https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2010-06153-002

Ayyagari, M., Beck, T. and Demirguc-Kunt, A., 2007. Small and medium enterprises across the globe. Small business economics, 29(4), pp.415-434, viewed on 24th of March 2021, http://sme.ebi.gov.eg/Documents/Internationalization/Small%20and%20Medium%20Enterprises%20Across.pdf

Ayyagari, M., Beck, T., & Demirguc-Kunt, A., 2005. Small and medium enterprises across the globe, viewed on 1st of November 2020, www.worldbank.org/research/bios/t-beck/abd.pdf

Ayyagari, M., Beck, T. and Demirguc-Kunt, A., 2007. Small and medium enterprises across the globe. Small business economics, 29(4), pp.415-434, viewed on 18th of January 2021, http://agro.gov.vn/images/2007/12/SMEs%20across%20the%20Globe.pdf

Aziz, R., Abdullah, M., Tajudin, A. and Mahmood, R., 2013. The effect of leadership styles on the business performance of SMEs in Malaysia, viewed on 1st of November 2020, onlinesciencepublishing.com/assets/journal/JOU0017/ART00150/1492242039_IJEBMS2013-2(2) -45-52.pdf

Banerji, P. and Krishnan, V.R., 2000. Ethical preferences of transformational leaders: An empirical investigation. Leadership & Organization Development Journal, viewed on 18th of October 2020,

https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/01437730010358161/full/html

Barrick, M.R. and Mount, M.K., 1991. The big five personality dimensions and job performance: a meta-analysis. Personnel psychology, 44(1), pp.1-26, viewed on 28th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1991.tb00688.x Bass, B.M. and Riggio, R.E., 2006. Transformational leadership. Psychology press.

Bass, B.M., 1985. Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Collier Macmillan.
Bass, B.M., 1985. Leadership: Good, better, best. Organizational dynamics, 13(3), pp.26-40, viewed on 10th September 2020,

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/0090261685900282

Bass, B.M., 1990. From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. Organizational dynamics, 18(3), pp.19-31, Viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/009026169090061S

Bass, B.M. and Avolio, B.J., 1993. Transformational leadership and organizational culture. Public administration quarterly, pp.112-121, viewed on 19th of December 2021, https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.921.5307&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Bass, B.M., 2000. The future of leadership in learning organizations. *Journal of leadership studies*, *7*(3), pp.18-40, viewed on 10th September 2020, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/107179190000700302

Bass, B.M., 1998. Transformational leadership: Industrial, military and educational impact. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc

Bass, B.M., 1999. Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. European journal of work and organizational psychology, 8(1), pp.9-32, viewed on 21st of December 2021,

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.560.9456&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Bass, B.M. and Avolio, B.J., 1990. Developing transformational leadership: 1992 and beyond. Journal of European industrial training, viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/03090599010135122/full/html

Barchiesi, F., 2011. Precarious liberation: Workers, the state, and contested social citizenship in postapartheid South Africa. Suny Press.

Balter, R., Chow, J. and Jin, Y., 2014. What diversity metrics are best used to track and improve employee diversity?, Viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://ecommons.cornell.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1813/74536/What_Diversity_Metrics_ar e_Best_Used_to_Track_and_Improve_Employee_Diversity.pdf?sequence=1

Berisha, G. and Pula, J.S., 2015. Defining Small and Medium Enterprises: a critical review. Academic Journal of Business, Administration, Law and Social Sciences, 1(1), pp.17-28, viewed on 24th of March 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Gentrit-Berisha/publication/276294683_Defining_Small_and_Medium_Enterprises_a_critical_review /links/5556724708ae6fd2d82363a3/Defining-Small-and-Medium-Enterprises-acriticalreview.pdf

Berkovitch, E. and Israel, R., 1996. The design of internal control and capital structure. The Review of Financial Studies, 9(1), pp.209-240, viewed on 28th of October 2020, https://academic.oup.com/rfs/article-abstract/9/1/209/1584878

Bernard, H.R. and Bernard, H.R., 2013. Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Sage.

Berson, Y., Oreg, S., and Dvir, T., 2005. Organizational culture as a mediator of CEO values and organizational performance. Academy of Management, 2005, 1-9, viewed on 11th of January 2021, http://ijbssnet.com/journals/Vol_5_No_9_1_August_2014/14.pdf

Blake, R and Mouton. J., 1985. The Managerial Grid III: The Key to Leadership Excellence Gulf Publishing Co, Houston.

Birincib, S., 2013. Impacts of organizational culture and leadership on business performance: A case study on acquisitions. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 75, pp.71-82, viewed on 13th of January 2021, https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/82638007.pdf

Bös, B., Dauber, D. and Springnagel, M., 2011. Measuring organizational culture: An empirical assessment of the Hofstede questionnaire in an Austrian setting. In IACCM 10 th Annual Conference and 3 rd CEMS CCM/IACCM Doctoral Workshop, University of Ruse, Bulgaria–2011 Cultural Aspects of cross -border corporation: Competences and Capabilities (p. 107), viewed on 25th of October 2020, https://www.wu.ac.at/fileadmin/wu/o/iaccm/Abstracts/2011_Eisenberg.pdf#page=107 Burns,

J. M. Leadership., 1978. New York: Harper & Row.

Bryman, A., 1992. Charisma and Leadership in Organizations. Newbury Park, Sage.

Brislin, R.W., 1980. Cross-cultural research methods. In Environment and culture (pp. 47-82). Springer, Boston, MA

Bennett, T.M., 2009. A study of the management leadership style preferred by IT subordinates. Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications and Conflict, 13(2), p.1, viewed on 26th December 2021,

https://www.proquest.com/openview/ce9bc85eb9706b0d4b98a5e7e0e059f2/1?pqorigsite=gsc holar&cbl=38870

Cabral, L. and Mata, J., 2003. On the evolution of the firm size distribution: Facts and theory. American economic review, 93(4), pp.1075-1090, viewed on 25th of October 2020, https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/000282803769206205

Cacioppe, R., 1998. An integrated model and approach for the design of effective leadership development programs. Leadership & Organization Development Journal, viewed on 25th of October 2020,

https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/01437739810368820/full/html

Caligiuri, P. and Tarique, I., 2012. Dynamic cross-cultural competencies and global leadership effectiveness. Journal of world Business, 47(4), pp.612-622, viewed on 10th September 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1090951612000156

Caldwell, L., 2015. Making conjoint behavioral. International Journal of Market Research, 57(3), pp.495-502, viewed on 10th of October 2020,

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.2501/IJMR-2015-039 Callen, T., 2008. What is gross domestic product. Finance & Development, 45(4), pp.48-49, viewed on 28th of December 2020, http://purochioe.rrojasdatabank.info/imfongdp.pdf

Cetorelli, N. and Strahan, P.E., 2006. Finance as a barrier to entry: Bank competition and industry structure in local US markets. The Journal of Finance, 61(1), pp.437-461, viewed on 25th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2006.00841.x

Central Bank of Sri Lanka., 1998. Economic Progress of Independent Sri Lanka, Central Bank of Sri Lanka, Colombo, pp.121-124, viewed on 14 January 2021, https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/373316/sri-lankan-economy.pdf

Certified Management Accountant. 2018 Colombo: Certifies Management Accounts of Sri Lanka, viewed on 14 January 2021,

https://www.cmasrilanka.org/sites/default/files/pub/CMA%20JORNAL%201.pdf

Charry, K. 2012. Leadership Theories - 8 Major Leadership Theories, viewed on 10th of October 2020, http://psychology.about.com/od/leadership/p/leadtheories.htm

Chung-Wen, Y., 2008. The relationships among leadership styles, entrepreneurial orientation, and business performance. Managing Global Transitions, 6(3), p.257, viewed on 28 th of December 2020, https://www.fm.upr.si/zalozba/ISSN/1581-6311/6-3.pdf#page=35

Cicea, C., Popa, I., Marinescu, C. and Cătălina Ștefan, S., 2019. Determinants of SMEs' performance: evidence from European countries. Economic research-Ekonomska istraživanja, 32(1), pp.1602-1620, viewed on 24th of March 2021, https://hrcak.srce.hr/index.php?show=clanak&id_clanak_jezik=332781

Cobb-Clark, D.A. and Schurer, S., 2012. The stability of big-five personality traits. Economics Letters, 115(1), pp.11-15, viewed on 28 th of December 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0165176511004666

Cooke, R.A. and Szumal, J.L., 2000. Using the organizational culture inventory to understand the operating cultures of organizations. Handbook of organizational culture and climate, 4, pp.1032-1045, viewed on 28 th of December 2020, http://www.rcpaconference.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/09/W54_Stamoolis_How-Culture-Works-HSI.pdf Cohen, W.A., 1990. The Art of a Leader, Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Cole, G.A., 2005. Organizational Behavior. Nottingham: TJ International.

Combank.net. 2020. SME Loans | Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC, viewed on 1st of November 2020, <u>https://www.combank.net/newweb/en/business/sme/diribala-</u> developmentloans,

Covey, S.R., 2008. The 7 habits of highly effective people personal workbook. Simon and Schuster.

Costa Jr, P.T. and McCrae, R.R., 1988. From catalog to classification: Murray's needs and the five-factor model. Journal of personality and social psychology, 55(2), p.258, viewed on 29th of October 2020, viewed on 29th of October 2020

Cheng, Y.C., 2008. New learning and school leadership: Paradigm shift towards the third wave. In Leadership for Learning (pp. 17-40). Brill Sense, viewed on 25th of October 2020, https://brill.com/view/book/edcoll/9789087903909/BP000003.xml

Cropanzano, R. and Mitchell, M.S., 2005. Social exchange theory: An interdisciplinary review. Journal of Management, 31(6), pp.874-900, viewed on 25th December 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Russell-

Cropanzano/publication/234021447_Social_Exchange_Theory_An_Interdisciplinary_Review/ links/0a85e533ad9de76aa1000000/Social-Exchange-Theory-An-Interdisciplinary-Review.pdf

Cummings, L. L., & Schwab, D. P., 1973. Performance in organizations; determinants & appraisal. Glenview, Ill, Scott, Foresman.

Culver, M.C., 1990. Charismatic Leadership: The Elusive Factor in Organizational Effectiveness. Hospital & Health Services Administration, Spring 1990, p. 152+. Academic OneFile, viewed on 2 Dec, 2020, https://link.galegroup.com/apps/doc/A8796433/AONE?u=googlescholar&sid=AONE&xid=49 ad2a36.

Davis, N.W. and Meyer, B.B., 2009. Qualitative data analysis: A procedural comparison. Journal of Applied Sport Psychology, 21(1), pp.116-124, viewed on 9th of January 2021, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10413200802575700 Dansereau Jr, F., Graen, G. and Haga, W.J., 1975. A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process. Organizational behavior and human performance, 13(1), pp.46-78, viewed on 28th December 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/George-Graen-2/publication/222986304_A_Vertical_Dyad_Linkage_Approach_to_Leadership_Within_For mal_Organizations/links/5c6016d845851582c3db499d/A-Vertical-Dyad-Linkage-Approachto-Leadership-Within-Formal-Organizations.pdf

Dasanayaka, S. W. S. B., 2009. Measuring the Informal Economy in Developing Countries. Special IARIWSAIM, Conference on Kathmandu, Nepal, September 23-26. viewed on 1st of November 2020, http://www.iariw.org.

Dawson, C., 2002. Practical research methods: A user-friendly guide to mastering research techniques and projects. how to books.

De Hoogh, A.H., Den Hartog, D.N. and Koopman, P.L., 2005. Linking the Big Five-Factors of personality to charismatic and transactional leadership; perceived dynamic work environment as a moderator. Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior, 26(7), pp.839-865, viewed on 9th of January 2021, https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/31128445/79e4150e83a0247567.pdf?

Deinert, A., Homan, A.C., Boer, D., Voelpel, S.C. and Gutermann, D., 2015. Transformational leadership sub-dimensions and their link to leaders' personality and performance. The Leadership Quarterly, 26(6), pp.1095-1120, viewed on 28th of December 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1048984315000946

DeNeve, K.M. and Cooper, H., 1998. The happy personality: a meta-analysis of 137 personality traits and subjective well-being. Psychological bulletin, 124(2), p.197, viewed on 28th of October 2020, https://psycnet.apa.org/buy/1998-10661-003

Dessler. G. and Starke. F. A., 2004. Management: Principles and Practices for Tomorrow's Leaders. 2, illustrated. Pearson Prentice Hall.

Den Hartog, D.N., Van Muijen, J.J. and Koopman, P.L., 1997. Transactional versus transformational leadership: An analysis of the MLQ. Journal of occupational and organizational psychology, 70(1), pp.19-34, viewed on 23rd of October 2020, https://bpspsychub.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.2044-8325.1997.tb00628.x

Denison, D.R., 1990. Corporate culture and organizational effectiveness. John Wiley & Sons.

Digman, J.M., 1989. Five robust trait dimensions: Development, stability, and utility. Journal of personality, 57(2), pp.195-214, viewed on 28th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1989.tb00480.x Du Plessis, Y., 2011. Cultural intelligence as managerial competence.

Dubrin, A.J., Dalglish, C. and Miller, P., 2006. Leadership, 2nd Asia-Pacific ed. John Wiley & Sons Australia.

Dulebohn, J.H., Bommer, W.H., Liden, R.C., Brouer, R.L. and Ferris, G.R., 2012. A metaanalysis of antecedents and consequences of leader-member exchange: Integrating the past with an eye toward the future. Journal of management, 38(6), pp.1715-1759, viewed on 28th December 2021,

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0149206311415280?journalCode=joma

Dvir, T., Eden, D., Avolio, B.J. and Shamir, B., 2002. Impact of transformational leadership on follower development and performance: A field experiment. Academy of management journal, 45(4), pp.735-744, viewed on 5th of November 2020, https://journals.aom.org/doi/abs/10.5465/3069307

Earley, P.C., 2002. Redefining interactions across cultures and organizations: Moving forward with cultural intelligence. Research in organizational behavior, 24, pp.271-299, Viewed on 10th of October 2020,

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0191308502240083

Eckerson, W.W., 2007. Predictive analytics. Extending the Value of Your Data Warehousing Investment. TDWI Best Practices Report, 1, pp.1-36., viewed on 9th of January 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Waranpong_Boonsiritomachai/publication/307571066_E xploring_business_intelligence_and_its_depth_of_maturity_in_Thai_SMEs/links/585017a708 ae4bc8993b6696/Exploring-business-intelligence-and-its-depth-of-maturity-in-Thai-SMEs.pdf

Egel, E. and Fry, L.W., 2017. Spiritual leadership as a model for Islamic leadership. Public Integrity, 19(1), pp.77-95, Viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10999922.2016.1200411

Einarsen, S., Aasland, M.S. and Skogstad, A., 2007. Destructive leadership behaviour: A definition and conceptual model. The Leadership Quarterly, 18(3), pp.207-216, viewed on 19th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1048984307000422

Elstad, E., Christophersen, K.A. and Turmo, A., 2011. Social exchange theory as an explanation of organizational citizenship behavior among teachers. International Journal of Leadership in Education, 14(4), pp.405-421, viewed on 25th December 2021, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13603124.2010.524250

Export Development Board Sri Lanka, 2021. Export Development Board Sri Lanka. viewed on 5th of November 2021, https://www.srilankabusiness.com/exporters/export-advice.html

Ezirim, C.B., Nwebere, B.M., and Emecheta, B.C., 2010. Organizational culture and performance: The Nigerian experience. International Journal of Business and Public Administration, 2010, 7(1), 40-56.

Fang, C.H., Chang, S.T. and Chen, G.L., 2009, May. Applying Structural Equation Model to Study of the Relationship Model among leadership style, satisfaction, Organization commitment and Performance in hospital industry. In 2009 International Conference on EBusiness and Information System Security, Viewed on 10th of September 2020, https://www.infona.pl/resource/bwmeta1.element.ieee-art-000005137940

Feinberg, B.J., Ostroff, C. and Burke, W.W., 2005. The role of within-group agreement in understanding transformational leadership. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 78(3), pp.471-488, viewed on 21st of December 2021,

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/CheriOstroff/publication/227978999_The_role_of_within group_agreement_in_understanding_transformational_leadership/links/5a56d30f45851547b1b f2ad2/The-role-of-within-group-agreement-in-understanding-transformational-leadership.pdf

Ferguson, E.D., Hagaman, J., Grice, J.W. and Peng, K., 2006. From leadership to parenthood: The applicability of leadership styles to parenting styles. Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice, 10(1), p.43, viewed on 5th of November 2020, https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0b60/9b201ebfa7d03a67180681b98c4a48d77318.pdf

Fokam. J, A .2016. Leadership style and Performance of Small and medium size enterprises in Cameroon, viewed on 5th of November 2020, https://mpra.ub.unimuenchen.de/81417/1/MPRA_paper_81417.pdf

Franco, M. and Matos, P.G., 2015. Leadership styles in SMEs: a mixed-method approach. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 11(2), pp.425-451

Franco, M. and Prata, M., 2019. Influence of the individual characteristics and personality traits of the founder on the performance of family SMEs. European Journal of International Management, 13(1), pp.41-68, viewed on 13th of January 2021, https://www.inderscience.com/info/inarticle.php?artid=96498

Franco-Santos, M., Kennerley, M., Micheli, P., Martinez, V., Mason, S., Marr, B., Gray, D. and Neely, A., 2007. Towards a definition of a business performance measurement system. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, viewed on 28 th of December 2020, https://dspace.lib.cranfield.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/1826/2789/?sequence=1 Friedman, H.S., Tucker, J.S., Schwartz, J.E., Tomlinson-Keasey, C., Martin, L.R., Wingard, D.L. and Criqui, M.H., 1995. Psychosocial and behavioral predictors of longevity: The aging and death of the" Termites.". American Psychologist, 50(2), p.69, viewed on 30th of October 2020,

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Leslie_Martin/publication/15319217_Psychosocial_and_ behavioral_predictors_of_longevity_The_aging_and_death_of_the_Termites/links/0c96051f2 c267d3a6a000000.pdf Garcia, M., Duncan, P., Carmody-Bubb, M. and Ree, M.J., 2014. You have what? Personality! Traits that predict leadership styles for elementary principals. Psychology, 2014, viewed on 28 th of December 2020, https://www.scirp.org/html/4-6901015_44189.htm

Gallo, A., 2015. A refresher on regression analysis. Harvard business review, 4, viewed on 13th of January 2021, https://hbr.org/2015/11/a-refresher-on-regression-analysis

Gardner, L. and Stough, C., 2002. Examining the relationship between leadership and emotional intelligence in senior level managers. Leadership & organization development journal, viewed on 21st of December 2021, https://www.jobinterviews.net.au/storage/rachel/Gardner-and-Stough-leadershipemotionalintelligence-senior-level-managers2001.pdf

Gholamzadeh, D., Khazaneh, A. and Nabi, M., 2014. The impact of leadership styles on organizational culture in Mapsa company. Management Science Letters, 4(9), pp.2161-2170, viewed on 9th of January 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272912923_The_impact_of_leadership_styles_on_o rganizational_culture_in_Mapsa_company

Gerstner, C.R. and Day, D.V., 1997. Meta-Analytic review of leader–member exchange theory: Correlates and construct issues. Journal of applied psychology, 82(6), p.827, viewed on 28th December 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/David-Day-7/publication/232563951_Meta-

Analytic_review_of_leadermember_exchange_theory_Correlates_and_construct_issues/links/ 552be5220cf2e089a3aaba2 9/Meta-Analytic-review-of-leader-member-exchange-theory-Correlates-and-constructissues.pdf

Goldberg, L.R., 1990. An alternative" description of personality": the big-five factor structure. Journal of personality and social psychology, 59(6), p.1216, viewed on 28th of October 2020, https://psycnet.apa.org/doiLanding?doi=10.1037%2F0022-3514.59.6.1216

Goleman, D., Boyatzis, R. & McKee. A., 2002. Primal Leadership: Realizing the power of emotional intelligence. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.

Graen, G.B. and Scandura, T.A., 1987. Toward a psychology of dyadic organizing. Research in organizational behavior.

Groves, K.S. and Feyerherm, A.E., 2011. Leader cultural intelligence in context: Testing the moderating effects of team cultural diversity on leader and team performance. Group & Organization Management, 36(5), pp.535-566, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1059601111415664

Groves, K.S. and LaRocca, M.A., 2011. An empirical study of leader ethical values, transformational and transactional leadership, and follower attitudes toward corporate social responsibility. Journal of business ethics, 103(4), pp.511-528, viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10551-011-0877-y

Griffin, E.A., 2012. A first look at communication theory/Em Griffin. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Hannay, M., 2013. A new direction for Delta Pacific: A case study. *Journal of Business Cases and Applications*, 8, p.1, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/45780957/131449.pdf?14

Harper, M. and Finnegan, G., 1998. Value for money? Impact of small enterprises development.

Hewaliyanage, R. M. P., 2001. Export Orientation for Small and Medium Enterprises:Policies, Strategies and Programs. Country Paper. Asian Productivity organization, Tokyo, pp. 233-246

Hetland, H., Hetland, J., Andreassen, C.S., Pallesen, S. and Notelaers, G., 2011. Leadership and fulfillment of the three basic psychological needs at work. Career Development International, viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/13620431111168903/full/html
Hettiarachchi, I., 2013. Time to reduce borrowings in Sri Lankan Enterprises, viewed on 1st of May 2020, http://www.dailymirror.lk/business/features/33710-time-to-reduce-borrowings-insri-lankanenterprises.html

Hill, N.C. and Ritchie, J.B., 1977. The effect of self-esteem on leadership and achievement: A paradigm and a review. Group & Organization Studies, 2(4), pp.491-503, viewed on 29th of October 2020, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/105960117700200410

Hogan, R., Curphy, G.J. and Hogan, J., 1994. What we know about leadership: Effectiveness and personality. American psychologist, 49(6), p.493, viewed on 29th of October 2020, https://psycnet.apa.org/doiLanding?doi=10.1037%2F0003-066X.49.6.493

Hoy, W. & Miskel, C., 2001. Educational Administration: Theory, Research and Practice (6th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

Hughes, T.A., 2014. Idealized, inspirational, and intellectual leaders in the social sector: Transformational leadership and the Kravis Prize, viewed on 26th December 2021, https://scholarship.claremont.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1845&context=cmc_theses

Humphreys, J.H. and Einstein, W.O., 2003. Nothing new under the sun: Transformational leadership from a historical perspective. Management Decision, viewed on 25th December 2021, https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/00251740310452934/full/html

Hurtz, G.M. and Donovan, J.J., 2000. Personality and job performance: The Big Five revisited. Journal of applied psychology, 85(6), p.869, viewed on 28th of October 2020, viewed on 28th of October 2020

Ibrahim, M.E., Al Sejini, S. and Al Qassimi, O.A.A., 2004. Job satisfaction and performance of government employees in UAE. Journal of Management Research, 4(1), p.1, viewed on 10th of October 2020,

Iguisi, O., 2009. Motivation-related values across cultures. African Journal of business management, 3(4), pp.141-150, viewed on 12th of October 2020, viewed on 12th of October 2020,

https://search.proquest.com/openview/1dce0022350a71c824e34286884f18cb/1?pqorigsite=gs cholar&cbl=55395

Igbaekemen, G.O. and Odivwri, J.E., 2015. Impact of leadership style on organization performance: A critical literature review. Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review, 5(5), pp.1-7, <u>https://www.hilarispublisher.com/abstract/impact-of-leadership-styleon-organization-performance-a-critical-literature-review-20275.html</u>

Ismail, A., Halim, F.A., Abdullah, D.N.M.A., Shminan Ahmad, S., Muda, A.L.A., Samsudin, S. and Girardi, A., 2009. The mediating effect of empowerment in the relationship between transformational leadership and service quality. International Journal of Business and Management, 4(4), viewed on 25th December 2021, https://researchrepository.murdoch.edu.au/id/eprint/6902/1/mediating-effect-ofempowerment.pdf

Iqbal, N., Anwar, S. and Haider, N., 2015. Effect of leadership style on employee performance. Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review, 5(5), pp.1-6, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/43312296/effect-of-leadershipstyle-on-employee-performance-2223-5833-1000146.pdf?

Jayatilake, N., Mendis, S., Maheepala, P. and Mehta, F.R., 2013. Chronic kidney disease of uncertain aetiology: prevalence and causative factors in a developing country. BMC nephrology, 14(1), pp.1-13, viewed on 22nd of October 2020, https://bmcnephrol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2369-14-180

Jago, A.G., 1982. Leadership: Perspectives in theory and research. Management science, 28(3), pp.315-336, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://dl.acm.org/doi/abs/10.1287/mnsc.28.3.315 Jansen, J.J., Vera, D. and Crossan, M., 2009. Strategic leadership for exploration and exploitation: The moderating role of environmental dynamism. The Leadership Quarterly, 20(1), pp.5-18, viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1048984308001586

Jansen, D and Warren, K., 2020. Quantitative Data Analysis 101: The lingo, methods and techniques, explained simply, John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Jantz, R. C., 2012. Innovation in Academic Libraries: An Analysis of University Librarians' Perspectives, Library and Information Science Research, vol.34(1), pp.3-12; 2012, viewed on 12th of October 2020

Jayathilake, B., 2018. Over 85% Lankan businesses are SME', Daily Times, 9 July 2018, viewed on 18th of January 2021 https://www.dailynews.lk/2018/07/09/business/156212/%E2%80%98over-85-lankanbusinesses-are-sme%E2%80%99

Jayasekara, J.P.D.R. and Thilakarathna, A., 2013. Government Policy and Strategy for SME Development. The 4th IMF-Japan High-Level Tax Conference for Asian Countries, Tokyo, 2-4 April 2013, viewed on 10th of October 2019, https://www.imf.org/external/np/seminars/eng/2013/asiatax/pdfs/srilanka.pdf

Jooste, C. and Fourie, B., 2009. The role of strategic leadership in effective strategy implementation: Perceptions of South African strategic leaders. Southern African Business Review, 13(3), viewed on 10th of October 2020,

Jogulu, U.D., 2010. Culturally-linked leadership styles. Leadership & Organization Development Journal,

Jones, G.R. and J.M. George, 2004. Essentials of Contemporary Management. McGraw Hill Companies, Inc., Boston.

Jooste, C. and Fourie, B., 2009. The role of strategic leadership in effective strategy implementation: Perceptions of South African strategic leaders. Southern African Business Review, 13(3), viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://www.ajol.info/index.php/sabr/article/view/76341/66799

Judge, T.A. and Piccolo, R.F., 2004. Transformational and transactional leadership: a metaanalytic test of their relative validity. Journal of applied psychology, 89(5), p.755, viewed on

1st of May 2020,

www.jwalkonline.org/docs/Grad%20Classes/Fall%2007/Org%20Psy/Cases/leadership/leaders hip%20articles/meta%20analysis%20trnsf_trnsc.pdf

Kabir, S.M.S., 2016. Basic guidelines for research: an introductory approach for all disciplines. Book Zone Publication.

Kachembere, J., 2011. ICT boom: Zimbabwe"s opportunity to catch up. The standard Zimbabwe. viewed on 22nd of October 2020,

https://www.thestandard.co.zw/2011/10/15/ictboom-zimbabwes-chance-to-catch-up-2/http:www.the standard.co.zw/index.php 13 June 2012.

Kalshoven, K., Den Hartog, D.N. and De Hoogh, A.H., 2011. Ethical leader behavior and big five factors of personality. Journal of business ethics, 100(2), pp.349-366, viewed on 9th of January 2021,

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Deanne_Den_Hartog/publication/226247874_Ethical_Le ader_Behavior_and_Big_Five_Factors_of_Personality/links/02e7e528b806734f8d000000/Ethi cal-Leader-Behavior-and-Big-Five-Factors-of-Personality.pdf

Kaplan, R.S. and Norton, D.P., 2005. The balanced scorecard: measures that drive performance. Harvard business review, 83(7), p.172, viewed on 26th of March 2021, https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/54588379/Kaplan_Nortonbalanced_scorecard.pdf?

Kapur, N. and Janakiram, B., 2015. Comparative analysis of corporate cross cultural management in IT vs non IT organizations. Cross-Cultural Management Journal, 17(2), viewed on 10th of October 2020,

https://search.proquest.com/openview/bab0aab401b7d1ccbbe548f9274ef8c9/1?pqorigsite=gsc holar&cbl=4464511 Karip, E., 1998. Transformational leadership. Educational Administration in Theory and Practice, viewed on 10th of October 2020, 4(16),443-465, https://www.izhakber.com/PDF/TL_Critique.pdf

Kawulich, B.B., 2004. Data analysis techniques in qualitative research. Journal of research in education, 14(1), pp.96-113, viewed on 11th of January 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Barbara_Kawulich/publication/257944757_Kawulich_B_B_2004_Data_Analysis_Techniques_in_Qualitative_Research_In_Darla_Twale_Ed_Journal_of_Research_in_Education_141_p_96-113/links/551c5b6d0cf2909047bc9149.pdf

Kirkpatick, S.A. and Locke, E.A., 1991. Leadership: do traits matter? Academy of management perspectives, 5(2), pp.48-60, viewed on 29th of October 2020, https://journals.aom.org/doi/abs/10.5465/ame.1991.4274679

Karides, M., 2005. Whose solution is it? Development ideology and the work of microentrepreneurs in Caribbean context. The International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy. 25(1/2), 30-62, viewed on 1st of May 2020

Kennedy, J.J. and Quigley, T.M., 1994. Evolution of Forest Service organizational culture and adaptation issues in embracing ecosystem management. ME Jensen and PS Bourgeron, editors, 2, pp.16-26, viewed on 25th of October 2020, http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.202.5571&rep=rep1&type=pdf#pag

e=24

Kiernan, M.J., Westbrook, R.F. and Cranney, J., 1995. Immediate shock, passive avoidance, and potentiated startle: Implications for the unconditioned response to shock. Animal Learning & Behavior, 23(1), pp.22-30, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.3758/BF03198012.pdf

Kotter, J. P., 1988. The Leadership Factor. New York: Free Press.

Kourdi, J., 1999 One stop leadership. ICSA Publishing Limited, London.Koslowsky, M. and Stashevsky, S., 2005. Organizational values and social power.International Journal of Manpower, viewed on 18th of October 2020,

Kumar, R., Anjum, B. and Sinha, A., 2011. Cross-cultural interactions and leadership behaviour. Researchers World, 2(3), p.151, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://search.proquest.com/openview/dac9fb7694be4fc7e36749707f9a4864/1?pqorigsite=gsc holar&cbl=556342

Kouzes, J.M. & Posner, B.Z., 1995, The Leadership Challenge' San Francisco: Jossey Bass.

Kumari, P.W.N.A. and Karunarathne, W.V.A.D., 2008. Working capital management issues faced by SMEs in Sri Lanka, viewed on 10th of October 2020, http://repository.kln.ac.lk/handle/123456789/7948

Kuzilwa, J.A., 2005. The role of credit for small business success: A study of the National Entrepreneurship Development Fund in Tanzania. The Journal of Entrepreneurship, 14(2), pp.131-161, viewed on 26th of October 2020, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/097135570501400204

Lawless, H.T. and Heymann, H., 2010. Descriptive analysis. In Sensory evaluation of food (pp. 227-257). Springer, New York, NY.

Lewin, K., Lippitt, R. and White, R.K., 1939. Patterns of aggressive behavior in experimentally created "social climates". The Journal of social psychology, 10(2), pp.269-299, Viewed on 10th of October 2020,

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00224545.1939.9713366?journalCode=vsoc20

Lewin, K., 1948. Resolving social conflicts. New York: Harper & Row.

Lee. and Chuang., 2009. The Impact of Leadership Styles on Job Stress and Turnover Intention:Taiwan Insurance Industry as an Example, viewed on 23rd of October 2020, . www.hclee@ttu.edu.tw

Leutner, F., Ahmetoglu, G., Akhtar, R. and Chamorro-Premuzic, T., 2014. The relationship between the entrepreneurial personality and the Big Five personality traits. Personality and

individual differences, 63, pp.58-63, viewed on 28th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0191886914000622

Liden, R.C., Sparrowe, R.T. and Wayne, S.J., 1997. Leader-member exchange theory: The past and potential for the future, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1998-07308-002

Lindberg, C.F., Tan, S., Yan, J. and Starfelt, F., 2015. Key performance indicators improve industrial performance. Energy procedia, 75, pp.1785-1790, viewed on 26th of March 2021, https://pdf.sciencedirectassets.com/277910/1-s2.0-S1876610215X00130/1-s2.0S1876610215012424/main.pdf?

Liu, L., Mei, Q., Jiang, L., Wu, J., Liu, S. and Wang, M., 2021. Safety-Specific Passive-Avoidant Leadership and Safety Compliance among Chinese Steel Workers: The Moderating Role of Safety Moral Belief and Organizational Size. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(5), p.2700, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7967427/

Longe, O.J., 2014. Leadership style paradigm shift and organisational performance: A case of the Nigerian Cement Industry. African Research Review, 8(4), pp.68-83, viewed on 21st of December 2021, https://www.ajol.info/index.php/afrrev/article/download/110171/99913

Lowe, K. B., Kroeck, K. G., Sivasubramaniam, N., 1996. Effectiveness correlates of transformational and transactional leadership: A meta-analytic review of the MLQ literature. Leadership Quarterly, 7: 385-425, viewed on 26th of October 2020, https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Effectiveness-correlates-of-transformational-and-ALowe-Kroeck/030e79a79a6c2f6f3e7b7f2190ee13891f9065fa

Luciano, M., Hagenaars, S.P., Davies, G., Hill, W.D., Clarke, T.K., Shirali, M., Harris, S.E., Marioni, R.E., Liewald, D.C., Fawns-Ritchie, C. and Adams, M.J., 2018. Association analysis in over 329,000 individuals identifies 116 independent variants influencing neuroticism. Nature genetics, 50(1), pp.6-11, viewed on 30th of October 2020, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5985926/ Lussier, R. and Achua, C., 2015. Leadership: Theory, Application, Skill Development. 6th edn. Mason, MI: South-Western Publications.

Lussier, R., & Achua, C., 2009, Leadership: Theory, application and skill development. 4th edn. Mason, MI: South-Western Publications.

Malhotra, M.K. and Grover, V., 1998. An assessment of survey research in POM: from constructs to theory. Journal of operations management, 16(4), pp.407-425, Viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://cpb-us-e1.wpmucdn.com/sites.uark.edu/dist/c/1/files/2017/06/1998JOM1.pdf

Martin, S.L., Liao, H. and Campbell, E.M., 2013. Directive versus empowering leadership: A field experiment comparing impacts on task proficiency and proactivity. Academy of Management Journal, 56(5), pp.1372-1395, Viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://journals.aom.org/doi/abs/10.5465/amj.2011.0113

Marr, B., 2012. Key Performance Indicators (KPI): The 75 measures every manager needs to know. Pearson UK, viewed on 9th of January 2021, https://books.google.lk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=WleQ-F6WC3sC&oi=fnd&pg=PT24&dq=measure+business+performance+kpis&ots=3wFtcb_HX2 &sig=ROQaiGRhjzVgvUU4Jw89eiGOSE4&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=measure%20busines s%20performance%20kpis&f=false

Matzler, K., Schwarz, E., Deutinger, N. and Harms, R., 2008. The relationship between transformational leadership, product innovation and performance in SMEs. Journal of Small Business & Entrepreneurship, 21(2), pp.139-151, viewed on 1st of June 2020, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Rainer_Harms/publication/271822441_The_Relationship _between_Transformational_Leadership_Product_Innovation_and_Performancein_SMEs/link s/53e4b88c0cf21cc29fc919d7.pdf

Maxwel.l J. C., 2005. Developing the Leader Within You. (6th ed). Thomas Nelson Inc. McCrae, R.R. and Costa Jr, P.T., 2008. The five-factor theory of personality. Mclaggan, E., Botha, C.T. and Bezuidenhout, A., 2013. Leadership style and organisational commitment in the mining industry in Mpumalanga. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 11(1), pp.1-9, https://sajhrm.co.za/index.php/sajhrm/article/view/483/705

Merriam, S.B., 1998. Qualitative Research and Case Study Applications in Education. Revisedand Expanded from'' Case Study Research in Education.

Mgeni, T.O., 2015. Impact of entrepreneurial leadership style on business performance of SMEs in Tanzania, viewed on 21st of December 2021, http://bestdialogue2.antenna.nl/bitstream/handle/20.500.1201,8/2449/Impact% 20of% 20Entrep reneurial% 20Leadership% 20Style% 20on% 20Business% 20Performance% 20of% 20SMEs% 20i n% 20Tanzania.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Mihai, L., Schiopoiu, A.B. and Mihai, M., 2017. Comparison of the leadership styles practiced by Romanian and Dutch SME owners. International Journal of Organizational Leadership, 6(1), p.4., viewed on 1st of June 2020,

https://search.proquest.com/openview/650bee59770be8cea4312967a4e53519/1?pqorigsite=gs cholar&cbl=2042242

McCormick, D. and Pedersen, P.O., 1996. Small enterprises: Flexibility and networking in an African context, viewed on 26th of October 2020, https://www.jstor.org/stable/4187221?seq=1

McCrae, R.R. and Costa Jr, P.T., 1997. Conceptions and correlates of openness to experience. In Handbook of personality psychology (pp. 825-847). Academic Press, viewed on 29th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780121346454500329

McCrae, R.R. and John, O.P., 1992. An introduction to the five-factor model and its applications. Journal of personality, 60(2), pp.175-215, viewed on 28th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1992.tb00970.x

Messick, D.M. and Kramer, R.M., 2004. The psychology of leadership: New perspectives and research. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers. New Jersey.

Mgeni, T.O., 2015. Impact of entrepreneurial leadership style on business performance of SMEs in Tanzania. viewed on 28th of October 2020, http://bestdialogue2.antenna.nl/bitstream/handle/20.500.12018/2449/

Mead, D.C. and Liedholm, C., 1998. The dynamics of micro and small enterprises in developing countries. World development, 26(1), pp.61-74, viewed on 26th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0305750X97100109

Mullins, L.J., 2007. Management and organisational behaviour. Pearson education.

Mustafa, G. and Lines, R., 2012. Paternalism as a predictor of leadership behaviors: A bi-level analysis. Eurasian Business Review, 2(1), pp.63-92, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://link.springer.com/article/10.14208/BF03353808

Mugizi, W., Tumuhaiseand, G., Samanya, B. and Dafiewhare, A.O., 2019. Leadership Styles and Retention of Teachers in Private Primary Schools in Bushenyi-Ishaka Municipality, Uganda. Open Journal of Leadership, 8(04), p.167, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://www.scirp.org/html/2-2330211_96953.htm

Mwakajila, H.M. and Nyello, R.M., 2021. Leadership Styles, Firm Characteristics and Business Financial Performance of Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in Tanzania. Open Journal of Business and Management, 9(4), pp.1696-1713, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://www.scirp.org/journal/paperinformation.aspx?paperid=110567

National Human Resources and Employment Policy., 2017, Small and Medium Enterprises, (SME). Secretariat of Senior Ministers in Sri Lanka, 1st of June 2020, http://www.nhrep.gov.lk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=81&Itemid=59

National Policy Framework for Small Medium Enterprise (SME) Development. 2017, Ministry of Trade and Commerce, viewed on 1st of June 2020, http://www.industry.gov.lk/web/images/pdf/framew_eng.pdf

Nave, J. W., 2006. Leadership styles of entrepreneurs in small land surveying businesses. ProQuest Information and Learning Company. UMI Number 3195382. Nawaz, Z.A.K.D.A. and Khan_ PhD, I., 2016. Leadership theories and styles: A literature review. Leadership, 16(1), pp.1-7. 1-7, viewed on 28th of December 2020, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Allah_Nawaz/publication/293885908_Leadership_Theor ies_and_Styles_A_Literature_Review/links/56bcd3ad08ae9ca20a4cdea2.pdf Naylor, J., 1999. Management. Harlow, England: Prentice.

Nielsen, K., Yarker, J., Brenner, S.O., Randall, R. and Borg, V., 2008. The importance of transformational leadership style for the well-being of employees working with older people. Journal of advanced nursing, 63(5), pp.465-475, viewed on 13th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04701.x

Nikezic, S., Puric, S. and Puric, J., 2012. Transactional and transformational leadership: Development through changes. International Journal for Quality Research, 6(3), pp.285-296, viewed on 26th December 2021, http://www.ijqr.net/journal/v6-n3/11.pdf

Nimlaor, C., Trimetsoontorn, J. and Fongsuwan, W., 2014. Factors affecting business performance: An empirical study in Thailand. Research Journal of Business Management, 8(2), pp.89-103

Niranjana, P. and Pattanayak, B., 2005. Influence of learned optimism and organisational ethos on organisational citizenship behaviour: A study on Indian corporations. International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management, 5(1), pp.85-98, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://www.inderscienceonline.com/doi/abs/10.1504/IJHRDM.2005.005987

Nishantha, B., 2018. Small and Medium Enterprise Sector (SMEs) in Sri Lanka: Significance, Opportunities and Challenges, Asian Journal of Economics Business and Accounting, viewed on 10th of October 2020,

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341931472_Small_and_Medium_Enterprise_Sector _SMEs_in_Sri_LankaSignificanceOpportunities_and_Challenges

Nohe, C. and Hertel, G., 2017. Transformational leadership and organizational citizenship behavior: A meta-analytic test of underlying mechanisms. Frontiers in Psychology, 8, p.1364, ,

viewed on 25th December 2021, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5554340/ Northouse, P.G., 2007. Leadership: Theory and Practice. 4th Edition, Sage, Thousand Oaks.

Northouse, P.G., 2013. Leadership: Theory and Practice. 6th Edition, Sage, Thousand Oaks. Northouse, P.G., 2017. Leadership: Theory and Practice. 7th Edition, Sage, Thousand Oaks.

Obert, M. and Olawale, F., 2010. Does debt really matter on the profitability of small firms? A perspective on small manufacturing firms in Bulawayo, Zimbabwe. African Journal of Business Management, 4(9), pp.1709-1716, viewed on 26th of October 2020, https://academicjournals.org/journal/AJBM/article-abstract/674814731574

Obiwuru, T.C., Okwu, A.T., Akpa, V.O. and Nwankwere, I.A., 2011. Effects of leadership style on organizational performance: A survey of selected small scale enterprises in Ikosi-Ketu council development area of Lagos State, Nigeria. Australian journal of business and management research, 1(7), p.100, viewed on 28 th of December 2020, http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.463.7171&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Ogarca, N, L. and Mihal, L., 2016. Leadership Styles in SMEs: An Expletory Study in Romania. Management & Marketing Journal, 14(2), viewed on 1st of June 2020, www.mnmk.ro/documents/2016_02/11.pdf

Ogbonna, E. and Harris, L.C., 2000. Leadership style, organizational culture and performance: empirical evidence from UK companies. international Journal of human resource management, 11(4), pp.766-788, viewed on 11th of January 2021, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09585190050075114

Omar, K., Anuar, M.M., Ahmad, A., Nur, S., Zulkifli, A. and Hau, T.C., 2017. Personality and business performance: A case of entrepreneurs. International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences, 4(12), pp.231-237, viewed on 28th of December 2020,

Ololube, N. P., 2013. Educational Management, Planning and Supervision: Model for Effective Implementation. Owerri: Spring Field Publishers.

Oliverio-Olivieri, D., 2016. Language diversity and leadership effectiveness. International Journal of Leadership and Change, 4(1), p.10, viewed on 10th of September 2020, https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/ijlc/vol4/iss1/10/

Oldham, G.R. and Cummings, A., 1996. Employee creativity: Personal and contextual factors at work. Academy of management journal, 39(3), pp.607-634., viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://journals.aom.org/doi/abs/10.5465/256657

Ossai, E.C., 2021. Relationship between Leadership Style and Innovation Performance in Small-to-Medium-Scale Enterprises in Nigeria (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University), viewed on 27th December 2021,

https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=11629&context=dissertations

Özaralli, N., 2003. Effects of transformational leadership on empowerment and team effectiveness. Leadership & Organization Development Journal, viewed on 17th of October 2020, https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/01437730310494301/full/html

Parks-Leduc, L., Feldman, G. and Bardi, A., 2015. Personality traits and personal values: A meta-analysis. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 19(1), pp.3-29, viewed on 28th of December 2020,

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/262224477_Personality_Traits_and_Personal_Value s_A_Meta-Analysis#:~:text=Personality%20traits%20are%20typically%20defined,The

Paudel, S., 2020. Leadership Style and Business Performance in Nepali SMEs: The Mediating Role of Entrepreneurship Orientation. Journal of Business and Management Research, 3(1-2), pp.1-17, viewed on 27th December 2021,

https://www.nepjol.info/index.php/JBMR/article/view/31971/25257

Paulienė, R., 2012. Transforming leadership styles and knowledge sharing in a multicultural context. Business, Management and Education, 10(1), pp.91-109, viewed on 10th of September 2020, <u>https://journals.vgtu.lt/index.php/BME/article/view/4661</u>

Perera, D. and Wijesinha, A., 2011. SME Development Strategies for Sri Lanka: Learning

Lessons from Neighbouring Countries. Institute of Policy Studies of Sri Lanka (IPS), viewed on 5th of June 2020, http://www.ips.lk/talkingeconomics/2011/01/28/sme-developmentstrategies-for-sri-lanka-learning-lessons-from-neighbouring-countries/

Pîrlog, R. and Balint, A.O., 2016. An analyze upon the influence of the Key Performance Indicators (KPI) on the decision process within Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SME). Hyperion International Journal of Econophysics & New Economy, 9(1), pp.173-185, viewed on 26th of March 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Swetadri-

Plowman, D. A., Solansky, S., Beck, T. E., & Lakami, B., 2007. The role of leadership in emergent, self –organization. Leadership Quarterly, 18(4), 341-356, 5th of June 2020, https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1066&context=managementfacpu b

Podsakoff, P.M., Niehoff, B.P., MacKenzie, S.B. and Williams, M.L., 1993. Do substitutes for leadership really substitute for leadership? An empirical examination of Kerr and Jermier's situational leadership model. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 54(1), pp.1-44, viewed on 10th of September 2020,

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0749597883710010

Ponnamperuma, E.N., 2000. SMEs in Competitive Markets. Country Paper. Asian Productivity Organization, Tokyo, pp. 295-313, viewed on 12th of September 2020http://wwwbiz.meijo-u.ac.jp/SEBM/ronso/no3_4/aruna.pdf

Ratnayake, R.M.T.H., Menike, E.D.T.M.N.D. and Perera, T., 2013. Factors affecting growth of SMEs in tourism industry in Sri Lanka. Sri Lankan Journal of Management, 18(3), pp.113137 viewed on 14th of October 2020. https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/623271/adbi-wp1164.pdf

Responsible Conduct of Research (RCR) website at Northern Illinois University., 2021. Data Management, viewed on 28th of December 2020, https://ori.hhs.gov/education/products/n illinois u/datamanagement/datopic.html Rost, J.C., 1993. Leadership development in the new millennium. Journal of Leadership Studies, 1(1), pp.91-110, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/107179199300100109

Robbins, B. and Davidhizar, R., 2007. Transformational leadership in health care today. The Health Care Manager, 39(3), pp.117-121, viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17938591/

Robbins, S. P., 2003. Organizational behavior. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Rogerson, C.M., 2011. Urban tourism and regional tourists: Shopping in Johannesburg, South Africa. Tijdschrift voor economische en sociale geografie, 102(3), pp.316-330, viewed on 26th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-9663.2011.00666.x

Rowold, J. and Heinitz, K., 2007. Transformational and charismatic leadership: Assessing the convergent, divergent and criterion validity of the MLQ and the CKS. The Leadership Quarterly, 18(2), pp.121-133, viewed on 5th of June 2020, citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.560.9456&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Rijal, S., 2010. Leadership style and organizational culture in learning organization: A comparative study. International Journal of Management & Information Systems (IJMIS), 14(5), , https://clutejournals.com/index.php/IJMIS/article/view/19

Ruland, W. and Zhou, P., 2005. Debt, diversification, and valuation. Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting, 25(3), pp.277-291, viewed on 26th of October 2020, https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11156-005-4768-0.pdf

Ruslan, A., Rosli, M. and Hussin, M., 2013. The effects of leadership styles and entrepreneurial orientation on the business performance of SMEs in Malaysia. In The International Conference on Business, Economics and Accounting. Bangkok, Thailand, viewed on 21st of December 2021, http://www.caal-inteduorg.com/ibea2013/ejournal/042---Roslan_AA&Rosli_M&M_Hussin_A---The_Effect_of_Leadership.pdf Shehu, A.M. and Mahmood, R., 2014. The relationship between market orientation and business performance of Nigerian SMEs: The role of organizational culture. International Journal of Business and Social Science, 5(9), pp.159-168., viewed on 11th of January 2021, http://ijbssnet.com/journals/Vol_5_No_9_1_August_2014/14.pdf

Sashkin, M. and Sashkin, M.G., 2003. Leadership that matters: The critical factors for making a difference in people's lives and organizations' success. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.

Sackett, P.R. and Larson Jr, J.R., 1990. Research strategies and tactics in industrial and organizational psychology.

Samadder/publication/307574989_Investigation_of_Nonlinear_Correlation_between_Prime_I ndian_and_American_Stock_Exchange_Indices_using_Empirical_Mode_Decomposition/links /57c97e4e08ae3ac722af8409/Investigation-of-Nonlinear-Correlation-between-Prime-Indianand-American-Stock-Exchange-Indices-using-Empirical-Mode-Decomposition.pdf#page=173

Scouller, J., 2000. The three levels of leadership how to develop your leadership presence knowhow and skill. Management Books.

Schyns, B. and Schilling, J., 2013. How bad are the effects of bad leaders? A meta-analysis of destructive leadership and its outcomes. The Leadership Quarterly, 24(1), pp.138-158, viewed on 19th of October 2020,

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1048984312000872

Sekaran, U., 2009. Research Methods for Business: A Skill Building Approach. 4 Edition, John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Skogstad, A., Einarsen, S., Torsheim, T., Aasland, M.S. and Hetland, H., 2007. The destructiveness of laissez-faire leadership behavior. Journal of occupational health psychology, 12(1), p.80, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Anders-Skogstad/publication/6547331_The_Destructiveness_of_Laissez-Faire_Leadership_Behavior/links/5536599c0cf20ea35f12699e/The-Destructiveness-of-Laissez-Faire-Leadership-Behavior.pdf Solaja, M.O., Idowu, E.F. and James, E.A., 2016. Exploring the relationship between leadership communication style, personality trait and organizational productivity. Serbian Journal of Management, 11(1), pp.99-117, viewed on 28th of October 2020, http://scindeks.ceon.rs/article.aspx?artid=1452-48641601099S

Sok, J., Blomme, R. and Tromp, D., 2014. Positive and negative spillover from work to home: The role of organizational culture and supportive arrangements. British Journal of Management, 25(3), pp.456-472, viewed on 11th of January 2021, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1467-8551.12058

Schein, E. H., 1997. Organizational culture and leadership. 2nd Edition, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Smircich, L., 1983. Concepts of culture and organizational analysis. Administrative science quarterly, pp.339-358, viewed on 30th of October 2020, https://www.jstor.org/stable/2392246

Shirzad, K.B. and Zanganeh, F., 2011. The relationship between senior managers leadership style of school districts of Tehran and spirit of the administrators in girls state school. Journal of Management Research and Training, 1(1), pp.105-124, viewed on 30th of October 2020https://www.sid.ir/en/Journal/ViewPaper.aspx?ID=258654

Sosik, J.J., Kahai, S.S. and Avolio, B.J., 1998. Transformational leadership and dimensions of creativity: Motivating idea generation in computer-mediated groups. Creativity research journal, 11(2), pp.111-121, viewed on 30th of October 2020, https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1207/s15326934crj1102_3

Stogdill, R. M., 1989. Stogdill's Handbook of Leadership: A Survey of Theory and Research. Bass, B. (ed.) New York: Free Press.

Stogdill, R.M. and Coons, A.E., 1957. Leader behavior: Its description and measurement.

Stanz, K.J., Shokane, M.S. and Slabbert, J.A., 2004. Description of leadership in South Africa: Organisational context perspective. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 2(3), pp.1-6, viewed on 18th of October 2020,

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/47727789_Description_Of_Leadership_In_South_A frica_Organisational_Context_Perspective

Strauss, G. and Whitfield, K., 2018, Researching the world of work: Strategies and methods in studying industrial relations. Cornell University Press.

Sürücü, L. and Yeşilada, T., 2017. The impact of leadership styles on organizational culture. International Journal of Business and Management Invention, 6(8), pp.31-39, viewed on 11th of January 2021,

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Tahir_Yesilada/publication/319135951_The_Impact_of_ Leadership_Styles_on_Organizational_Culture/links/5993eafe458515c0ce64700e/The-Impact-of-Leadership-Styles-on-Organizational-Culture.pdf

Taherdoost, H., 2016. Sampling methods in research methodology; how to choose a sampling technique for research. How to Choose a Sampling Technique for Research, viewed on 11th of January 2021, https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-02546796/document

Tambunan, T., 2008. SME development, economic growth, and government intervention in a developing country: The Indonesian story. Journal of international entrepreneurship, 6(4), pp.147-167, viewed on 22nd of October 2020, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10843-008-0025-7

Tsai, Y., 2011. Relationship between organizational culture, leadership behavior and job satisfaction. BMC health services research, 11(1), p.98, viewed on 28th of December 2020, https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-11-98

Thomas, A. B., 1988. Does leadership make a difference to organizational performance? Administrative Science Quarterly, 33, 388-400, https://doi.org/10.2307/2392715

Tupes, E.C. and Christal, R.E., 1992. Recurrent personality factors based on trait ratings. Journal of personality, 60(2), pp.225-251, viewed on 29th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1992.tb00973.x

Turner, J.R. and Müller, R., 2005. The project manager's leadership style as a success factor on projects: A literature review. Project management journal, 36(2), pp.49-61, viewed on 25th of October 2020, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/875697280503600206

Udayanga, M.V.S.S., 2020. The Impact of the Transactional Leadership on Organizational Productivity: A Monographic Study. Educational Research (IJMCER), 2(5), pp.297-309, viewed on 21st of December 2021,

https://www.ijmcer.com/wpcontent/uploads/2020/09/IJMCER_GG02502970309-1.pdf

Ulrich, D. and Smallwood, N., 2012. What is leadership? In Advances in global leadership (pp. 9-36). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

Umrani, W.A., Shah, S.M.M., Memon, P.A. and Samo, A.H., 2017. Organizational culture and business performance: An empirical investigation in the Pakistani context. International Journal of Academic Research in Economics and Management Sciences, 6(1), pp.93-107, viewed on 19th of December 2021,

https://m.merogostar.com/papers_submitted/2575/Organizational_Culture_and_Business_Perf ormance_An_Empirical_Investigation_in_the_Pakistani_Context.pdf

University of Sothern California., 2021. Research Guides: Organizing Your Social Sciences Research Paper: Quantitative Methods. viewed on 11th of January 2021, https://libguides.usc.edu/writingguide/quantitative

Uyanık, G.K. and Güler, N., 2013. A study on multiple linear regression analysis. ProcediaSocial and Behavioral Sciences, 106, pp.234-240, viewed on 20th of July 2021, available on, https://pdf.sciencedirectassets.com/277811/1-s2.0-S1877042813X00382/1-s2.0S1877042813046429/main.pdf

Van der Walt, M.S. and Naidu, J., 2005. An exploration of the relationship between leadership styles and the implementation of transformation interventions. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 3(2), pp.1-10, viewed on 16th of October 2020, https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/sabinet/sajhrm/2005/00000003/00000002/art00001 Van Eeden, R., Cilliers, F. and Van Deventer, V., 2008. Leadership styles and associated personality traits: Support for the conceptualisation of transactional and transformational leadership. South African Journal of Psychology, 38(2), pp.253-267, viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/008124630803800201 Van Breukelen, W., Schyns, B. and Le Blanc, P., 2006. Leader-member exchange theory and research: Accomplishments and future challenges. Leadership, 2(3), pp.295-316, viewed on 28th December 2021, https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Pm-Blanc/publication/48776679_Leader-Member_Exchange_Theory_and_Research_Accomplishments_and_Future_Challenges/links/

58d0ef9ca6fdccbbc5eee7ff/Leader-Member-Exchange-Theory-and-Research-Accomplishments-and-Future-Challenges.pdf

Vera, D. and Crossan, M., 2004. Strategic leadership and organizational learning. Academy of management review, 29(2), pp.222-240, viewed on 18th of October 2020, https://journals.aom.org/doi/abs/10.5465/amr.2004.12736080

Vigoda-Gadot, E., 2007. Leadership style, organizational politics, and employees' performance. Personnel Review, Viewed on 10th of October 2020, https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/00483480710773981/full/html

Visser, D., Mester, C., Roodt, G. and Kellerman, R., 2003. Leadership style and its relation to employee attitudes and behaviour. SA journal of industrial psychology, 29(2), pp.72-82, viewed on 14th of October 2020, https://journals.co.za/doi/abs/10.10520/EJC88951

Voon, M.L., Lo, M.C., Ngui, S.K. and Peter, S., 2009. Leadership styles in context of institution of higher education in Malaysia. org/file/Papers/1657, viewed on 10th of October 2020,

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/215628403_Leadership_styles_in_Context_of_Instit ution_of_Higher_Education_in_Malaysia

Wang, A.C. and Cheng, B.S., 2010. When does benevolent leadership lead to creativity? The moderating role of creative role identity and job autonomy. Journal of organizational behavior, 31(1), pp.106-121, viewed on 25th of October 2020, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/job.634

Watson, D. and Clark, L.A., 1997. Extraversion and its positive emotional core. In Handbook of personality psychology (pp. 767-793). Academic Press, viewed on 30th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780121346454500305

Werbel, J.D. and Henriques, P.L., 2009. Different views of trust and relational leadership: Supervisor and subordinate perspectives. Journal of Managerial Psychology, viewed on 25th December 2021,

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/247614154_Different_views_of_trust_and_relationa 1_leadership_Supervisor_and_subordinate_perspectives

Westbrook, L., 1994. Qualitative research methods: A review of major stages, data analysis techniques, and quality controls. Library & information science research, 16(3), pp.241-254, viewed on 11th of January 2021,

https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/31470/0000392.pdf?sequence=1&is Allowed=y

Wijayasiri, J., 2016, Role of Sri Lankan SMEs in trade, Daily News, viewed on 20th of June 2020, http://www.dailynews.lk/2016/11/30/business/100590

Wilkinson, D. and Birmingham, P., 2003. Using research instruments: A guide for researchers. Psychology Press, viewed on 11th of January 2021, http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.458.2061&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Williams, L.J. and Anderson, S.E., 1991. Job satisfaction and organizational commitment as predictors of organizational citizenship and in-role behaviors. Journal of management, 17(3), pp.601-617, viewed on 10th of October 2020,

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/014920639101700305

World Bank. (2018). World Bank in Sri Lanka, Overview. viewed on 20th of June 2020, https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/srilanka/overview

Wolinski, S., 2010. What is transformational leadership? viewed on 12th of October 2020, https://managementhelp.org/blogs/leadership/2010/06/03/what-is-transformational-leadership/

Wu, F.Y. & Shiu, C., 2009. The relationship between leadership styles and foreign english teachers job satisfaction in adult English Cram Schools: Evidences in Taiwan. The Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge, 14 (2), https://athenaeum.uiw.edu/uiw_etds/164/

Xenikou, A. and Simosi, M., 2006. Organizational culture and transformational leadership as predictors of business unit performance. Journal of managerial psychology, viewed on 28th of December 2020,

https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/02683940610684409/full/html

Xu, X., He, X., Ai, Q. and Qiu, R.C., 2015. A correlation analysis method for power systems based on random matrix theory. IEEE Transactions on smart grid, 8(4), pp.1811-1820, viewed on 20th of July 2021, available on, https://arxiv.org/pdf/1506.04854.pdf

Yang, C.W., 2006. The effect of leadership and entrepreneurial orientation of small and medium enterprises on business performance in Taiwan, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://athenaeum.uiw.edu/uiw_etds/165/

Yıldırım, N. and Birinci, S., 2013. Impacts of organizational culture and leadership on business performance: A case study on acquisitions. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 75, pp.71-82, viewed on 19th of December 2021, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877042813005454

Yıldız, S., Baştürk, F. and Boz, İ.T., 2014. The effect of leadership and innovativeness on business performance. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 150, pp.785-793, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://pdf.sciencedirectassets.com/277811/1s2.0S1877042814X00467/1-s2.0-S1877042814051131/main.pdf?

Young, H.R., Glerum, D.R., Joseph, D.L. and McCord, M.A., 2021. A meta-analysis of transactional leadership and follower performance: Double-edged effects of LMX and empowerment. Journal of Management, 47(5), pp.1255-1280, viewed on 27th December 2021, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0149206320908646?journalCode=joma Yukl, G., 1981. Leadership in Organizations, 9/e. Pearson Education India

Yukl, G., 2002. Leadership in organizations.5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Zaccaro, S.J., Gilbert, J.A., Thor, K.K. and Mumford, M.D., 1991. Leadership and social intelligence: Linking social perspectiveness and behavioral flexibility to leader effectiveness. The Leadership Quarterly, 2(4), pp.317-342, viewed on 30th of October 2020, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/104898439190018W

Zehir, C., Ertosun, Ö.G., Zehir, S. and Müceldili, B., 2011. The effects of leadership styles and organizational culture over firm performance: Multi-National companies in İstanbul. ProcediaSocial and Behavioral Sciences, 24, pp.1460-1474, https://pdf.sciencedirectassets.com/277811/1-s2.0-S1877042811X00174/1s2.0S1877042811015606/main.pdf?

Zhou, Y., Zhang, M., Zhou, Y. and Long, Z., 2020. Development and Weight of Leading and Lagging KPIs for Offshore Structural Integrity, viewed on 26th of March 2021, https://www.preprints.org/manuscript/202002.0305/v1

Zikmund, W.G., Babin, B.J., Carr, J.C. and Griffin, M., 2003. Research methods. Health economics research method, 2, viewed on 15th January 2021, http://pioneer.chula.ac.th/~ppongsa/2900600/LMRM02.pdf

Appendices

Appendix 01- Research Questionnaire

Part (a): General Information

Age: Gender: SME Owner/Manager: Highest level of education: Years of experience in the SME sector: Number of Employees: Annual turnover:

Part (b): Leadership Assessment:

	Removed
Part (c): Personality Test:	
	Removed
Part (d): Organizational Culture	
	Removed
Part (e): Business Performance	

Removed